
disclaimer

This PdF is an exacT coPy oF The annual rePorT 
and accounTs oF london sTock exchange 
grouP Plc as Provided To shareholders.  
The audiT rePorT is seT ouT on Page 54.

The mainTenance and inTegriTy oF The  
london sTock exchange grouP Plc websiTe  
is The resPonsibiliTy oF The direcTors; The 
work carried ouT by The audiTors does noT 
involve consideraTion oF These maTTers  
and, accordingly, The audiTors accePT no 
resPonsibiliTy For any changes ThaT may have 
occurred To The Financial sTaTemenTs since 
They were iniTially PresenTed on The websiTe.

legislaTion in The uniTed kingdom governing 
The PreParaTion and disseminaTion oF Financial 
sTaTemenTs may diFFer From legislaTion in 
oTher jurisdicTions.



the world's capital market

annual report 2009

www.londonstockexchangegroup.com

lo
n

d
o

n
 sto

c
k exc

h
a
n

g
e g

ro
u

p a
n

n
u

a
l r

epo
rt 2009

© May 2009
London Stock Exchange Group plc
10 Paternoster Square
London EC4M 7LS
Telephone +44 (0)20 7797 1000

Registered in England and Wales No. 5369106

AIM, Baikal, Infolect, London Stock 
Exchange, the London Stock Exchange coat 
of arms device, RNS, SEAQ, SEDOL, 
SEDOL Masterfile, SETS, techMARK, 
techMARK mediscience and TradElect are 
registered trade marks of London Stock 
Exchange plc. IOB, Main Market, Nomad, 
Professional Securities Market, PSM, PSQ 
Analytics, SETSmm, Specialist Fund Market, 
SFM and UnaVista are trade marks of 
London Stock Exchange plc.

Borsa Italiana, the Borsa Italiana logo, MTA, 
MIB, IDEM and STAR are registered trade 
marks of Borsa Italiana S.p.A. DDM, MOT, 
MARKET CONNECT and IDEX are deposited 
trade marks of Borsa Italiana S.p.A.

CC&G is a registered trade mark of Cassa  
di Compensazione e Garanzia S.p.A.

Monte Titoli S.p.A. and X-TRM are registered 
trade marks of Monte Titoli S.p.A.

BondVision, EuroMTS and MTS are 
registered trade marks of Mercato dei Titoli  
di Stato S.p.A.

Proquote is a registered trade mark of 
Proquote Limited, a London Stock Exchange 
business.

FTSE and FTSE4Good are registered trade 
marks of London Stock Exchange plc and 
The Financial Times Limited and are used by 
FTSE International Limited under licence.

EDX and EDX London are registered  
trade marks of EDX London Limited.

Other logos, organisations and company 
names referred to may be the trade marks  
of their respective owners.

Design by  
Addison Corporate Marketing Ltd 

Board photography by  
Michael Clement

Printed by St. Ives Westerham Press Ltd
Printed on Revive 50:50 Silk, made at an  
ISO 14001 mill with 25 per cent de-inked 
post-consumer waste, 25 per cent 
pre-consumer waste and 50 per cent  
virgin wood fibre



our vision introduction

where to find information about london stock exchange group:
www.londonstockexchangegroup.com

what we do•	
group history•	
investor relations•	
corporate responsibility•	

to be the world's capital market



The world’s capiTal markeThighlighTs 

 01London Stock Exchange Group
annual report 2009

REVENUE (£M)

2007

2006

2008
2009 671

2911

244

350

546

2005

1 Before exceptional items

DIVIDENDS PER SHARE (PENCE)

2007

2006

2008
2009 24.4

12.0

7.0

18.0

24.0

2005

ADJUSTED EARNINGS PER SHARE* (PENCE)

2007

2006

2008
2009 74.2

37.4

24.2

56.2

73.1

2005

Borsa iTaliana merger delivered sTrong •	
diversificaTion BenefiTs during The year 

successful migraTion of iTalian cash equiTy •	
Trading onTo TradelecT, creaTing europe’s 
mosT liquid equiTy Trading plaTform

a record £106 Billion of equiTy capiTal raised •	
By companies on our markeTs, up 136 per cenT 
on lasT year

new sTraTegic parTnerships wiTh oslo Børs  •	
and TmX group, furTher eXpanding our 
neTwork of inTernaTional parTners
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1. faciliTaTe access To capiTal for companies of all sizes, from

we will:

Ansaldo STS is listed on Borsa Italiana’s MTA 
market (STAR segment) and is an S&P/MIB 
constituent. The company is a leading supplier 
of traffic management, planning, train control 
and signalling systems and services.



London Stock Exchange Group
annual report 2009  03

1. faciliTaTe access To capiTal for companies of all sizes, from any secTor, from anywhere in The world

Halfords Group is a FTSE 250 company that 
listed on the London Stock Exchange’s Main 
Market in 2004. The company has grown to 
establish itself in the UK as the leading retailer 
of bicycles, travel solutions, car parts and  
car enhancement.
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Fresnillo is a leading precious metals producer 
with significant experience and expertise in all 
aspects of mining. A FTSE 100 company, it is 
the world’s largest primary silver producer and 
Mexico’s second largest gold producer and 
joined the London Stock Exchange’s Main 
Market in May 2008, raising over £900 million. 

2. provide a wide range of producTs ThaT enaBle invesTors To share

we will:
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in wealTh creaTion opporTuniTies across asseT classes and The world

FIAT Group is listed on Borsa Italiana’s MTA 
market (Blue Chip segment) and is an S&P/
MIB constituent. Established in 1899, Fiat was  
one of the founders of the European automobile 
industry and now operates in 190 countries. 
Automobile brands include Fiat, Lancia,  
Alfa Romeo, Ferrari and Maserati.
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Majestic Wine floated on AIM in 1996 and  
has continuously expanded geographically as 
well as broadening its range of products and 
services. The company operates the largest 
wine warehouse chain in the UK.

3. drive markeT efficiency To lower The cosT of capiTal for companies

we will:
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and The cosT of Trading and invesTmenT

Spice is a Leeds-based provider of 
outsourced support services to utilities and 
energy companies. The company transferred 
from AIM to the Main Market of the London 
Stock Exchange in July 2008, raising an 
additional £50 million shortly after.
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GRoup At A GlAnceReview of business

ouR stRAteGy

 we peRfoRm A vitAl Role At the heARt 
of the ReAl economy, enAblinG compAnies fRom All oveR the 
woRld to RAise cApitAl foR GRowth by pRovidinG liquid, 
tRAnspARent, well ReGulAted mARkets

Our vision to be the woRld’s cApitAl mARket

Our strategy issueR  
seRvices

Provide the most efficient and attractive listing •	
venue for companies from all over the world

Develop our offering for growth companies from •	
around the world, building on the success of AIM

tRAdinG  
seRvices

 Grow our customer network and product range  •	
in equities, fixed income and derivatives

 Develop our services, technology and pricing •	
structures to attract new types and increasing 
levels of order flow

 Launch Baikal as a leading multi-asset pan-•	
European dark pool and liquidity aggregator

infoRmAtion 
seRvices 

 Develop the international reach, speed  •	
and content of our real-time data products  
and network

 Expand the range of new data products  •	
and services to continuously improve market 
transparency and efficiency

post tRAde 
seRvices 

 Deliver industry leading efficiency and  •	
operational performance

 Broaden our product range and customer base, •	
expanding services into the European market  
and internationally 
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ADJUSTED OPERATING PROFIT* (£M)

2007

2006

2008
2009 339

120

85

186

289

2005

NET CASH FLOW GENERATED BY OPERATIONS 
BEFORE EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS (£M)

2007

2006

2008
2009 379

146

101

199

295

2005

REVENUE (£M)

2007

2006

2008
2009 671

2911

244

350

546

2005

1 Before exceptional items

ADJUSTED EARNINGS PER SHARE* (PENCE)

2007

2006

2008
2009 74.2

37.4

24.2

56.2

73.1

2005

GRoup Results

A Good undeRlyinG peRfoRmAnce Reflects coRe stRenGths  
in difficult mARket conditions

*    Measures 
London Stock Exchange Group uses Non-GAAP performance measures as key financial indicators.  
See the Non-GAAP definitions on page 94 for further information.

+  Restated

Year ended 31 March 2009 2008 Growth

Revenue £671m £546m 23%

Adjusted operating profit* £339m £289m 17%

Operating (loss)/profit £(210)m £265m –

Adjusted profit before tax* £305m £259m 18%

(Loss)/profit before tax £(251)m £227m+ –

Adjusted basic earnings per share* 74.2p 73.1p 2%

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (126.1)p 70.8p+ –
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Review of business GRoup At A GlAnce

REVENUE (£M)

2007

2006

2008
2009 90

57

43

63

82

2005

REVENUE (£M)

2007

2006

2008
2009 275

133

107

173

265

2005

ISSUER SERVICES REVENUE (£M)

ANNUAL FEES (2008:33)

ADMISSION FEES (2008:31)

RNS & OTHER (2008:18)

41

28

21

TOTAL90

TRADING SERVICES REVENUE (£M)

EQUITY (2008:207)

FIXED INCOME (2008:17)

DERIVATIVES (2008:18)

OTHERS (2008:23)

184

26

25

40

TOTAL275

seGmentAl peRfoRmAnce

 this yeAR sAw mAJoR opeRAtionAl 
hiGhliGhts AcRoss ouR diveRse GRoup includinG RecoRd 
equity cApitAl RAised by compAnies And the successful 
miGRAtion of itAliAn cAsh equity tRAdinG to tRAdelect

Issuer Services Trading Services Information Services Post Trade Services

opeRAtionAl hiGhliGhts

Record £99 billion equity capital •	
raised from further issues 

London attracted 21 •	
international IPOs

Launch of AIM Italia and road •	
show across Italy

opeRAtionAl hiGhliGhts

Successful migration of  •	
Italian cash equities market  
to TradElect

Strategic partnerships agreed •	
with TMX Group and Oslo Børs

Average equity trades per day •	
grew seven per cent to 996,000

Launch of IDEX, our energy •	
derivatives market in Italy

opeRAtionAl hiGhliGhts

Growth of SEDOL Masterfile  •	
to five million instruments

Revenue growth of 42 per cent •	
for Unavista

Introduction of server hosting •	
service giving customers  
ultra-fast access to trading

Professional terminals taking  •	
real time data remained broadly 
stable at 255,000

opeRAtionAl hiGhliGhts

CC&G application to become  •	
a registered overseas  
clearing house in the UK

Provision of routing service  •	
by X-TRM from IOB to CCP as 
part of new clearing service 

325 million pre-settlement •	
instructions processed  
by X-TRM

103 million contracts cleared  •	
by CC&G
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REVENUE (£M)

2007

2006

2008
2009 104

N/A

N/A

N/A

43

2005

REVENUE (£M)

2007

2006

2008
2009 183

94*

87

106

144

2005

* Before exceptional items

INFORMATION SERVICES REVENUE (£M)

DATA CHARGES (2008:93)

OTHER (2008:51)

114

69

TOTAL183

POST TRADE SERVICES REVENUE (£M)

CLEARING (2008:20)

SETTLEMENT (2008:8)

CUSTODY (2008:15)

53

17

34

TOTAL104

Issuer Services Trading Services Information Services Post Trade Services

opeRAtionAl hiGhliGhts

Record £99 billion equity capital •	
raised from further issues 

London attracted 21 •	
international IPOs

Launch of AIM Italia and road •	
show across Italy

opeRAtionAl hiGhliGhts

Successful migration of  •	
Italian cash equities market  
to TradElect

Strategic partnerships agreed •	
with TMX Group and Oslo Børs

Average equity trades per day •	
grew seven per cent to 996,000

Launch of IDEX, our energy •	
derivatives market in Italy

opeRAtionAl hiGhliGhts

Growth of SEDOL Masterfile  •	
to five million instruments

Revenue growth of 42 per cent •	
for Unavista

Introduction of server hosting •	
service giving customers  
ultra-fast access to trading

Professional terminals taking  •	
real time data remained broadly 
stable at 255,000

opeRAtionAl hiGhliGhts

CC&G application to become  •	
a registered overseas  
clearing house in the UK

Provision of routing service  •	
by X-TRM from IOB to CCP as 
part of new clearing service 

325 million pre-settlement •	
instructions processed  
by X-TRM

103 million contracts cleared  •	
by CC&G
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Review of business chAiRmAn’s stAtement

“ while the impAct of the veRy difficult 
enviRonment hAs been Reflected in the shARe 
pRices of mAny listed compAnies, includinG 
youR own, ouR mARkets hAve become eveR 
moRe essentiAl, As we peRfoRm ouR centRAl 
economic function At the heARt of the ReAl 
economy, bRinGinG toGetheR compAnies with 
investoRs fRom ARound the woRld.”

 we hAve deliveRed A Good undeRlyinG 
peRfoRmAnce, undeRpinned by Robust cAsh flows

DIVIDEND

24.4 pence
totAl dividend peR shARe



the woRld’s cApitAl mARket

London Stock Exchange Group
Annual Report 2009  13

market in Japan and Asia, is progressing 
well. Meanwhile, I am delighted that the 
Group has added Oslo Børs and TMX 
Group, the Canadian equity and derivatives 
exchange, to its list of international  
partner exchanges.

The good overall performance is reflected  
in revenues of £671.4 million. Adjusted 
basic earnings per share for the year, 
excluding goodwill impairment, amortisation 
of purchased intangibles and exceptional 
items, was up two per cent to 74.2 pence.

Reflecting the year’s performance, the 
Board is proposing a final dividend of 16 
pence per share, making a total of 24.4 
pence for the year, an increase of two per 
cent. The payment reflects the resilience of 
the business balanced by the Board’s belief 
that it is appropriate to remain cautious at 
this stage while market conditions remain 
exceptionally uncertain. 

I would like to offer my and the Board’s 
sincere thanks to all our employees  
in Italy, the UK and across the world for 
their hard work in delivering such a robust 
performance. These times of change have 
brought into sharp relief the quality and 
calibre of the Group’s employees.

On 13 February we announced that Clara 
Furse would be stepping down as Chief 
Executive, to be replaced by Xavier Rolet. 
Clara has made a major contribution to  
the success and history of your Company, 
leading our transformation from mutual 
organisation to a dynamic international 
business. I would like to offer the Board’s 
considerable gratitude for her hard work, 
dedication and leadership. 

Xavier Rolet formally assumes the role of 
Chief Executive on 20 May, and brings to 
the Group some 25 years of experience 
and a thorough understanding of capital 

markets. Xavier’s deep knowledge and 
extensive customer network means he is 
highly qualified to lead the Group through 
the next stages of its development  
and progress. 

I would also like to take the opportunity to 
welcome formally Doug Webb as our Chief 
Financial Officer. He joined the Board on  
2 June 2008. 

As we look to the future, and markets  
and the economic environment remain 
challenging, I believe the exchange model 
will be seen as vital. Over the next year,  
I expect companies to continue to seek 
equity funds and we will continue to  
justify the trust that investors place in our 
well regulated, highly efficient and price  
forming service. 

We are working closely with governments 
and other policy makers to help ensure that 
the response to the banking and economic 
crisis is proportionate and internationally 
coordinated. We also continue to lobby  
in the UK and Italy for a tax system that 
recognises the essential and positive role of 
equity markets to our economic well-being.

Although market conditions are expected  
to remain testing, the Board believes  
the Group is well placed for the future.  
We remain at the heart of global equity 
capital markets at a time when such 
markets are fundamental to the recovery  
of the real economy.

chris Gibson-smith
chAiRmAn

The last 12 months have been extraordinary 
and turbulent as we have seen the banking 
crisis deepen and many of the world’s 
economies slip into recession. While the 
Group’s markets have been affected by the 
crisis, we have delivered a good underlying 
performance, underpinned by robust cash 
flows, as the benefits of a more diversified 
business emerge following our merger with 
Borsa Italiana.

While the impact of the very difficult 
environment has been reflected in the share 
prices of many listed companies, including 
your own, our markets have become ever 
more essential, as we perform our central 
economic function at the heart of the real 
economy, bringing together companies with 
investors from around the world.

Following a review of goodwill, we have 
taken a £484 million non-cash impairment 
charge, primarily in respect of the all-share 
Borsa Italiana merger. This impairment 
reflects the major deterioration in current 
economic conditions and the greater 
uncertainty about the future, but has no 
impact on our day-to-day operations, our 
ability to generate cash or our banking 
covenants. Given the strengthening of the 
euro, the assessed value in use of Borsa 
Italiana remains comfortably above the  
£1.3 billion value at the time of completion 
of the all-share merger.

We continue to make very good progress  
in bringing together the businesses and 
cultures of Borsa Italiana and the London 
Stock Exchange, and have benefited 
significantly from a more diversified 
business, with strong revenue growth  
in Post Trade Services for example. 

The role of strategic partnerships between 
exchanges is increasingly important. Our 
TOKYO AIM joint venture with the Tokyo 
Stock Exchange, to deliver a new growth 
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Review of business chief executive’s Review

“ this peRfoRmAnce 
undeRlines the 
Resilience of ouR 
business model, the 
ReAl And meAninGful 
benefits ARisinG  
fRom A full yeAR’s 
contRibution fRom 
ouR meRGeR, And  
the hARd woRk And 
quAlity of ouR stAff.”

 ouR business links compAnies lARGe And 
smAll to the woRld’s cApitAl flows

In the last year, against the backdrop  
of extraordinarily difficult financial markets 
and economic circumstances, we have 
facilitated access to unprecedented 
amounts of equity capital for companies 
quoted on our markets and have continued 
to provide transparent, liquid and price 
forming trading services.

Operating profit, excluding goodwill 
impairment, amortisation of purchased 
intangibles and exceptional items,  
increased 17 per cent to £338.6 million.  
This performance underlines the resilience 
of our business model, the real and 
meaningful benefits arising from a full year’s 
contribution from our merger, and the hard 
work and quality of our staff.

We have had a busy year integrating 
London Stock Exchange and Borsa Italiana 
and I am grateful to our colleagues at Borsa 
Italiana for their hard work and dedication  
in developing the many assets that Borsa 
Italiana brings to the Group.

In November, we reached a key milestone  
in successfully migrating our Italian cash 
equities market onto our TradElect platform, 
creating the largest and most liquid equity 
market in Europe. AIM Italia was established 
in December and six Italian intermediaries 
had already been admitted as Nominated 
Advisers by year end, with a road show 
across Italy to promote AIM Italia to 
hundreds of entrepreneurs taking place.

By year end, £19 million of cost synergies 
had been delivered and we now expect total 
cost synergies from the merger to be at 
least £32 million, an increase of 60 per cent 
on our original forecast. The full run rate of 
at least £32 million will be delivered in the 
coming financial year.
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continued to grow, increasing 15 per cent  
to 740,000 trades per day. In Italy, average 
trades per day declined 12 per cent on a pro 
forma basis to 256,000 although volumes 
increased in March, as share prices started 
to recover from recent lows. 

The growth in the number of trades in 
London reflects the increasing importance 
of high frequency, highly automated 
electronic trading which we have highlighted 
in previous years. Indeed, new specialist 
trading firms continue to join our markets, 
supporting volume growth. This high 
frequency trading flow requires a very  
high speed service and a different fee 
structure. To incentivise their participation, 
we launched a new equity price list in 
September that introduced a tiered  
credit scheme for liquidity provision. 
 
We also continue to invest in the speed  
and capacity of our trading platform and  
are busy preparing the next stage of our 
technology development. 

Our derivatives business performed well, 
with Group volumes increasing 14 per cent 
on a pro forma basis to a record total for 
the year of 98 million contracts. This growth 
was driven in particular by very strong 
trading in our Russian derivatives service.  
In November we launched a new Italian 
power derivatives market, IDEX, which  
has started well with 14 trading members 
already using the service. 

Information Services also delivered a strong 
performance, reflecting the quality and 
value of our trading information. Demand  
for professional terminals receiving real 
time London Stock Exchange data was 
resilient throughout most of the year with a 
small decline in the last quarter to 104,000. 
Professional users of Borsa Italiana data 
were down 9,000 to 151,000. As part of our 
continuing development and diversification, 
in September we launched our Hosting 
service, providing speed-hungry trading 
firms with even faster access to our trading 
and information services. This is one 
example of a number of new initiatives  
being developed by the Group. 

Throughout the financial crisis our clearing 
service, CC&G, performed its crucial 
function as central counterparty very 
effectively, highlighting the quality of its risk 
management processes and operational 
excellence. Working with LCH.Clearnet in 
London, we also launched a new central 
counterparty service for the 50 most liquid 
depositary receipts on the London Stock 
Exchange’s International Order Book. 
Monte Titoli’s post trade router, X-TRM,  
is now being used in the UK market for  
the first time as part of this service.

We continued to build our international 
network, entering into a strategic 
partnership with Oslo Børs which will  
use TradElect for Norwegian equities and 
fixed income trading. In March we also 
partnered with TMX Group. As part of  
this collaboration, our London derivatives 
business, EDX London, will use TMX 
Group’s derivatives trading platform by  
the end of the year and TMX Group has 
recently invested in EDX London, with  
a view to building new products and 
services together. 

As I step down after eight eventful and  
very enjoyable years, I am delighted that 
Xavier Rolet will assume the role of Chief 
Executive. I believe he is exceptionally well 
qualified to take the Company forward. 

I would particularly like to extend my 
deepest gratitude to my Chairman and 
Board, my colleagues, our customers, 
shareholders and advisors for their 
steadfast support over the last eight years.  
I wish you all very well in the years ahead.

 

clara furse
chief executive

I would also acknowledge the engagement 
and support we received throughout the 
year from our customers and the regulatory 
authorities, CONSOB and Banca d’Italia,  
in Italy. This has been fundamental to the 
success of our merger.

Demonstrating the critical role that our 
equity market plays in supporting the real 
economy, we saw a record £106 billion  
of money raised in new and further issues 
across the Group. This included a total of 
160 new issues and a record £99 billion of 
further money raised as companies issued 
new equity to fund growth or repay debt 
and strengthen balance sheets. 

To build on our position as the world’s most 
international capital market, we continued to 
promote London around the world. In the 
last year we held a series of events for 
global companies and investors from the 
Americas, the Middle East and Asia. We 
attracted 21 international IPOs, raising £3 
billion between them, once again more than 
all of our major exchange competitors put 
together. Highlights from the year included 
nine companies joining us from the Middle 
East raising a combined £1.4 billion, and the 
Mexican mining company Fresnillo joining 
our Main Market, raising over £900 million. 

Equity trading for the full year was resilient, 
although it weakened in the second half as 
the de-leveraging effects of the financial 
crisis were felt. As a number of new entrants 
emerged, our market share in the electronic 
trading of FTSE 100 securities remained 
around 75 to 80 per cent and over 90 per 
cent in S&P/MIB securities. We continue  
to offer best execution; the tightest spreads 
and the greatest certainty of execution in  
the shares of the companies listed on our 
market. For the full year in London, average 
daily value traded decreased 24 per cent  
to £6.9 billion per day, reflecting the 22 per 
cent fall in the average value of the FTSE 
100 index and general de-leveraging. 
However, the average daily number of trades 
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Review of business mARket position And tRends

GROWTH IN GLOBAL GDP PER CAPITA ($)
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Source: The Conference Board, Total Economy Database

 oveR the lonG teRm, the fundAmentAls 
thAt dRive GlobAlisAtion RemAin stRonG And As the woRld’s 
pRe-eminent inteRnAtionAl listinG venue the GRoup is well 
plAced to benefit fRom the lonG teRm demAnd foR cApitAl

the finAnciAl cRisis  
And GlobAlisAtion 
The world economy is facing a period of 
unprecedented challenge with global GDP 
expected to decline this year. A severe 
dislocation in financial markets has been 
characterised by high volatility and risk 
aversion, very difficult credit market 
conditions, declining equity prices and  
very low interest rates.

In response, we are seeing governments 
and regulators take action to restore 
confidence in markets and the banking 
sector in particular. Equally, the crisis is 
highlighting the value and importance of  
the exchange business model and the role 
of regulated equity markets in the real 
economy as companies raise record sums. 
We are working with relevant authorities  
to try and ensure regulatory changes are 
focused, proportionate and internationally 
coordinated. 

Since 1951, global GDP per capita has 
increased in all but three years. Over the 
long term, the fundamentals of globalisation 
remain strong with newer markets growing 
faster than more established economies, 
and world trade continuing to expand, 
facilitated by the financial services industry; 
cross border capital flows grew at 15 per 
cent per annum from 1990 to 2007. As the 
world’s pre-eminent international listing 
venue, the Group is well placed to facilitate, 
and benefit from, the long term demand  
for capital. 

Re-equitisAtion 
While the origins of the current global 
financial crisis lie in global macro-
imbalances which resulted in very low real 
interest rates and a rapid increase of debt, 
facilitated by OTC credit market innovations 
in the banking sector, companies are 
returning to equity markets to repay debt 
and strengthen balance sheets. Across the 
world, almost $1 trillion has been raised by 
companies in the last year. On the Group’s 
markets a record £99 billion of further 
money was raised in the year. We expect 
this trend to continue in the coming year. 

“ since 1951, GlobAl  
Gdp peR cApitA hAs 
incReAsed in All but 
thRee yeARs.”
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the centRAl Role of  
exchAnGes And efficient  
post tRAde seRvices
At a time of great uncertainty and increasing 
competition from alternative trading venues, 
neutral, well regulated exchanges have 
demonstrated their value, withstanding 
market turmoil and continuing to provide 
liquid, price forming and transparent  
trading services. 

The financial crisis has highlighted the 
importance of counterparty risk management 
and the benefits of the simplicity and safety 
of exchange trading and central counterparty 
guarantees. The Group’s regulated markets 
and Italian post trade services are well placed 
to benefit from a move away from complex, 
less transparent OTC products and we  
will aim to use our post trade assets more 
broadly as we develop new trading  
services across the Group. 

benefitinG fRom diveRsificAtion 
The Group is beginning to achieve 
significant benefit from diversification. 
Today we are able to offer our broad and 
international customer base a variety of 
products and services across a range of 
markets such as equities, bonds, Exchange 
Traded Funds (ETFs) and derivatives, as well 
as post trade services. 

The strategic significance of our fixed 
income presence is increasing for three very 
important reasons. Firstly, there is a trend 
for a significant increase in government  
debt issuance as tax revenues fall and 
government deficits increase responding  
to the challenges of the current economic 
downturn. Secondly, the credit crisis has 
made simple, central counterparty cleared 
debt products more attractive. Finally, the 
crisis has highlighted the value of open, 
transparent and neutral exchange organised 
debt markets. The Group is therefore well 
positioned for future growth, both in the 
wholesale and retail customer markets.

We can be confident that our diversity and 
international strength will be powerful assets 
for the Group, complementing the unique 
strength of London as a financial centre.

technoloGy, efficiency  
And new types of tRAdinG 
While the financial crisis has affected  
some key trading customers, in particular 
investment banks and highly leveraged 
hedge funds, the trend to high frequency, 
highly automated trading continues. Given 
the very strong growth of high frequency 
trading in the United States, this trend has 
much further to go in Europe. Technology is 
also key in the development of smart order 
routing services and non-display execution 
venues, often referred to as ‘dark pools’. 

As trading customers develop ever faster 
trading systems and demand different ways 
of trading we are investing and innovating to 
meet these changing needs – increasing the 
speed and capacity of our trading services 
as well as providing new functionality. In the 
coming year we will launch Baikal, a liquidity 
aggregation and dark pool trading service. 

succeedinG in An  
evolvinG industRy
There has been considerable restructuring 
and consolidation in the exchange industry 
over the last few years. This has been 
driven by the scale economies of exchange 
services and the major benefits mergers 
can bring to customers, as well as the 
benefits of diversification and synergies  
for shareholders. There remain significant 
strategic opportunities for cooperation  
or combination.

Our partnerships with the Tokyo Stock 
Exchange, TMX Group and Oslo Børs are 
examples of mutually beneficial cooperation 
which will bring significant strategic benefits 
to the Group and our customers. 
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TOTAL NUMBER OF COMPANIES1

2007

2006

2008
2009 3,304

3,424

3,195

3,533

3,579

2005

AT 31 MARCH

TOTAL MONEY RAISED (£BN)1

2007

2006

2008
2009 106

46

31

60

45

2005

With 3,304 companies on the markets  
of London Stock Exchange and Borsa 
Italiana, and with 47 per cent of the market 
capitalisation of the FTSEurofirst 100,  
we are Europe’s largest equity exchange 
business. With 656 international companies 
from 72 countries on our markets in London 
alone, we also remain the international 
listing venue of choice.

hiGhliGhts 
The Group welcomed 160 new companies 
to its markets, including 21 international 
IPOs as London retained its leadership  
in international IPOs. This compares with 
411 new companies in the previous year,  
of which 84 were international IPOs,  
and reflects the volatility and depressed 
valuations associated with the  
economic downturn. 

Our markets remained busy despite 
turbulent market conditions during the 
second half of the year. A record amount of 
capital was raised in London during the year 
at over £98 billion. This included £7 billion 
from new admissions and £91 billion raised 
from further issues, an overall increase of 
158 per cent on the previous year.

British firm Resolution and New World 
Resources from the Czech Republic led  
the IPOs, and we attracted our first three 
issuers to the Specialist Fund Market, 
developed for quoted alternative  
investment vehicles.

There were six IPOs on Borsa Italiana. 
While this was a marked reduction on  
the previous year, over €9 billion was  
raised in further issues.

AIM Italia, launched in December 2008,  
has made encouraging progress. By the 
year end, six Nomads had already been 
registered. Massimo Capuano, Deputy 
CEO of the Group, led a road show across 
Italy, which has identified a pipeline of 
potential listings. Neurosoft and IKF were 
the first two companies to join AIM Italia  
in May 2009.

The global economic downturn is 
particularly testing for smaller companies, 
which tend to be at an earlier stage of 
development and less diversified. Mindful  
of this, we have developed a series of 
initiatives to support and enhance liquidity, 
including the launch of PSQ Analytics in 
London, an independent research service 
focused on investment research into  
smaller companies. 

Investor road shows across Italy, the UK 
and internationally (including Egypt, the 
Middle East and China) informed investors 
about new investment opportunities in our 
different markets and the Group continues 
to focus on bringing together companies 
and investors.

In addition, Borsa Italiana’s Partnership 
Equity Markets programme brings together 
the whole financial community which can 
support companies during and after the 
listing process. The programme now has  
80 members from the corporate adviser 
community participating in joint marketing 
and education programmes.

pRioRities
We continue to expand into new regions. 
Fresnillo provided our first IPO from 
Mexico, raising over £900 million, and we 
attracted two IPOs from Kuwait, one from 
Qatar, as well as others from Egypt and 
Bahrain. Indian companies raised £233 
million, representing 64 per cent of all 
capital raised by Indian companies on 
overseas exchanges. 

issueR > tRAdinG > infoRmAtion > post tRAde

 while A combinAtion of mARket 
volAtility And subdued Asset vAluAtions depRessed the ipo 
mARket duRinG the yeAR, compAnies neveRtheless RAised 
RecoRd sums of cApitAl on the GRoup’s mARkets, pRincipAlly 
thRouGh fuRtheR issues

issueR stRAteGy

   pRovide the most efficient 
And AttRActive listinG venue 
foR compAnies fRom All oveR 
the woRld

   develop ouR offeRinG foR 
GRowth compAnies fRom 
ARound the woRld, buildinG 
on the success of Aim
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IPOs (NUMBER OF COMPANIES)1

2007

2006

2008
2009 64

426

376

344

262

2005

NUMBER OF INTERNATIONAL IPOs

Deutsche Börse

NYSE

London Stock Exchange Group

Euronext

NASDAQ

21

5

1

6

6

Our progress in Russia and Eastern Europe 
continued. Magnit, the food retailer from 
Russia, became the 100th company on  
our markets from this region, raising $239 
million through global depositary receipts. 

Our cooperation with MICEX on joint 
marketing initiatives continues. We will 
shortly launch a joint website, providing  
a valuable global connection with  
market participants.

We are also developing our successful  
AIM model in other jurisdictions. In addition 
to the development of AIM Italia, our 
collaboration with the Tokyo Stock 
Exchange has resulted in the launch  
of TOKYO AIM, a joint venture between  
the two exchanges. 

cAse study: spice

Spice was one of the 140 UK companies that successfully 
raised equity capital on the London Stock Exchange’s Main 
Market in the past financial year.
 
Spice is a Leeds-based company that provides outsourced 
infrastructure support services, principally to the utility sector 
and energy companies. The company is listed on the Main 
Market, having started life as a publicly quoted company on 
AIM. Spice was admitted to our market for smaller, growing 
companies in August 2004 with a market capitalisation of  
£48.5 million, raising a total of £23 million. 

Following an ambitious growth strategy, Spice transferred  
to the Main Market in July 2008. Shortly after this, in 
September 2008 the company was able to use our equity 
markets for a placement of new ordinary shares to raise  
£50 million of additional capital to reduce levels of bank debt.

The company was founded in 1996 through a management 
buy-out from Yorkshire Electricity. From a single contract worth 
£3 million per annum, Spice grew organically and by acquisition 
to in excess of £300 million turnover per annum. Currently 
around 4,500 people are employed by Spice, mainly in the UK 
but also in the USA.

Spice works in partnership with a large number of commercial, 
public and utility organisations. Operating from more than 30 
locations across the UK, the company provides bespoke and 
added value solutions to its customers. The variety of services 
the company offers ranges from maintaining overhead power 
lines to reading and installing water meters.

1  Pro Forma figures as if Borsa Italiana was part  
of the Group for the periods covered
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EQUITY ORDER BOOK VALUE TRADED
– LONDON (£BN)

2007

2006

2008
2009 1,771

1,191

880

1,638

2,276

2005

EQUITY ORDER BOOK VALUE TRADED 
– ITALY (€BN)

2007

2006

2008
2009 838

1,020

749

1,234

1,518

2005

hiGhliGhts foR equity tRAdinG
Taken as a whole, electronic trading of 
equities across the Group’s markets was 
resilient in 2009. We remain the number 
one platform in Europe by value and volume 
traded. However, volatility across all 
financial markets led to noticeable variances 
in volume, month to month, and also market 
by market, while falls in share prices 
depressed the value traded. 

Overall, the average daily number of SETS 
trades increased 15 per cent to 740,000. 
The value traded during the year, impacted 
by lower company valuations, was 22 per 
cent lower than in the previous year.

Equity trading on Borsa Italiana was also 
affected by market conditions, though the 
pattern throughout the year differed.  
Overall, the average daily number of trades 
was 12 per cent lower at 256,000, though 
volumes have increased since January as 
share prices have started to recover.

The trading environment across Europe  
has changed with an increase in multilateral 
trading facilities (MTFs) seeking to establish 
pan-European trading services. These 
venues, although competing for business, 
have also helped attract new liquidity from 
high frequency traders.

A major milestone in the integration of our 
markets was the successful migration of 
Borsa Italiana’s MTA and Expandi markets 
onto TradElect. This will be followed this 
year by the migration of the Italian ETF,  
retail fixed income and securitised 
derivatives markets.

In London, we enhanced our trading 
services offering with:

A new fee structure which rewards •	
liquidity provision;
The introduction of a central counterparty •	
(CCP) service for the International Order 
Book (IOB) in the 50 most liquid 
depositary receipts; and
The introduction of Member Authorised •	
Connection, enabling member firms to 
offer their customers direct and higher 
speed access to our trading platform. 

The Group continues to maintain its position 
as the European leader by volume of order 
book trades in ETFs and Exchange Traded 
Commodities (ETCs). Our ETF and ETC 
business experienced a 64 per cent 
increase in turnover. 

hiGhliGhts foR deRivAtives And 
fixed income tRAdinG 
Derivatives trading volumes held up  
well in the face of challenging market 
conditions, with growth in Group volumes  
of 14 per cent to a record total of 98 million  
contracts traded. 

IDEX, a new energy derivatives segment  
of IDEM, was launched in November 2008. 
Already, 14 companies are active trading 
members of the new segment.

EDX London enjoyed a record year. Russian 
derivatives contracts have grown to 30 per 
cent of the total contract volumes on the EDX 
markets and EDX achieved over 90 per cent 
of all trading in Russian options. 

Trading on MTS, Europe’s largest wholesale 
electronic government bond market, 
contracted, reflecting the crisis in the credit 
markets. However, we remain the leading 
provider in wholesale electronic bond 
trading in Europe, with a stable market  
share of approximately 70 per cent in the 
interdealer markets.

issueR > tRAdinG > infoRmAtion > post tRAde

tRAdinG stRAteGy

  GRow ouR customeR netwoRk 
And pRoduct RAnGe in 
equities, fixed income And 
deRivAtives

  develop ouR seRvices, 
technoloGy And pRicinG 
stRuctuRes to AttRAct new 
types And incReAsinG levels 
of oRdeR flow 

  lAunch bAikAl As A leAdinG 
multi-Asset pAn-euRopeAn 
dARk pool And liquidity 
AGGReGAtoR 

 the GRoup’s tRAdinG opeRAtions hAve 
demonstRAted theiR Resilience with sets tRAdes peR dAy 
incReAsinG 15 peR cent. boRsA itAliAnA’s mtA And expAndi cAsh 
equity mARkets weRe successfully miGRAted onto tRAdelect
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NUMBER OF EQUITY ORDER BOOK BARGAINS 
– LONDON (M)

2007

2006

2008
2009 188.6

56.8

42.8

89.1

161.0

2005

NUMBER OF EQUITY ORDER BOOK BARGAINS 
– ITALY (M)

2007

2006

2008
2009 64.9

52.9

37.0

62.5

73.4

2005

We experienced a record year on MOT,  
our Italian retail fixed income market, with  
the average daily number of trades increasing  
23 per cent to over 13,000.
 

fuRtheR developments
The introduction of Baikal, our dark pool 
MTF, will provide a market solution that will 
enable larger trades in a neutral and trusted 
environment, with execution on exchanges 
and MTFs across Europe via smart order 
routing technology.

During the year, we established strategic 
partnerships with Oslo Børs and TMX 
Group. The cash equity and fixed income 
markets of Oslo Børs will migrate to  
our trading system by mid 2010, offering 
members a wider range of investment and 
trading opportunities. EDX and Oslo Børs 
derivatives markets will migrate onto  
TMX Group’s derivatives trading platform 
by the end of 2009.

We continue to invest in enhancements  
to SETS, including pegged and hidden limit 
order trading functionality, which will be 
introduced this year. 

cAse study: finecobAnk 

FinecoBank is a customer of Borsa Italiana and is the leading 
online bank in Italy measured by number of clients, and number 
one broker by number of trades. It is part of the Unicredit 
Group, based in Milan. 
 
FinecoBank delivers a full range of customer-focused 
brokerage, banking and credit services. The firm targets 
mass-market online retail investors, offering a wide variety  
of products for trading including shares, ETFs and securitised 
derivatives as well as asset management services through  
a network of 2,700 personal financial advisers. 
 
From 1999 to 2001 Fineco grew from scratch to 250,000 
customers and became Europe’s leading online trader by 
number of trades as well as priding itself on its levels of 
customer service.
 
The company has a close collaborative relationship with Borsa 
Italiana. Key to the success of FinecoBank, says Mr Ravaglia, 
General Manager is: “A simple business model built principally 
for the mass-market at a competitive price.”

FinecoBank took part in the migration of the Borsa Italiana 
markets to TradElect in 2008.

“We initially thought that the migration to TradElect would 
merely mean switching to a more advanced platform, but now 
we recognise that the change has delivered a different way of 
trading, and that Italy now has access to the most liquid market 
in Europe.”
 
From an IT perspective, Fineco found that the migration  
was one of the most straightforward projects they have  
ever implemented.



London Stock Exchange Group
Annual Report 200922

Review of business business Review

hiGhliGhts
The number of terminals taking real time 
data held up well throughout most of the 
year with professional demand for London 
Stock Exchange data down by 8,000  
to 104,000 at year end. We are making  
our market data more widely available  
to an international audience and driving  
strong growth. 

A similar trend was experienced at Borsa 
Italiana with 151,000 professional terminals, 
down 9,000 on the previous year. 
 
The year saw the launch in London of 
Performance Channels; a market data 
publishing service which ensures that our 
low latency for data delivery is maintained 
even during the highest peaks in trading 
activity. Already over 60 per cent of the 
professional market has taken advantage  
of this new product.

In addition, a server hosting service  
was launched, enabling latency sensitive 
customers to benefit from the improved 
performance of being located within the 
same building as our matching engines  
and data feeds. Phase one of the service 
has been fully allocated. In phase two, for 
which we already have a healthy pipeline  
of customers, a significant amount  
of additional space, power and choice  
of dedicated connectivity options will  
be provided to a greater number of  
trading participants. 

Over the course of the year, our position  
as a provider of high quality information  
has been consolidated and our integrated 
trading and market data systems have 
achieved significant growth:

In Italy, Market Connect now has 26,000 •	
own screens and 65,000 third party 
screens, up 30 per cent and three per 
cent respectively from the previous year; 
and
In London, Proquote achieved an •	
increase in terminal numbers of 14 per 
cent from 4,200 to 4,800, of which 2,700 
were carrying international data. 

SEDOL Masterfile, our global reference 
data service, now covers over 5 million 
instruments, compared to 2.4 million in the 
previous year. A new SEDOL system was 
launched in 2008, providing 1,300 global 
customers with access to 3 million SEDOLs 
for global exchange traded derivatives and  
a range of new website services.

Revenues from Unavista, our new global 
data integration, validation and reconciliation 
service, grew by 42 per cent. This service 
helps customers reduce operational  
risks and costs through the provision  
of web based software solutions hosted  
at the London Stock Exchange’s secure 
service centre. 

FTSE Group, of which we own 50 per cent, 
has grown strongly. FTSE royalty revenue 
received by the Group was £8 million plus 
dividends of £3.5 million.

Last year 37 per cent of our Information 
Services revenue derived from services 
other than those related to real time data, 
up from 35 per cent in the previous year.

issueR > tRAdinG > infoRmAtion > post tRAde

 we offeR vAluAble And pRice foRminG 
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NUMBER OF PROFESSIONAL TERMINALS 
– LONDON STOCK EXCHANGE (000)

2007

2006

2008
2009 104

88

83

96

112

2005

AT 31 MARCH

NUMBER OF PROFESSIONAL TERMINALS 
– BORSA ITALIANA (000)

2007

2006

2008
2009 151

147

141

147

160

2005

AT 31 MARCH

fuRtheR developments
New FTSE Italia indices will be launched  
this year, including the FTSE MIB index and 
a comprehensive set of complementary 
indices designed specifically for Italy, 
providing new investment opportunities  
for domestic and international investors. 

We will provide new reference data content 
and the ability to validate customer data 
against the SEDOL Masterfile database 
using a new website service. 

Unavista will expand its services into Italy 
with a range of business solutions in the 
areas of post trade, cash reconciliations  
and reference data management. 

We are actively working with third parties 
from across the market to find new ways  
to deliver consistently higher quality post 
trade data, which can then be aggregated, 
disseminated and used with increased 
confidence in the fragmented, post-MiFID 
environment.

We work with many companies that supply trading software  
and act as vendors distributing Group data. Fidessa is one of 
those companies, and it has been listed on the London Stock 
Exchange since 1997. A FTSE 250 company, Fidessa serves 
over 22,000 users across 630 clients globally.

It is a leading supplier of multi-asset trading, portfolio analysis, 
decision support, compliance, market data and global 
connectivity solutions for the buy-side and sell-side globally. 
Fidessa also supplies sophisticated algorithmic trading and 
smart order routing services.

The company is an accredited Independent Software Vendor 
(ISV) and Vendor Access Network (VAN) provider for the 
London Stock Exchange. Much of the Group’s customer base 
use Fidessa software to gain access to TradElect.
 
Fidessa also helps to connect the buy-side community to the 
Group’s FIX Gateway service via FidessaNET.

Its global network carries over 180 million messages a month 
covering over 2,200 buy-side firms and 360 brokers across  
115 markets worldwide. 

We have recently announced the selection of Fidessa as  
a partner to develop order management and smart order  
routing technology for Baikal, our forthcoming pan-European 
dark pool multilateral trading facility (MTF) and liquidity 
aggregation service.

cAse study: fidessA GRoup
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TOTAL NUMBER OF CONTRACTS CLEARED (M)1

2007

2006

2008
2009 103

80

55

95

111

2005

cleARinG At cc&G
CC&G acts as a CCP, guaranteeing trades 
and eliminating counterparty risk in Italian 
cash equities, derivatives, government 
bonds and other financial instruments.  
It has 135 members, 45 per cent of which 
are based outside Italy. 

hiGhliGhts foR cc&G
CC&G has executed its crucial role as  
a CCP throughout the financial crisis, 
proving the efficiency of its counterparty 
risk management. 

Despite turbulent market conditions,  
there were no calls on CC&G’s default 
funds. In fact, since their creation, there  
has never been a call on a default fund.

103 million cash equity and derivatives 
contracts were cleared in the year, slightly 
down on last year’s 111 million contracts, 
reflecting a decline in the number of equity 
trades in Italy. Open interest in derivatives 
remained strong at 4.6 million contracts, 
1.6 million up on last year.

CC&G continues to expand and diversify its 
customer base. In November, CC&G began 
clearing for IDEX, the Group’s new electric 
power derivatives market. 

CC&G has applied to the UK’s Financial 
Services Authority to be a Recognised 
Overseas Clearing House, in preparation 
for offering clearing services in the UK.

In the year ahead, CC&G will become a 
CCP for Baikal, the Group’s pan-European 
dark pool MTF.

pRe-settlement, settlement 
And custody At monte titoli
Through X-TRM, our pre-settlement facility, 
and Express II, our securities settlement 
system, Monte Titoli provides efficient 
routing, netting and settlement services. 
Monte Titoli also provides highly  
automated custody services for a range  
of financial instruments.

hiGhliGhts foR monte titoli

x-tRm
Technology is key to the continuing success 
of X-TRM, and in January we released 
X-TRM Online, a new range of web-based 
services which provide customers with 
easy to manage and cost-effective web 
access to our pre-settlement, settlement 
and custody services.

X-TRM is now used in the UK with the 
launch of a central counterparty service  
for trading in the 50 most liquid depositary 
receipts on the London Stock Exchange’s 
IOB. X-TRM improves operational efficiency 
by ensuring that trades are routed from the 
IOB to the CCP service provider.

Challenging market conditions were 
reflected in a 9.7 per cent fall in pre-
settlement instructions on X-TRM to  
325 million.

In the year ahead, the processing capacity 
of X-TRM will be doubled and reach over  
32 million instructions a day.

express ii
Express II continued to demonstrate its 
efficiency delivering a settlement rate  
in excess of 99.7 per cent, well above  
the Bank for International Settlement’s  
quality standards.

issueR > tRAdinG > infoRmAtion > post tRAde
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PRE-SETTLEMENT INSTRUCTIONS (M)1

2007

2006

2008
2009 325.4

265.5

191.9

310.0

360.2

2005

SECURITISED DERIVATIVES

GOVERNMENT BONDS

CORPORATE BONDS

EQUITIES 

2007

2006

2008
2009

2005

CUSTODY (€)1

AT 31 MARCH 3 TRILLION

Monte Titoli is fully involved in the European 
Central Bank’s ‘Target 2 Securities’ project, 
as a member of the project’s Advisory 
Group. This will ensure that we are able to 
play an important role in the development of 
cross-border settlement services in Europe. 

Monte Titoli is expanding its client base  
and in October, Express II began processing 
settlement instructions from EuroCCP  
and EMCF.

custody
Monte Titoli’s custody business has been 
resilient over the last year. At year end,  
the total value of securities held was stable 
at €2.7 trillion, with the value of corporate 
bonds in custody increasing 33 per cent  
to €840 billion and the value of government 
bonds increasing over seven per cent  
to €1,403 billion. 

The value of corporate actions handled 
increased 23.3 per cent from €155.9 billion 
to €192.3 billion, reflecting the increased 
size of the fixed income securities  
under custody.

cAse study: monte titoli’s x-tRm 

X-TRM lies at the heart of the Group’s open and interoperable 
market model for post trade services.

It is a multi-purpose post trade, pre settlement engine. It can 
receive multiple transaction flows from different execution 
venues, including OTC trades, match trades and then route 
them to settlement. 

It provides a single entry point for all Monte Titoli’s customers, 
allowing them to centralise their post trade transaction and 
information flows. 

The service supports competitive clearing and settlement  
by enabling the use of multiple central counterparties  
and by routing trades to different settlement systems  
as customers require. 

“X-TRM is the heart of the post trading infrastructures in Italy,  
it is well integrated in our transaction processing procedures 
and, based on our experience as a key settlement agent on  
the Italian market, it has proved to be an efficient matching  
and routing engine”, says Mr. Riccardo Lamanna, Head of 
Transaction Services at Intesa Sanpaolo.

1  Pro Forma figures as if Borsa Italiana was part  
of the Group for the periods covered
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 GRowth in Revenue And AdJusted  
bAsic eARninGs peR shARe ReflectinG the meRGeR with  
boRsA itAliAnA And the Resilience of the business model  
in chAllenGinG mARket conditions

hiGhliGhts

  Revenue At £671.4 million up 23 peR cent (2008: £546.4 million) 

  opeRAtinG pRofit, befoRe Goodwill impAiRment, AmoRtisAtion  
of puRchAsed intAnGibles And exceptionAl items, incReAsed  
17 peR cent to £338.6 million (2008: £289.0 million). opeRAtinG 
loss, AfteR Goodwill impAiRment, AmoRtisAtion of puRchAsed 
intAnGibles And exceptionAl items, wAs £210.0 million (2008: 
pRofit of £265.2 million) 

  AdJusted bAsic eARninGs peR shARe, befoRe Goodwill impAiRment, 
AmoRtisAtion of puRchAsed intAnGible Assets And exceptionAl 
items, incReAsed two peR cent to 74.2 pence (2008: 73.1 pence). 
bAsic eARninGs peR shARe weRe neGAtive 126.1 pence (2008: 
positive 70.8 pence RestAted) 

  Goodwill impAiRment of £484.0 million, pRimARily in Respect of 
boRsA itAliAnA, RecoGnised As A Result of siGnificAnt chAnGe  
in GlobAl mARket conditions

  cAsh GeneRAted fRom opeRAtions incReAsed to £352.6 million 
(2008: £292.9 million)

  lonG-teRm cRedit RAtinG impRoved, with moody’s RAtinG up fRom 
baa3 (positive outlook) to baa2 (stAble outlook), And RAtinG of 
A– (stAble outlook) AssiGned by stAndARd & pooR’s 
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In cash equities, average trades per day  
on SETS increased 15 per cent to 740,000 
(2008: 642,000), with value traded for the 
year at £1,771 billion (2008: £2,276 billion), 
a 22 per cent decrease from 2008. The fall 
in average trade size results from falling 
market values and the continued growth in 
high frequency, electronic trading strategies. 
In Italy, average daily bargains were 
256,000 (1 October 2007 to 31 March 
2008: 295,000) with total value traded at 
€838 billion (1 October 2007 to 31 March 
2008: €685 billion). 

On the fixed income markets, wholesale 
trading conditions were very challenging  
as a consequence of contraction in credit 
markets. MTS, the leading wholesale 
market in Europe for electronic trading of 
bonds, traded a nominal value of €18.3 
trillion (from 1 October 2007 to 31 March 
2008: €9.3 trillion). MOT, Borsa Italiana’s 
retail electronic bond and government 
securities market, performed more  
strongly with value traded of €197 billion  
(1 October 2007 to 31 March 2008:  
€78 billion).

Derivatives grew strongly, with 26 per  
cent growth in the number of EDX London 
contracts traded to 61.1 million (2008:  
48.6 million). The Italian derivatives market, 
IDEM, traded 37.0 million contracts in the 
year (1 October 2007 to 31 March 2008: 
17.6 million).

information services
Revenue from Information Services was 
£182.9 million, an increase of 27 per cent 
(2008: £143.6 million), following robust 
demand for real time price and trading  
data and the contribution of a full year  
from Borsa Italiana.

Professional users receiving real-time 
London Stock Exchange data accounted for 
104,000 terminals at 31 March 2009 (2008: 
112,000), averaging 110,000 for the year 

(2008: 104,000 average). In Italy at  
31 March 2009 there were 151,000 
professional terminals (2008: 160,000) 
receiving real-time Italian market data,  
with an average of 157,000 (1 October  
2007 to 31 March 2008: 157,000).

post trade services
Post Trade Services contributed £104.0 
million to revenue (2008: £42.8 million), 
benefiting from high levels of interest 
received on cash balances and margins held, 
and reflecting the inclusion of only six months’ 
revenue in the previous year. CC&G cleared 
66.3 million equity contracts (1 October 2007 
to 31 March 2008: 37.3 million) and 37 million 
derivative contracts (1 October 2007 to  
31 March 2008: 17.6 million) in the year.  
The Monte Titoli settlement and custody 
business had average assets under custody 
of €2.7 trillion (1 October 2007 to 31 March 
2008: €2.7 trillion), reflecting the strong 
weighting towards fixed income products, 
and 45.6 million settlement instructions  
(1 October 2007 to 31 March 2008:  
24.8 million) during the period. 

otheR income
Other Income grew 46 per cent to  
£18.8 million (2008: £12.9 million), primarily 
reflecting the inclusion of a full year of 
revenues from Borsa Italiana’s IT consulting 
services to third parties and its congress 
and training centre.

expendituRe
Administrative expenses, excluding 
exceptional items and amortisation of 
purchased intangible assets, increased  
to £332.8 million (2008: £257.4 million), 
principally due to only six months of Borsa 
Italiana expenses being included in 2008. 
Amortisation of purchased intangible assets 
was £49.4 million (2008: £21.5 million).

Revenue 
Revenue increased 23 per cent to £671.4 
million (2008: £546.4 million), reflecting a 
full year of Borsa Italiana results, compared 
with six months in 2008. 

issuer services
Revenue in Issuer Services was up 10 per 
cent to £90.4 million (2008: £82.4 million) 
including a full year of Borsa Italiana 
revenues. The performance reflects a good 
first half for new issues, with the second 
half of the year seeing a reduction in activity 
levels due to poor market conditions for 
IPOs and lower overall market capitalisation 
partially offset by strong further issuance 
activity in the fourth quarter.

On the London markets, total equity  
raised was £98 billion (2008: £38 billion), 
principally due to large further issues 
undertaken by many companies, in 
particular banks, in response to the liquidity 
situation. Average market capitalisation of a 
Main Market new issue was up 15 per cent 
to £781 million (2008: £677 million). The 
number of Main Market, Specialist Fund 
Market (SFM) and Professional Securities 
Market (PSM) new issues decreased to 65 
(2008: 116), while AIM new issues totalled 
87 (2008: 262). In Italy, eight companies 
listed during the year (from 1 October 2007 
to 31 March 2008: 10). At 31 March 2009 
the total number of companies on all of our 
markets was 3,304 (2008: 3,579), of which 
1,478 were on AIM (2008: 1,681) and 296 
on the Italian market (2008: 306).

trading services
Trading Services revenue increased four 
per cent to £275.3 million (2008: £264.7 
million), with the difficult market conditions 
offset by the inclusion of a full year of 
results from Borsa Italiana.
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5.875 per cent per annum. Due to changes 
to the Company’s long term credit rating, 
the coupon increased to 6.125 per cent and 
6.375 per cent in July 2007 and January 
2008 respectively. For the purposes of its 
annual financial statements at 31 March 
2008, the Group treated this bond as a 
floating rate instrument and, accordingly,  
did not reflect the impact of the expected 
future cash flows at the original EIR in its 
calculations. Following further consideration, 
the directors decided that, although there 
were good arguments for treating elements 
of the bond as floating rate, it was more 
appropriate to have treated this as a fixed 
rate instrument. Accordingly, the prior 
period financial statements have been 
adjusted by restating the carrying amount  
of the debt instrument by discounting the 
revised cash flows using the original EIR, 
with the resulting adjustments being 
recorded in the income statement as an 
exceptional finance cost. The resulting  
net charge to the income statement of  
£5.5 million has been treated as a prior  
year adjustment.

pRofit/loss foR the yeAR
Increased profit for the year, before goodwill 
impairment, amortisation of purchased 
intangible assets and exceptional items, 
resulted from including a full year of Borsa 
Italiana results and the translation benefits 
from a stronger euro against sterling. Profit 
before taxation on this basis showed an  
18 per cent improvement at £304.7 million 
(2008: £258.5 million), while after allowing 
for goodwill impairment, amortisation of 
purchased intangible assets and exceptional 
items, the loss before taxation was £250.8 
million (2008: £227.0 million profit restated). 
Net finance costs increased to £44.9 million 
(2008: £40.4 million restated) reflecting 
losses on a gilt lock contract, partly offset by 
a credit for bond revaluation, as well as a full 
year of borrowing to finance capital returns 
to shareholders. The taxation charge of 
£82.0 million (2008: £54.0 million restated) 

increased because the previous year’s 
charge benefited from exceptional tax credit 
items of £24.1 million. The effective tax rate 
was 32.0 per cent (2008: 31.6 per cent), 
reflecting a full year of Borsa Italiana results 
and decreases in the UK and Italy rates of 
corporation tax. Loss attributable to equity 
holders for the year, after tax and minority 
interests, was £338.0 million (2008: £168.3 
million profit), showing the impact of the 
goodwill impairment taken during the year.

eARninGs peR shARe
Adjusted basic earnings per share, 
excluding goodwill impairment, amortisation 
of purchased intangible assets and 
exceptional items, for the Group showed  
an increase of two per cent to 74.2 pence 
(2008: 73.1 pence), while basic earnings per 
share became negative 126.1 pence (2008: 
positive 70.8 pence restated), reflecting the 
goodwill impairment detailed above.

cAsh flow And bAlAnce sheet
Cash generated from operations increased 
by 21 per cent to £352.6 million (2008: 
£292.9 million), due to the consistent 
operating performance during the period, 
as well as the inclusion of Borsa Italiana 
cash flows for the full financial year.

The Group had net assets of £1,053.2 
million at 31 March 2009 compared to  
net assets of £1,262.9 million restated  
at 31 March 2008, the change principally 
arising from foreign exchange gains of 
£274.6 million (2008: £201.5 million) and 
goodwill impairment of £484.0 million  
(2008: nil). The decrease also included 
recognised losses for the period of  
£76.6 million (2008: gains of £388.3 million 
restated), and dividends paid of £65.3 
million (2008: £46.0 million). The central 
counterparty clearing business assets and 
liabilities within CC&G largely offset each 
other and are shown gross on the balance 
sheet as the amounts receivable and 
payable are with different counterparties.

Goodwill impAiRment
The Group merged with the Borsa Italiana 
group in October 2007, valuing the Italian 
business at £1,308 million, including 
goodwill of £917 million. As a result of the 
strengthening of the euro against sterling, 
the carrying value of this euro-denominated 
goodwill balance was £1,221 million as at  
31 March 2009.

Financial market and economic conditions 
have deteriorated significantly since the 
merger, leading to greater uncertainty  
about the future. Value in use calculations 
including revised estimates of future 
performance and discount rates now  
value the goodwill at £747.7 million, and  
the difference (£472.9 million) has been 
charged to the income statement. A further 
£11.1 million of goodwill impairment has 
been taken, relating to Proquote Ltd.

These impairments have no impact on the 
day-to-day operations of the Group, its 
ability to generate cash or its banking 
covenants. Given the strengthening of the 
euro against sterling, the assessed value  
in use of Borsa Italiana remains above the 
£1.3 billion value at the time of completion 
of the all share merger.

otheR exceptionAl items 
Other exceptional costs before tax included 
£15.2 million (2008: £2.3 million) for 
integration activities and £6.9 million  
(2008: £7.7 million restated) for costs 
associated with the closure of a gilt lock 
hedging transaction and the revaluation  
of the £250 million bond following an 
improvement to its credit rating. 

pRioR yeAR AdJustment 
The Group carries its bank borrowings and 
bonds at amortised cost, with interest 
charged to the income statement over the 
period of the borrowings using the effective 
interest rate (EIR) method. Its July 2006 
£250 million bond paid an initial coupon of 
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net debt, fAcilities And  
cRedit RAtinG
The Group’s net debt of £482.7 million 
(2008: £499.4 million) at 31 March 2009 
comprises gross borrowings of £624.8 
million (2008: £692.1 million) and £143.7 
million of cash resources (2008: £200.6 
million). £125 million of the Group’s cash 
resources (2008: £125 million) are set aside 
to meet regulatory, clearing and commercial 
requirements, giving an operating net debt 
of £607.7 million (2008: £624.4 million).

At 31 March 2009, the Group’s interest 
cover ratio remained strong at 10.1 times 
(2008: 9.8 times). This ratio is measured by 
the coverage of net finance expense (before 
exceptional items) by EBITA (EBITDA after 
deducting depreciation).

Committed funding totalled £905 million  
at 31 March 2009 (2008: £886 million),  
of which £700 million is committed until 
2012 or beyond.

On 8 May 2008, Standard and Poor’s 
assigned a long-term rating of A– (stable 
outlook) to London Stock Exchange Group. 
The Company’s credit rating with Moody’s 
improved during the year from Baa3 
(positive outlook) to Baa2 (stable outlook), 
reflecting confidence in the robust nature  
of the Group’s income streams.

The Group remains well within its bank 
covenants.

foReiGn exchAnGe movement 
A large part of the Group’s net assets are 
denominated in euro, while the reporting 
currency is sterling. During the year  
there was a 14 per cent movement in the 
foreign exchange rate between these two 
currencies, which led to a strengthening in 
the reported balance sheet values. This  
has resulted in a translation gain of £274.6 
million being taken to the foreign exchange 
reserve at 31 March 2009.

finAnciAl Risk mAnAGement
Financial risk management has been 
specifically considered by the directors,  
and the policies in place appear in the 
disclosures in Risks and Uncertainties,  
on pages 32 to 33 of this report, and in  
the notes to the Financial Statements on 
pages 58 to 93.

shARe buybAck pRoGRAmme
During the year, the Company purchased 
5.9 million of its own shares for a total 
consideration of £51.5 million through 
on-market repurchases (2008: £139.3 
million). As at 31 March 2009 the number  
of ordinary shares in issue was 270.5 
million (2008: 276.4 million). The Board 
remains committed to returning capital 
when it is in shareholders’ interest to do so 
but believes that following the significant 
changes in global financial market 
conditions, it is prudent to retain a more 
robust balance sheet and to provide 
financial flexibility to pursue investment 
opportunities. During the year, it therefore 
brought to an end the £500 million share 
buyback programme.

pRo foRmA compARisons
The results of the Group showed revenue 
up one per cent at £671.4 million (compared 
to unaudited pro forma results for the 
previous year as if Borsa Italiana had been 
acquired on 1 April 2007: £666.8 million). 
Operating profit, excluding goodwill 
impairment, amortisation of purchased 
intangible assets and exceptional items, 
was down one per cent at £338.6 million 
(2008: £343.0 million on a pro forma basis). 

doug webb
chief finAnciAl officeR
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We focus our efforts on areas where we 
believe we can have greatest impact:

community
We have a policy of making an active and 
responsible contribution to the communities 
in which we operate in both the UK and 
Italy. As well as our continuing charitable 
donations, we encourage employees to 
participate in activities aimed at supporting 
and strengthening these communities. 

We are delighted to be able to work with 
our partner charity, The Princess Royal 
Trust for Carers, which offers much needed 
support to people who give unpaid care  
to those who cannot manage on their own. 
Together with our employees, we have 
generated almost £230,000 for the Trust 
since the partnership began in August 2007.

Our total charitable donations for the year 
were £300,000. In line with our policy, most 
of our UK contributions were made to our 
partner charity and donations of €100,000 
were made to several Italian charities 
including the Italian Foundation for Cancer 
and the Alzheimer’s Association Rome. 

We seek to motivate staff to become 
involved in charitable fundraising through 
the Group matching the amounts they  
raise. £26,000 of our charitable donations 
matched money that staff raised for 
charities through a variety of fundraising 
activities. In addition, we actively promote 
charitable giving by our employees and 
received the UK government sponsored 
Payroll Giving Quality Mark Gold Award  
in recognition of our employees’ charitable 
donations through payroll giving. 

We support organisations and initiatives 
close to our Group headquarters which 
benefit the City and the local community. 
We are a corporate member of St. Paul’s 
Cathedral and an active supporter and 
sponsor of the Lord Mayor’s Show. 

employees
We aim to create a workplace where highly 
capable employees can maximise their 
talents, delivering results for the Group  
and its shareholders. We seek to achieve 
this by:

Providing employees with a clear link •	
between performance and their reward;
Encouraging employees to develop their •	
skills and knowledge to optimise their 
performance;
Ensuring that managers provide regular •	
open and honest assessment of 
employee performance and behaviours; 
and
Offering a safe and supportive working •	
environment in which employees feel 
comfortable about raising their concerns, 
including any perceived wrongdoing, 
supported by the development of a new 
Group whistleblowing policy.

A major part of our integration effort  
this year was invested in bringing our 
employees together. Specific initiatives  
to support the integration included: 

Running a successful leadership •	
programme for the Group’s top 
management focusing on bringing them 
together and identifying the leadership 
activities required to drive the combined 
Group forwards;
Launching a Group-wide share scheme •	
for all employees which was shortlisted 
for an IFS ProShare award; and
Creating opportunities for employees to •	
transfer between the Group companies. 

 cAReful mAnAGement of ouR impAct 
on society And the enviRonment is An inteGRAl pARt of 
how we do business

“ we hAve intRoduced 
AdditionAl initiAtives 
to Reuse As well As 
Recycle items, which  
will fuRtheR Reduce 
ouR enviRonmentAl 
impAct And thAt of 
ouR supply chAin.”
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A full health and safety audit is completed 
annually which includes advice from 
external consultants on new or changing 
legislation and best practice. There were  
no reportable illnesses, dangerous 
occurrences or liabilities, nor were any 
health and safety enforcement notices 
received during the year.

enviRonment
We invest considerable effort in minimising 
our impact on the environment and maintain 
a Group-wide energy management 
programme and substantial capital 
investment to help manage our carbon 
emissions.

In Italy, a high proportion of our energy 
comes from environmentally friendly 
hydroelectric supplies generated in the  
Alps and we have begun a full recycling 
collection system for paper, plastic, printer 
cartridges and food waste. We have 
introduced additional initiatives to reuse  
as well as recycle items, which will further 
reduce our environmental impact and that  
of our supply chain. 

Once again, we have received the ‘Gold 
Award’ under the UK’s Clean City Awards 
Scheme which recognises good practice  
to reduce consumption of energy and 
recycle where possible. Our environmental 
strategy and best practice have also 
contributed to our continued inclusion  
in the FTSE4Good index.

The greater international presence of  
the merged Group entails increased 
international travel. We therefore introduced 
a Group-wide travel policy this year  
which aims to reduce CO2 emissions  
and associated cost by limiting travel to 
instances where the business purpose 
cannot be achieved via audio or video 
conference facilities.

In the UK, 2,700 tonnes of CO2 were 
emitted in the year, principally due to the 
power and cooling systems at the Group’s 
IT data centres. Our energy consumed 
during 2008 will determine our participation 
in the UK Government’s Carbon Reduction 
Commitment, a new carbon emissions 
trading scheme that will start operating  
in April 2010.

Our Environmental Policy Statement which 
provides a framework for developing and 
reviewing environmental objectives can be 
found on our website at
 www.londonstockexchangegroup.com.
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 the GRoup opeRAtes mAndAtoRy GRoup-
wide Risk mAnAGement pRoceduRes which Allow mAnAGement 
to mAke betteR, moRe infoRmed And moRe consistent decisions 
bAsed on A cleAR undeRstAndinG of the Risks involved 

The need for increased management  
of counterparty risk may result in a shift  
of OTC traded products on-exchange or 
extend the use of the CCP model, giving 
the Group’s regulated markets a clear 
advantage and opportunity for growth.

Regulation
The securities industry is closely regulated 
and as such, in addition to having to comply 
with company law, local government and EU 
legislative requirements, Group companies 
are subject to authorisation and continuous 
oversight by regulatory bodies in the UK 
and Italy, which ultimately have the power to 
revoke these authorisations. The Directors 
are not aware of any circumstances which 
would result in the authorisations being 
revoked, and comprehensive procedures 
are in place to ensure ongoing compliance 
with all legal and regulatory requirements.

The securities markets have recently been 
the subject of increasing governmental and 
public scrutiny in response to the global 
economic crisis. During the coming months, 
it is possible that there will be significant 
changes in our regulatory environment. In 
the UK, the Turner Review and the FSA’s 
accompanying Discussion Paper “A 
regulatory response to the global banking 
crisis” indicate a commitment to revise the 
FSA’s regulatory philosophy and enhance 
its supervisory approach. The Group 
continuously monitors developments and 
engages in dialogue with regulatory and 
government authorities at both the national 
and EU level.

competition
The implementation of MiFID in Europe  
has made it easier for multilateral trading 
facilities to establish themselves as 
low-cost alternatives to regulated 
exchanges, thereby increasing the number 
of liquidity pools, with several new entrants. 
This competition may further intensify in  
the near future especially as technological 
advances create pressure to reduce the 

Risks are identified at project, operational 
and strategic levels. Whilst the management 
of risk remains a line responsibility, risks are 
also monitored at a corporate level by the 
relevant Group committees.

Whilst our revenues and profitability, as a 
provider of services to the financial services 
sector, are highly dependent on the levels of 
activity within that industry, we as a Group 
do not carry the significant balance sheet 
risks or liabilities typically associated with 
that sector (see Counterparty/Credit Risk 
below). The financial services industry is 
dynamic and unpredictable and is directly 
affected by many macro-economic variables 
beyond our control. At the same time, other 
factors which could impact on the Group’s 
long-term performance are specific to  
the business.

The following section covers the principal 
risks and uncertainties currently facing  
the Group. In addition, the main risks  
arising from the Group’s use of financial 
instruments are discussed in note 1 to  
the financial statements. 

Risks RelAtinG to the industRy
economic environment
The ongoing recessionary environment 
could reduce customer demand for our 
services and the ability of our customers, 
lenders and other counterparties to  
meet their obligations to us. The current 
recession has reduced trading values 
across our markets and the pace of initial 
public offerings has declined to levels  
below those of recent years. The outlook 
for recovery in the market for initial public 
offerings is closely tied to the availability of 
risk capital which may not return to historic 
levels for some time. The demand for real 
time data may reduce due to cut backs in 
headcount and costs among customers.
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from clearing members and by maintaining 
default funds of clearing members’ 
contributions. During the year, the quantum 
of margins taken from, and default funds 
held for, its clearing members have 
increased significantly, demonstrating a 
prudent approach taken in light of prevailing 
financial market conditions. CC&G has not, 
to date, experienced a default of any of its 
clearing members and has never made use 
of default funds held.

The Group is exposed to credit risk  
from third parties, including customers, 
counterparties and clearing agents. These 
parties may default on their obligations  
to us due to bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, 
operational failure or other reasons. The 
Group has stringent and proactive credit 
management processes in place to mitigate 
this risk and these processes have had, and 
continue to receive, very significant focus  
at managerial and Board level.

brand name & Reputation
The Group’s strong reputation and brand 
names are a key competitive strength. 
Damage to the Group’s reputation could 
have an adverse effect on revenue and  
can be caused by:

 Litigation;•	
 Negative publicity;•	
 Technology failures;•	
 Failure of market supervision;•	
 Instances of market abuse; and•	
 Inaccurate trade information,  •	
financial and market data.

The Group constantly monitors those areas 
of the business that could cause harm to 
the reputation of the business and evaluates 
its procedures accordingly.

financing
The Group needs to invest in its operations 
to maintain and grow the business. 
Although the Group believes its current 
capital requirements can be met from 
internally generated funds, cash on hand 
and available borrowings under existing 
credit facilities, if the capital and credit 
markets continue to experience volatility, 
access to new/incremental capital or credit 
may not be available on acceptable terms or 
at all. Any additional equity financing may be 
dilutive to holders of ordinary shares, while 
any debt financing may require restrictions 
to be placed on the Group’s future financing 
and operating activities.

In addition, further capital may not be 
available in the debt markets to support 
subsequent re-financing activities as these 
become due. During the year, the Group 
successfully arranged new committed five 
and three year credit facilities as well as 

extending existing facilities. Through these 
financing activities the Group has also 
broadened the number of its supporting 
banks from two to nine.

The Group maintains an active dialogue with 
its relationship banks as well as seeking 
independent advice on key factors affecting 
the equity and debt markets.

employees
The calibre and performance of our senior 
management and other key employees are 
critical to the success of the Group. Our 
ability to attract and retain key personnel is 
dependent on a number of factors including 
prevailing market conditions, compensation 
packages offered by companies competing 
for the same talent and any regulatory 
impact thereon and the impact of share 
price performance on our share schemes. 
Failure to attract and retain key personnel 
may adversely affect our ability to conduct 
our business through an inability to execute 
business strategies effectively. To manage 
this, the Group regularly reviews its reward 
and incentive systems to ensure they are 
competitive, operates performance 
appraisal systems and provides executive 
development opportunities. Additionally,  
the Nominations Committee considers the 
succession plans for key positions.

partnerships/Joint ventures
New business initiatives, such as Baikal  
and AIM Italia, together with partnerships 
and joint ventures with third parties, for 
example, Oslo Børs and TSE, are an 
important part of our growth strategy.  
Such ventures may require significant 
resources, result in unanticipated losses, 
costs or liabilities, or fail to achieve the 
forecast benefits. Appropriate structures 
and processes are in place to ensure such 
initiatives progress smoothly and that  
there is sufficient management focus  
on delivering the projected benefits.

foreign exchange
Geographical expansion has meant that  
the Group is now exposed to volatility in  
the sterling/euro foreign exchange rate.  
The business has limited transactional 
foreign exchange exposure as most of its 
revenues and related costs arise in the 
currencies of its operations, whilst major 
monetary transfers between euro and 
sterling entities are hedged. Borsa Italiana 
S.p.A represents around 44 per cent of 
Group revenue and a one cent movement  
in the euro exchange rate has an impact on 
revenue of approximately £2 million. The 
Group partially hedges euro denominated 
net assets with euro borrowings, thus 
providing some mitigation of the economic 
risk as euro earnings are used to service 
and repay euro denominated debt.

costs of trading. In addition, a high 
proportion of our trading business is 
concentrated in a small number of market 
participants which may lead to further 
pressure on pricing.

Both the European Code of Conduct, to 
which the Group is a signatory, and the  
plan by the European Central Bank to  
create a centralised settlement mechanism 
for Eurozone securities, may increase 
competition among post trading 
organisations. 

The Group is well placed to respond to 
these developments and continues to  
focus on leveraging its post trade assets 
and on developing and delivering 
competitive products, technology, pricing 
structures and services to reduce the 
overall cost of trading which is key to 
maintaining strong customer relationships 
and deep pools of liquidity. 

Risks RelAtinG to the business
technology
To compete effectively, the Group must be 
able to anticipate and respond, in a timely 
and effective manner, to the need for new 
and enhanced technology. The markets in 
which we compete are characterised by 
rapidly changing technology, evolving 
industry standards, frequent enhancements 
to existing products and services, the 
introduction of new services and products 
and changing customer demands.

Our businesses depend on technology 
which is secure, stable and performs to  
high levels of availability and throughput.  
If our systems cannot expand to cope  
with increased demand or otherwise fail to 
perform, we could experience unanticipated 
disruptions in service, slower response 
times and delays in the introduction of  
new products and services. 

The Group is investing continually to 
increase the capacity, responsiveness, 
functionality and accessibility of its systems. 
It employs rigorous software design 
methodologies, logistics planning and 
assembly and testing regimes to minimise 
implementation risk and maintains 
alternative computer facilities to reduce  
the likelihood of system disruptions.

counterparty/credit Risk
Acting as central counterparty, CC&G 
clears a range of equity-related, fixed-
income-related and derivative products.  
It assumes the counterparty risk for all 
transactions that are cleared through  
its markets. CC&G closely monitors  
its exposure to clearing members,  
and addresses this exposure by holding 
collateral in the form of margin deposits 
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1. chris Gibson-smith (63) 2,3

chAiRmAn
Also Chairman of The British Land 
Company plc and Non-Executive Director  
of Qatar Financial Centre Authority. He is  
a Trustee of the London Business School. 
He was previously Chairman of National  
Air Traffic Services Ltd from 2001 to 2005, 
Director of Lloyds TSB plc from 1999 to 
2005, Group Managing Director of BP plc 
from 1997 to 2001, and a past Trustee of 
the Institute of Public Policy Research and 
the arts charity Arts & Business.

2. Angelo tantazzi (69) 1,3

deputy chAiRmAn And  
senioR independent diRectoR
Since July 2000 has held the position of 
Chairman and a Non-Executive Director  
of Borsa Italiana S.p.A., Monte Titoli S.p.A., 
CC&G S.p.A. and Prometeia S.p.A.. He is 
also Vice-Chairman of the publishing house  
“Il Mulino” and a Non-Executive Director of 
Banca Popolare dell’Emilia Romagna, Coesia 
S.p.A., Advanced Capital S.p.A. and Brenvey 
Asset Management. 

3. clara furse (51) 
chief executive
Chief Executive from January 2001 to  
May 2009. Group Chief Executive of  
Credit Lyonnais Rouse from 1998 to 2000. 
At Phillips & Drew (now UBS) from 1983 to 
1998; became a Director in 1988, Executive 
Director in 1992, Managing Director in  
1995 and Global Head of Futures in 1996. 
Director of LIFFE from 1991 to 1999; 
Deputy Chairman from 1997 to 1999.  
She is a Non-Executive Director of LCH. 
Clearnet and a member of the Shanghai 
International Financial Advisory Council. 
She was a Non-Executive Director of 
Euroclear plc from 2002 to May 2009  
and Non-Executive Director of Fortis from  
June 2006 to February 2009. She will join 
the Board of Legal & General Group plc  
on 1 June 2009. 

4. xavier Rolet (49)
chief executive desiGnAte
Joined the Board as a Director on 16 March 
2009 and took over as Chief Executive on 
20 May 2009. From 2000 to 2008 he was  
a senior executive at Lehman Brothers and, 
most recently, CEO of Lehman in France. 
Prior to Lehman Brothers, he held senior 
positions at Dresdner Kleinwort Benson 
from 1997 to 2000, Bayerische Vereinsbank 
A.G from 1996 to 1997, Credit Suisse First 
Boston from 1994 to 1996 and Goldman 
Sachs from 1984 to 1994.

5. massimo capuano (54)
deputy chief executive
President and CEO Borsa Italiana S.p.A.. 
Member of the Board of MTS and Vice 
Chairman of CC&G S.p.A. and Monte Titoli 
S.p.A. Chairman of the World Federation of 
Exchanges from 2007 to 2008 and an adviser 
to the Board of the Federation of European 
Securities Exchanges. He has been a 
Member of the International Advisory 
Committee of Egypt Stock Exchange since 
September 2006. At McKinsey from 1986  
to 1997 he was Senior Partner, leader of the 
Milan office and member of the European 
banking industry group. Information 
Technology systems and marketing engineer 
for product layout at IBM from 1980 to 1986. 
Head of After Sales Service Department in 
South Area at Rank Xerox from 1979 to 
1980. He is a Freeman of the City of London.

6. doug webb (48)
chief finAnciAl officeR
Appointed to the Board in June 2008.  
At QinetiQ Group plc from 2003 to 2008, 
became its Chief Financial Officer in 2005. 
Previously Chief Financial Officer and  
Chief Operating Officer, North America  
and then Finance Director, Continental 
Europe at Logica plc from 1994 to 2003  
and at Price Waterhouse from 1982 to 
1994, latterly as a Senior Manager in  
Audit and Business Advisory Services.

7. baroness (Janet) cohen (68) 1
non-executive diRectoR
A Life Peer. Vice Chairman of Borsa Italiana 
S.p.A.. Non-Executive Chairman of Trillium 
Partners Ltd. Non-Executive Director of 
Management Consulting Group plc, and 
Proudfoot Trustees Limited. Previously 
Chairman of BPP Holdings plc and Advisory 
Director of HSBC Investment Bank,  
a Non-Executive Director of Charterhouse 
Management Services Ltd from 1988 to 
1999, Charterhouse Financial Services Ltd 
from 1989 to 1993 and Freshwater UK plc 
from 2007 to February 2009. Governor  
of the BBC from 1994 to 1999.
 
8. sergio ermotti (49) ²
non-executive diRectoR
Group Deputy CEO of UniCredit Group.  
From January 2006 to July 2007 Deputy 
General Manager and Head of Markets and 

Investment Banking at UniCredit Group.  
With Merrill Lynch & Co. from 1987 until 2004 
where in his last function he was Senior Vice 
President, Co-Head of Global Equity Markets 
and Member of the Operating Committee. 
From 2002 to 2003 he was a Director of Virt-X 
Limited and of Virt-X Exchange Limited.

9. oscar fanjul (60) ¹,²,³
non-executive diRectoR
Vice-Chairman of Omega Capital.  
Non-Executive Director of Acerinox,  
Marsh & McLennan Companies, Lafarge 
(Deputy Chairman) and Areva (Conseil  
de Surveillance). He is also a Trustee of  
the International Accounting Standards 
Committee (IASC) Foundation. Formerly 
Chairman and CEO of Repsol.

10. Andrea munari (46) 1
non-executive diRectoR
Managing Director of Banca IMI (Intesa 
Sanpaolo group). Previously, a Managing 
Director of Morgan Stanley Fixed Income 
Division and, since 2006, CEO and 
Managing Director of Banca Caboto (now 
Banca IMI). In addition, a Director of MTS 
S.p.A. from 2003 to 2005 and of TLX S.p.A. 
from January 2007 to September 2007.

11. paolo scaroni (62) ²,³
non-executive diRectoR
CEO of ENI S.p.A., Non-Executive Director 
of Assicurazioni Generali S.p.A., Veolia 
Environnement SA and Fondazione Teatro 
alla Scala. He is also a member of the 
Board of Overseers of Columbia University 
Business School New York. He was CEO  
of Pilkington plc from 1997 to 2002, 
Director of BAE Systems plc from 2000  
to 2004 and of Invensys plc from 2001 to 
2002. He was also CEO of Enel S.p.A. from 
2002 to 2005 and a Director from 2002  
to 2005 and Chairman from 2005 to 2006 
of Alliance Unichem plc.

12. nigel stapleton (62) ¹
non-executive diRectoR
Chairman Postal Services Commission. 
Non-Executive Director of Samruk Energy 
and KazPost, Chairman of the Mineworker’s 
Pension Scheme. Previously Chairman of 
Reed International plc from 1997 to 1999, 
Co-Chairman of Reed Elsevier plc from 
1996 to 1998, Chief Financial Officer of 
Reed Elsevier plc from 1993 to 1996 and 
Chairman of Uniq plc from 2001 to 2006.

13. Robert webb qc (60) 2,3

non-executive diRectoR
Non-Executive Chairman of Autonomy 
Corporation plc. Board member of the 
BBC, Hakluyt Ltd and Argent Group plc. 
Bencher, Inner Temple. General Counsel  
of British Airways from September 1998 to 
April 2009, responsible for law, government 
and industry affairs, safety, security and risk 
management. Formerly Head of Chambers 
at 5 Bell Yard London.

¹ Member of the Audit Committee  
² Member of the Remuneration Committee  
³ Member of the Nomination Committee
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 london stock exchAnGe GRoup plc  
is committed to hiGh stAndARds of coRpoRAte GoveRnAnce  
And business inteGRity in All its Activities. the compAny  
hAs complied with All pRovisions of the combined code 
thRouGhout the yeAR ended 31 mARch 2009

boARd of diRectoRs
The Board is the principal decision making 
forum for the Company and is responsible 
to shareholders for achieving the Group’s 
strategic objectives and for delivering 
sustainable shareholder value. The Board 
has adopted a formal schedule of matters 
specifically reserved to it including:

 Corporate strategy;•	
 The annual budget;•	
 Increases or variations to borrowing •	
facilities;
 Committing to major capital expenditure •	
or acquisitions; and
 Dividend policy.•	

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive 
are distinct and separate with a clear 
division of responsibilities. The Chairman is 
responsible for the running and leadership 
of the Board and ensuring its effectiveness. 
The Chairman’s other current significant 
commitments are set out in his biography 
on page 35. The Group Chief Executive has 
delegated authority from, and is responsible 
to, the Board for managing the business 
with the power for further delegation in 
respect of matters which are necessary  
for the effective running and management 
of the business. 

The Board also views the brands and 
reputations as regulated entities of its direct 
and indirect subsidiaries as important assets 
of the Group. Protection of brand and 
reputation are key parts of the Board’s role. 

At each scheduled Board meeting the Chief 
Executives of London Stock Exchange plc 
and Borsa Italiana S.p.A. provided a review 
of the business and the Chief Financial 
Officer provided a detailed review of the 
Group’s financial performance and position. 
The executive management team present to 
the Board on their business responsibilities 
on a regular basis and also present at the 
Board’s periodic strategy sessions.

The Combined Code on Corporate 
Governance sets out guidance in the  
form of principles and provisions on  
how companies should be directed and 
controlled to follow good governance 
practice. The Financial Services Authority 
requires companies listed in the UK to 
disclose, in relation to Section 1 of the 
Combined Code, how they have applied its 
principles and whether they have complied 
with its provisions throughout the year. 
Where the provisions have not been 
complied with companies must provide  
an explanation for this. Further information 
on the Combined Code can be found on  
the Financial Reporting Council’s website, 
at www.frc.org.uk.

Appointments to the boARd
On 13 February 2009 the Company 
announced that Xavier Rolet would be 
appointed to the Board with effect from  
16 March 2009 and take over from Clara 
Furse as Chief Executive on 20 May 2009. 
Clara Furse will step down from the Board 
on 15 July 2009. Mr Rolet was appointed 
following a selection process overseen by 
the Nominations Committee on behalf of 
the Board. Further details of the process 
are set out on page 38. Doug Webb was 
appointed to the Board as Chief Financial 
Officer on 2 June 2008. (The process for 
his appointment was described in the  
2008 Annual Report).
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The Board has six scheduled meetings in 
addition to two offsite strategy sessions 
and ad hoc meetings when needed. In 2009 
the Board held 10 meetings. The Chairman 
meets non-executive directors without the 
presence of executive directors on a 
number of occasions throughout  
the year. 

When directors have not been able to 
attend meetings due to conflicts in their 
schedule, they receive and read papers to 
be considered at the relevant meeting. They 
have the opportunity to provide comments 
on the matters to be discussed to the 
Chairman of the meeting in advance. 

Directors have the benefit of indemnity 
arrangements from the Company in respect 
of liabilities incurred as a result of their office 
and execution of their powers, duties and 
responsibilities. In respect of those liabilities 
for which directors may not be indemnified, 
the Company purchased and obtained a 
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance 
policy throughout 2009. This insurance 
cover was renewed at the beginning of  
the current financial year. Neither the 
Company’s indemnity nor insurance 
provides cover in the event that the director 
is proved to have acted fraudulently  
or dishonestly.

boARd bAlAnce And 
independence
There is a strong non-executive element  
on the Board and Non-Executive Directors 
provide strong company experience and 
knowledge which they apply to their 
understanding of the Group and its 
strategy. When Clara Furse steps down 
from the Board on 15 July, the Board will 
comprise 12 directors, the Chairman (who 
was independent on appointment), three 
executive directors and eight independent 
Non-Executive Directors. Directors serving 
on the Board’s committees, together with 
biographical details, are identified on the 
Board of Directors pages 34 and 35. The 

Board considers that directors demonstrate 
a strong range of business experience and 
the Board has the right mix of skills and 
experience given the size and geography  
of the Group. 

The Board has concluded that all Non-
Executive Directors were independent in 
character, that there were no relationships 
or circumstances which are likely to affect 
their independent judgement and no undue 
reliance was placed on any individual.

Sergio Ermotti and Andrea Munari are 
employed by Unicredit and Banca IMI 
respectively, both of which are shareholders 
of the Company and customers of one of 
the Company’s subsidiaries, Borsa Italiana, 
and their employer companies supply 
banking services and financial lines to the 
Group. The Combined Code suggests that 
such a business relationship may affect 
independence. However the Board continue 
to believe that both are independent given 
the significance of the customer 
relationships to the Group as a whole, the 
fact that neither Mr Munari nor Mr Ermotti  
is directly involved in decisions relating to 
the investment in the Company or banking 
arrangements and both demonstrate 
behaviours indicating independence.

boARd tRAininG
On joining the Board, Directors are offered 
a tailored induction programme covering  
the business of the Group, and they receive 
briefings and presentations from relevant 
executives. Periodically the Board meets at 
the Group’s Milan office and briefings are 
also given at Board meetings on particular 
parts of the business.

peRfoRmAnce evAluAtion
The annual performance evaluation of the 
Board and its Committees was undertaken 
in 2009 and was conducted by the Group 
Company Secretary using a detailed 
questionnaire. The results of the review  
are used to highlight areas of strength and 
weakness, assist in consideration of the 
future development of the Board and its 
Committees and further improve their 
performance. The review also included  
an assessment of the Chairman’s 
performance.

The results were discussed by the Board 
and actions agreed where appropriate.  
The evaluation concluded that the Board 
and its Committees were working 
effectively. Actions identified included 
facilitating more contact between non-
executives and management both inside 
and outside the boardroom to gain a better 
understanding of the business and 
succession planning to be considered by 
the whole Board on a more regular basis. 

boARd And committee meetinGs 2009

Total number of  
Meetings in the year ended 31 March 2009

Board Audit Remuneration Nomination

10 4 5 33

Dr Chris Gibson–Smith 10 5 3

Mr Angelo Tantazzi 9 3 3

Dame Clara Furse 10

Mr Xavier Rolet 2 1

Mr Massimo Capuano 7

Mr Doug Webb 1 9

Baroness Janet Cohen 9 3

Mr Sergio Ermotti 8 5

Mr Oscar Fanjul 9 4 5 3

Mr Andrea Munari 10 3

Mr Paolo Scaroni 8 5 2

Mr Nigel Stapleton 9 2

Mr Robert Webb 6 5 3

1 Joined the Board with effect from 2 June 2008 
2 Joined the Board with effect from 16 March 2009 
3  In addition Nomination Committee members attended a number of interviews with candidates for the 

CEO position
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www.londonstockexchangegroup.com  
or are available on request from the Group 
Company Secretary. 

meetinGs
All members of the Committee are 
independent non-executive directors.  
The Committee met four times during the 
year and maintains a formal agenda which 
ensures that all matters for which the 
Committee is responsible are addressed  
at the appropriate time of the year. The 
Committee normally invites the Chairman  
of the Board, Chief Financial Officer, Head 
of Group Internal Audit and the Group’s 
external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers 
LLP, to attend its meetings. However, the 
Committee recognises the need to meet 
without executive management and meets 
privately after each committee meeting with 
each of the external auditors and the Head 
of Group Internal Audit, both of whom also 
have direct access to the Chair of the  
Audit Committee. 

Activities
During the year the Committee discharged 
its responsibilities as set out in its terms of 
reference by reviewing the following:

 The integrity of the Group’s financial •	
statements, including significant 
corporate governance and financial 
reporting matters with particular focus 
during the year under review on 
impairment judgements, the Board’s 
going concern statement, adequacy  
of financing, and the controls around 
counterparty risks with banks;
The external auditors’ report their •	
findings from the half year review and 
year end audit;
The effectiveness of the Group’s internal •	
control environment;
 The remit and performance of the •	
Group’s internal audit department; 
Key findings from internal audit reviews •	
and actions taken in response by 
management;
 The internal audit department annual •	
plan; and
 The Group’s arrangements for whistle •	
blowing.

The Committee recognises that one of  
its key responsibilities is reviewing the 
effectiveness of the Group’s risk 
management procedures. Twice a year the 
Committee reviews reports from the internal 
audit department on the output from this 
process and any significant findings arising.

The Committee has an oversight role in 
relation to the relationship with the Group’s 
external auditors. Annually the Committee 
assesses the independence and objectivity 
of its external auditors and their qualification, 

expertise and resources. The Committee 
also reviews and approves the terms of 
engagement and remuneration of the 
external auditors. Details of the amounts 
paid to the external auditors are given in 
note 39 to the Group financial statements. 

The Committee recognises that certain 
work of a non-audit nature is best 
undertaken by the external auditors and has 
established a policy governing the provision 
of such services. The policy defines:

 Those services the external auditors  •	
are permitted to provide;
 Those services which the external •	
auditors are prohibited from providing; 
and
 Those services which require the prior •	
authorisation of the Committee. 

The Committee annually reviews all 
non-audit services provided by the external 
auditor to ensure compliance with the 
policy. The Committee remains satisfied 
with the objectivity and independence of  
the Group’s external auditors. 

The Committee has written terms of 
reference which are available from the 
Group Company Secretary or at the 
corporate governance section of the 
website at 
www.londonstockexchangegroup.com.

nomination committee
The Nomination Committee members as at 
31 March 2009 were: Chris Gibson-Smith 
(Chairman), Oscar Fanjul, Robert Webb, 
Angelo Tantazzi and Paolo Scaroni. The 
Committee’s role is to review the size and 
structure of the Board, succession planning 
and to make recommendations to the Board 
on potential candidates for the Board. The 
Committee normally invites the Chief 
Executive to attend. 

The Committee met three times during  
the year. The Committee led the process 
for the appointment of the new CEO.  
The Committee worked with external 
recruitment consultants and developed  
an objective set of criteria against which 
candidates were measured. The Chairman 
met candidates before recommending a 
shortlist to the Committee. Shortlisted 
candidates were interviewed by members 
of the Committee before a final 
recommendation was made to the Board. 
All Board members met Xavier Rolet before 
his appointment was confirmed by the 
Board. The Committee has written terms  
of reference which are available from the 
Group Company Secretary or at the 
corporate website at 
www.londonstockexchangegroup.com.

conflicts of inteRest
Following changes made by the Companies 
Act 2006, the Articles of Association were 
amended at the 2008 Annual General 
Meeting to allow the Board to authorise 
potential conflicts of interest that may arise 
and to impose such limits or conditions as  
it thinks fit. The Company established a 
procedure whereby actual and potential 
conflicts of interest are regularly reviewed 
and for the appropriate authorisation to be 
sought prior to the appointment of any new 
director or if a new conflict arises. The 
decision to authorise a conflict of interest 
can only be made by non-conflicted 
directors and in making such decision the 
directors must act in a way they consider,  
in good faith, will be most likely to promote 
the Company’s success. The Board 
believes that during 2009 this procedure 
operated effectively.

boARd committees
Remuneration committee
The Committee members as at 31 March 
2009 were: Robert Webb (Chairman),  
Chris Gibson-Smith, Oscar Fanjul, Paolo 
Scaroni and Sergio Ermotti. All members  
of the Committee are considered to be 
independent. The Committee normally 
invites the Chief Executive and Head of 
Human Resources to attend the meeting. 
The Committee meets at least twice a year 
to review and present recommendations  
to the Board regarding remuneration and 
conditions of service of the Chairman,  
Chief Executive and executive directors, 
including the grant of entitlements under  
the Company’s share schemes. A separate 
Remuneration Report is set out on pages 
40 to 48. The Committee has written terms 
of reference which are available from the 
Group Company Secretary or at the 
corporate governance section of the 
website at 
www.londonstockexchangegroup.com.

Audit committee
The Committee members as at 31 March 
2009 were: Oscar Fanjul (Chairman), Janet 
Cohen, Nigel Stapleton, Angelo Tantazzi  
and Andrea Munari. All members of the 
Committee are considered to be 
independent. In accordance with ICAEW 
Guidance for Audit Committees as set out  
in the Smith Guidance, the Board is satisfied 
at least one member of the Committee has 
recent and relevant financial experience.

Role of the Audit committee
The Committee has formal terms of 
reference, which are approved by the  
Board and satisfy the requirements of the 
Combined Code and the Smith Guidance. 
The terms of reference are reviewed on  
an ongoing basis by the Board and can  
be found on the Company’s website at 
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receives reports from the Group’s external 
auditors on certain internal controls and 
relevant financial reporting matters. 

Risk Management – responsibility for  
risk management rests fully with line 
management. Each business area is 
required to maintain a risk register outlining 
the key risks it faces and the controls in 
place to mitigate these risks. The risk 
registers are periodically updated, with the 
most senior executive in each business area 
required to confirm the effectiveness of the 
controls in place. These are consolidated by 
the internal audit department into a Group 
risk profile which is discussed and agreed 
by the CEO Committee (the executive 
committee which reports to the CEO),  
and then presented to the Audit Committee 
for approval.

Policies and procedures – policies and 
procedures have been developed for  
key business areas (including the  
Group’s finance function). These are 
reviewed and kept up-to-date to meet 
changing business needs.

RelAtions with shAReholdeRs
Communication with shareholders, and with 
financial analysts who produce research  
on the Company, is managed through an 
extensive programme of meetings, calls, 
presentations and news releases throughout 
the year. This Investor Relations programme 
is designed to ensure investors have 
appropriate access to management and 
information to understand the performance 
and prospects of the Company. The Investor 
Relations team has day to day contact with 
the market. The Chief Executive Officer, 
Deputy CEO and Chief Financial Officer  
all engage in regular dialogue with 
shareholders, and the Chairman and Senior 
Independent Director are also available to 
meet major investors from time to time. 
Senior management and the Investor 
Relations team held meetings and calls  
with over 240 shareholders and potential 
investors in the UK, Europe, the Middle East 
and the US during the past year.

The Investor Relations section of the 
website at 
www.londonstockexchangegroup.com is 
the primary source of regularly updated 
information on the Company. Annual and 
interim reports, interim management 
statements, news releases, presentations 
to investor conferences and other key 
documents are archived on the website 
together with a summary of analysts’ 
estimates. Presentations of preliminary  
and interim results are accessible by all 
shareholders by webcasts in real time and 
also via replay for a period after the event. 
Users are able to register with an alerting 

facility to receive notification of updates and 
new releases. A shareholder helpline and 
email address are provided to help contact 
between investors and the Company.

During the year the Board receives  
a report on Investor Relations matters  
at each of its scheduled meetings, 
including market expectations of financial 
performance, share register composition 
and feedback from major investors.  
The Company also receives advice on 
shareholder relations and share register 
analysis from external advisers.

The Annual General Meeting (AGM) 
provides the opportunity for shareholders 
to meet directors and they are encouraged 
to put questions to the Board. The 
Chairmen of the Audit, Remuneration and 
Nomination Committees are available to 
answer questions. The procedures for the 
AGM are compliant with the Combined 
Code and the event is normally attended  
by all directors. Voting at the AGM is by 
way of a poll to ensure all shareholders’ 
views are taken into account.

heAlth, sAfety And 
enviRonment
The Company’s approach to health, safety 
and the environment is set out in our 
Corporate Responsibility statement  
on pages 30 and 31.

inteRnAl contRol
The Board has overall responsibility for  
the system of internal controls. The Board 
has delegated responsibility to the Audit 
Committee for reviewing the Group’s 
system of internal control and for  
regularly monitoring its effectiveness.  
This established system of internal control 
includes financial, operational and 
compliance controls and risk management. 
The system of controls is designed to 
manage rather than eliminate the risk of 
failure to achieve the Group’s objectives, 
and can only provide reasonable, and not 
absolute, assurance against material 
mis-statement or loss. The Board confirms 
that, through the Audit Committee, it has 
reviewed the effectiveness of the system  
of internal control and no significant failings 
or weaknesses were identified during this 
review. However, had there been any 
failings or weaknesses the Board confirms 
that any necessary actions would have  
been taken to remedy them. The Board  
is satisfied that the system of internal 
control is in accordance with the Turnbull 
guidance (2005). 

The principal features of the Company’s 
internal control framework are described 
under the following headings: 

Delegation of authority – the Board has 
implemented a management structure  
with defined lines of responsibility and 
appropriate delegation of authority.  
The day-to-day business management  
is delegated to Executive directors, with  
a clear definition of those matters reserved 
for Board approval only. Key financial risks 
are controlled by clear authorisation levels 
and appropriate segregation of duties. 
Formal authorisation policies and 
procedures are clearly defined for all  
capital expenditure including appraisal 
techniques and success criteria. 

Planning and reporting – the Chief 
Executives of London Stock Exchange  
and Borsa Italiana report to the Board on 
key business matters at each meeting.  
The Chief Financial Officer reports on 
financial, HR and investor relations matters. 
The Deputy CEO reports on integration. 
The Board reviews performance through  
a comprehensive financial review process 
which includes an annual budget approved 
by the Board, monthly reporting of financial 
and key performance indicators, analysis  
of variances and corrective action  
where required. 

Audit Committee – the Board receives 
regular reports from the Audit Committee 
on the effectiveness of the internal control 
environment and the risk management 
procedures. The Audit Committee also 
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The members of this Committee do not 
have any personal financial interests, or any 
conflicts from cross-directorships, that 
relate to the business of the Committee. 
The members do not have any day to day 
involvement in the running of the Company. 
 
During the year, following a review of its 
advisers, Deloitte LLP was appointed by the 
Committee to provide independent advice 
on executive remuneration issues. Deloitte 
LLP also advised the Company in relation  
to tax, assurance, technology consulting 
and transaction support services. During 
the year, the Committee’s previous 
advisers, Mercer Limited, also provided 
services to the Committee but did not 
provide any other services to the Company. 

To assist the Committee the results of 
market surveys are also made available 
and, where appropriate, the Committee  
also invites the views of the Chief 
Executive, Chief Financial Officer, and Head 
of Human Resources. These individuals and 
the Chairman did not participate in any 
discussion relating to their own 
remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee also 
continues to be mindful of recommendations 
from key stakeholders, including institutional 
investor bodies and the Committee 
consulted with major shareholders on the 
key decisions taken. The Committee also 
continues to keep all these matters  
under review.

RemuneRAtion policy
The Company is committed to the primary 
objective of maximising shareholder value 
over time. Each year the remuneration 
framework and the packages of the 
Executive Directors and the most senior 
executives are reviewed by the 
Remuneration Committee to ensure that 
they continue to achieve this objective.
The Company must attract and retain a high 

The Remuneration Report sets out the 
remuneration policies operated by the 
Group in respect of the Directors, along 
with disclosures on Directors’ remuneration 
including those required by the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report Regulations 2002.

Shareholders will be provided with an 
opportunity to vote on the Remuneration 
Report as set out in this Annual Report at 
the Annual General Meeting. Further details 
will be contained in the Notice of Annual 
General Meeting. 

Details of Directors’ remuneration and 
benefits are set out in the tables within this 
report. The tables on pages 46 to 48 have 
been subject to audit. 

RemuneRAtion committee
The Remuneration Committee is appointed 
by the Board and comprises only independent 
Non-Executive Directors. The Committee 
meets regularly to consider, on behalf of the 
Board, executive remuneration including 
terms and conditions of employment, 
incentive schemes and retirement benefits. 
During the year ended 31 March 2009,  
the Committee met on five occasions.  
The Committee’s remit includes the 
remuneration of the Chairman, who was 
independent on appointment, and Executive 
Directors and other critical roles including 
the awards made under the performance 
related incentive schemes. The five current 
members of the Committee are:

Robert Webb (Chairman)
Chris Gibson-Smith
Oscar Fanjul
Paolo Scaroni
Sergio Ermotti

The Committee’s terms of reference, which 
are reviewed regularly and approved by the 
Board, are available on the Company’s 
website and are summarised in the Corporate 
Governance Report (pages 36 to 39).
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Committee wishes to position total target 
remuneration at or around the median of 
the FTSE 31 – 100. The Committee 
considers it appropriate to reward superior 
performance with upper quartile 
compensation levels. 

Regard is given to pay and conditions 
elsewhere in the Company when 
determining the remuneration policy for  
the Executive Directors. Broadly the same 
remuneration policy and incentive structure 
is applied to senior executives immediately 
below the Board. 

The policy for the individual components of 
Executive Directors’ remuneration is set out 
in more detail in the following sections.

bAse sAlARy
Reflecting the Committee’s desire to place 
greater emphasis on variable pay than in 
most FTSE 31 – 100 companies, base 
salaries are to be set at or around 80 per 
cent of the median of the pay comparator 
group. Salaries are typically reviewed with 
effect from 1 April each year. Adjustments 
may be made to reflect changes in 
responsibilities and to ensure that total 
remuneration levels are consistent with the 
Company’s remuneration policy. For 2009 
Executive Directors’ base salaries were not 
increased and will remain as follows:

  2009

Xavier Rolet1  £650,000

Clara Furse2 £540,000

Massimo Capuano3  €750,000 
(£625,000)

Doug Webb £330,000

1  Xavier Rolet succeeds Clara Furse as  
Chief Executive on 20 May 2009.

2  Clara Furse will cease to be a Director on  
15 July 2009.

3  Following the merger with Borsa Italiana the 
Committee maintained Massimo Capuano’s 
pre-merger base salary. Base salary is payable in 
euro (exchange rate used for the purposes of the 
table above is the average rate for the year: €1.2 to 
£1). In addition to the base salary above he receives 
additional directors’ fees of €126,000 (£105,000) as 
Managing Director of Borsa Italiana which are not 
included for the purposes of calculating annual 
bonus and other incentives.

AnnuAl bonus
Executive Directors are eligible to receive 
an annual cash bonus based on meeting or 
exceeding bonus targets that are set at the 
beginning of the year.

The Remuneration Committee continues  
to believe that it is appropriate to use a 
balance between annual financial targets 
corporate objectives and individual 
performance objectives. For the year ending 
31 March 2009, the Committee determined 
that the sole annual financial target should 
be adjusted operating profit. The Committee 
considers adjusted operating profit to be  
of particular significance for the combined 
Group and believes it should continue to  
be the main focus for annual bonus  
plan purposes.

For the year ended 31 March 2009, the 
maximum bonus opportunities were 225  
per cent of salary for the Chief Executive 
and 200 per cent of salary for other 
Executive Directors. For the forthcoming 
year, it is intended that the same maximum 
opportunities will apply.

For the year ended 31 March 2009 the 
Remuneration Committee considered that  
in an environment of uncertain and difficult 
market conditions a mix of 50 per cent 
operating profit and 50 per cent 
performance objectives was most 
appropriate for determining bonus.  
The performance conditions included  
other financial measures such as cost 
synergy targets, quantitative measures 
such as performance relative to other 
exchanges and qualitative objectives 
including successful completion of 
significant projects. 

Despite the difficult market conditions the 
Group has delivered a good financial 
performance, with adjusted operating profit 
increasing by 17 per cent, and integration 
cost synergies significantly ahead of target. 
Based on the strength of this financial 
performance and an assessment of 
individual performance, the Remuneration 
Committee awarded an annual bonus of 
£648,000 to Clara Furse, €675,000 
(£562,000) to Massimo Capuano and 
£330,000 to Doug Webb.

shARe bonus plAns
Under terms agreed at the time of the 
merger, Massimo Capuano, along with  
a small number of other Borsa Italiana 
executives, participated in a share bonus 
plan for the year ended 31 March 2009. 

calibre senior management team and 
ensure it is in a position to deliver its 
business plans and maximise returns for 
shareholders. The Company is committed 
to paying for performance, rewarding the 
senior management team only when its 
goals are achieved. 

The Remuneration Committee has taken 
the following areas into account in 
establishing its remuneration policy:

A commitment to maximising shareholder •	
value;
The frequent recruitment of senior •	
management roles from the City which 
requires remuneration packages with  
a high variable pay component;
The higher profile of the Company •	
compared with many other quoted 
companies with similar market 
capitalisations;
The Company seeks to comply with best •	
practice as expressed by institutional 
shareholders and their representative 
bodies; and
The expansion of the Company beyond •	
the UK.

Together these factors have helped to  
form the Company’s remuneration policy. 

The chart below shows the average 
proportions of total target remuneration 
represented by the different elements  
of compensation (salary, target bonus, 
expected value of long term incentives, 
pension and benefits) for the year to  
31 March 2009.

The Committee recognises that this is a 
more geared remuneration structure than a 
typical FTSE company, in that it provides for 
a higher annual bonus potential, although 
this is significantly less than a City financial 
institution and is balanced by a below 
median base salary.

During the year the Committee reviewed 
the comparator group against which 
remuneration is benchmarked and it was 
considered appropriate to continue to use 
the benchmark group of companies ranked 
31 – 100 in the FTSE. Overall the 

25 SALARY

30 TARGET BONUS

12 LTIP – MATCHING SHARES

25 LTIP – PERFORMANCE SHARES

8 PENSION AND BENEFITS

TOTAL TARGET REMUNERATION (%)

YEAR END 31 MARCH 2009
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Under these arrangements he was eligible 
to receive an award of ordinary shares with 
a value equal to 100 per cent of his annual 
bonus, subject to a maximum award of 150 
per cent of base salary. No further awards 
will be made under these arrangements.

lonG teRm incentive plAn
The Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) was 
approved by shareholders in July 2004  
and amended by ordinary resolution at the 
Annual General Meeting in July 2008.  
The LTIP has two elements, a conditional 
award of Performance Shares and an award 
of Matching Shares linked to investment by 
the executive of all or some of their annual 
bonus in the Company’s shares. The 
Matching Shares element of the LTIP only 
applies to the Executive Directors and 
selected other senior management. This 
senior management group is also eligible  
for the Performance Shares element of the 
LTIP along with a wider group of executives. 

The LTIP arrangements for awards granted 
in the year ended 31 March 2009 are 
illustrated below:

For the year to 31 March 2009, awards  
of Performance Shares were made to 
Executive Directors equivalent to 200 per 
cent of salary for Clara Furse, 150 per cent 
for Massimo Capuano and 150 per cent  
for Doug Webb. An award of Performance 
Shares was also made to Doug Webb 
equivalent to 100 per cent of salary as  
an initial award on joining the Company. 

Bonus deferred
Executives may invest all or part of their pre- 
tax bonus, up to 50 per cent of base salary

Performance 
shares
With a face value 
of up to 200 per 
cent of base 
salary may be 
granted (300%  
on recruitment)

Matching shares
The deferred bonus 
is matched with  
a performance-
related Matching 
Share award. 
Maximum match  
of 2:1

Vesting conditional 50% on TSR 
performance and 50% on EPS performance 
over a single three-year period

vesting of performance shares  
and matching shares
The policy for share awards granted in  
the year to 31 March 2009 is that the 
proportion of Performance Shares and 
Matching Shares which vest is determined 
50 per cent by the Company’s Total 
Shareholder Return (TSR) performance  
and 50 per cent by the Company’s adjusted 
Earnings Per Share (EPS) performance over 
a single three year period (‘the performance 
period’) beginning on the first day of the 
financial year in which the award is made. 
The Committee considers the use of both 
of these measures will best align the 
interests of the Executive Directors with 
those of shareholders, including Xavier 
Rolet’s joining award.

For awards made in year to 31 March 2009, 
the following vesting schedules apply:

TSR performance against Proportion 
FTSE 31-100 (excluding of TSR 
investment trusts) element vesting

Less than median 0%

Median 30%

Straight-line pro-rating applies between 
these points

Upper quintile 100%

Average EPS growth Proportion 
in excess of RPI of EPS 
over 3 years element vesting

Less than 5% p.a. 0%

5% p.a. 30%

Straight line pro-rating applies between 
these points

9% p.a. or more 100%

The comparator groups and vesting 
schedules for awards made in previous 
years were based on TSR performance 
alone and are set out in the following table:

 Awards made in year to 31 March 2007

TSR comparator group FTSE 51-200 
  (excluding  
  investment trusts)

Threshold vesting 30% at median

Straight-line pro-rating applies between 
these points

Maximum vesting 100% at upper quartile

 Awards made in year to 31 March 2008

TSR comparator group FTSE 31-150 
  (excluding  
  investment trusts)

Threshold vesting 30% at median

Straight line pro-rating applies between 
these points

Maximum vesting 100% at upper quintile

An initial award of Performance Shares  
was made to Xavier Rolet on joining the 
Company in March 2009 equivalent to  
200 per cent of salary to create an 
immediate alignment with shareholders. 
This was granted under a special 
arrangement under terms substantially 
similar to those of the LTIP, with the 
performance period beginning on 1 April 
2009. The award will vest on the date of  
the preliminary results announcement for 
the year ended 31 March 2012.

For the upcoming financial year, awards  
will remain subject half to TSR performance 
and half to adjusted EPS performance.  
The TSR vesting schedule will remain the 
same as for year ended 31 March 2009. 
However, for EPS, instead of growth 
targets against RPI, absolute EPS targets 
will be set. 

Aggregate adjusted EPS  
performance over the  Proportion of EPS 
three-year period element vesting

Below 181p 0%

181p 30%

Straight line pro-rating applies between 
these points

234p or above 100%

Aggregate adjusted EPS of 181 pence  •	
is equivalent to 10 per cent growth over 
analysts’ consensus (as at 12 May 2009) 
for year to 31 March 2010 being achieved 
in each of the subsequent two years; and 
Aggregate adjusted EPS of 234 pence •	
requires year to 31 March 2010 
performance to equal that of year ending 
31 March 2009 with 5 per cent growth 
per annum thereafter. 

In this way, the measure becomes one  
of continuous performance throughout the 
three year period rather than the focus on 
final year performance that point-to-point 
growth provides.

Awards made in february/march 
2006
For Performance and Matching Shares 
awarded in February and March 2006,  
TSR performance in the three year period 
to 31 March 2008 was ranked sixth against 
the FTSE 51 – 200 comparator groups  
and accordingly awards vested in full in 
February and March 2009. The TSR 
performance was independently verified  
on behalf of the Committee by New Bridge 
Street Consultants LLP.
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Awards made in may 2006
TSR performance in the three year period 
to 31 March 2009 was below median 
against the FTSE 51 – 200 comparator 
group and accordingly awards made in  
May 2006 did not vest in May 2009 and 
have lapsed. The TSR performance was 
independently verified on behalf of the 
Committee by Deloitte LLP. 

borsa italiana cash based ltip
Massimo Capuano participated in the 
Borsa Italiana cash based long term 
incentive plan until 31 December 2007.  
The rules of the long term incentive allowed 
for early vesting and the Remuneration 
Committee allowed accrued awards in 
respect of 2007 of €1,296,959 (£1,032,379) 
to vest early in May 2008, provided that 
Massimo Capuano invested the net 
proceeds in Ordinary Shares.

The Company’s current policy is, where 
possible, to satisfy awards using shares 
purchased in the market.

benefits
Staff employed by London Stock Exchange 
plc participate in a flexible benefits plan 
under which they receive an allowance 
which they can use to purchase additional 
benefits or receive as a cash supplement. 
This allowance is not used to calculate 
bonus payments or pension contributions. 
Staff employed by Borsa Italiana continue 
to receive benefits in kind.

Clara Furse, Doug Webb and Xavier Rolet 
receive a flexible benefit allowance of 
£20,000 per annum. These values have  
not been increased since last year. These 
Executive Directors also receive benefits in 
kind which principally include private health 
care and life assurance arrangements.

Massimo Capuano receives benefits in 
kind, which include permanent invalidity 
insurance, life insurance, company car and 
private medical expenses insurance. This is 
in line with the benefits he received before 
Borsa Italiana’s merger with the Company. 
In addition Massimo Capuano is provided 
with accommodation in London to enable 
him to split his working time equally 
between the UK and Italy.

pensions
The Company’s final salary pension  
scheme was closed to new entrants in 
1999. The current Executive Directors  
do not participate in this final salary  
pension scheme. 

Pension provision takes the form of a 
non-consolidated allowance, which is 
invested in the defined contribution pension 
scheme up to HM Revenue & Customs 
limits. In the year ended 31 March 2009,  
all the Executive Directors received an 
allowance equivalent to 25 per cent of base 
salary. Where lifetime allowance thresholds 
are exceeded this is paid as a cash 
supplement. Only base salary is used to 
calculate pension entitlement and no other 
pension supplements apply. 

Massimo Capuano receives a pension 
allowance equal to 25 per cent of his 
combined base salary and fees. In addition 
Massimo Capuano will continue to 
participate in pension arrangements under 
the relevant collective labour arrangements 
in Borsa Italiana.

shARe owneRship Guidelines
To be considered for future awards under 
the LTIP, Executive Directors and other 
senior executives are expected to build up 
over three years from their first award, and 
then continue to hold, shares with a value at 
the time of acquisition at least equal to their 
base annual salary.

Full details of the interest in shares of the 
Executive Directors are shown on pages  
47 to 48.

other share plans
All UK employees, including Executive 
Directors, are eligible to participate in the 
HM Revenue & Customs approved SAYE 
Scheme (SAYE). Under the scheme rules, 
participants can save up to £250 each 
month for a period of three or five years.  
At the end of the saving period, savings 
plus interest may be used to acquire shares 
by exercising the related option.

The options may be granted at an exercise 
price which represents a discount of up to 20 
per cent to market value. No performance 
conditions are attached to SAYE options.

There is also an international sharesave 
plan, mirroring the structure of the SAYE 
plan, in which Borsa Italiana employees  
are eligible to participate.

To promote retention and share ownership,  
a performance-related Restricted Share Plan 
was introduced in 2008. This plan offers a 
limited number of individuals deferred shares 
if the Group meets or exceeds its financial 
targets and awards made in year ended  
31 March 2008 and vested to participants in 
year ended 31 March 2009. Any recipient of 
an award under the LTIP, including Executive 
Directors and other senior executives, was 
not eligible to participate in the Restricted 
Share Plan. 

seRvice contRActs
The Company has adopted the following 
policy on Directors’ service contracts:

notice periods
The Executive Directors have one year 
rolling service contracts. The Remuneration 
Committee considers that this is consistent 
with current best practice.

Clara Furse entered into a service 
agreement with London Stock Exchange 
plc on 24 January 2001 and Doug Webb 
entered into a service agreement on  
2 June 2008. Massimo Capuano entered 
into a service agreement with Borsa Italiana 
on 12 October 2006 which was amended 
on 1 October 2007 in connection with  
the merger.

Xavier Rolet entered into a service 
agreement on 16 March 2009 when he 
joined the Board and commenced 
employment with the Company. He takes 
over from Clara Furse as Chief Executive  
on 20 May 2009.

All service agreements may be terminated 
by the relevant employer on not less than 
12 months’ notice. Clara Furse and  
Doug Webb are each required to give  
12 months’ notice of termination while 
Massimo Capuano is required to give  
6 months’ notice.

termination arrangements
The Company’s current policy is that 
Directors’ service agreements should not 
contain a liquidated damages clause which 
would apply in the event of the service 
agreement being terminated and that 
appropriate mitigation should be applied  
to any payment made on termination.

However, for the Chief Executive, Clara 
Furse, consistent with best practice at  
the time of her recruitment, a liquidated 
damages clause is included in her service 
agreement which entitles the Chief 
Executive to be paid an amount that is 
agreed and defined within the service 
agreement to represent a pre estimate  
of her loss upon unlawful termination of  
her employment by the Company. The 
severance pay is calculated by reference  
to the value of the Chief Executive’s annual 
remuneration. This includes basic salary, 
benefits in kind and the amount of the  
last annual bonus awarded to the Chief 
Executive in the 12 month period prior  
to termination.

In addition, on a change of control of the 
Company, the Chief Executive has the right 
to terminate her contract on 30 days’ notice 
provided such notice is given within 30 days 
of the change of control. In the event of (i) 
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Doug Webb’s service agreement may be 
terminated by either party giving at least  
12 months’ notice. There are no provisions 
for pay in lieu of damages or liquidated 
damages. Instead the parties will rely  
on common law to assess what, if any, 
damages may be payable for any loss 
resulting from any termination in breach  
of contract. Xavier Rolet’s notice period is 
12 months on either side and there is no 
liquidated damages clause. Alternatively,  
the Company many terminate the contract 
without cause by payment in lieu of notice  
of a sum equal to 12 months’ salary and 
benefits paid in a lump sum or, at the 
Committee’s discretion, on a monthly basis. 
If the payment is paid in instalments, the 
instalments will be reduced by any earnings 
from new employment taken up within  
12 months after leaving employment.

Appointment of xavier Rolet
The following sets out the other main terms 
of Xavier Rolet’s appointment:

Xavier Rolet joined the Board of the •	
Group on 16 March 2009 and takes  
over from Clara Furse as Chief Executive 
on 20 May 2009;
Salary of £650,000;•	
Participation in the annual bonus plan. •	
120 per cent of salary at target level of 
performance and maximum opportunity 
of 225 per cent of salary;
An LTIP appointment award of •	
Performance Shares of 200 per cent of 
salary was made in March 2009, under 
the same performance conditions as for 
LTIP awards made to other executives  
in year ended 31 March 2009;
Participation in the LTIP •	 (Performance 
Shares and Matching Shares) at the 
normal grant dates. It is intended that  
LTIP awards in the forthcoming year will 
be made prior to the 2009 AGM. The 
Performance Shares award will be no  
less than 150 per cent of salary and the 
Matching Shares award will be up to a 
maximum value of 100 per cent of salary 
subject to the relevant co-investment 
being made by the participant;
Entitlement to a contribution of 25 per •	
cent of salary per annum to a personal 
pension scheme or schemes nominated 
by the executive; and
Flexible benefits allowance of £20,000 •	
per annum.

her resignation following a change in 
control; (ii) an unlawful termination of her 
employment; or (iii) the termination of 
employment in the event that she is unable 
to perform her duties due to illness or injury 
for a period of six months in any 12 month 
period and she is not eligible to receive 
permanent health insurance benefit, the 
Chief Executive is entitled to a severance 
payment equal to one year’s salary, benefits 
in kind and the amount of the last annual 
bonus awarded in the 12 month period prior 
to termination.

Clara Furse will step down from her role as 
Chief Executive on 20 May 2009 and cease 
to be a Director on 15 July 2009. She will 
not receive any cash compensation in 
respect of salary or bonus for resigning her 
position. She will be eligible for a bonus for 
the period from 1 April 2009 to 15 July 
2009 determined as a pro rata proportion  
of the bonus awarded to her for the year to 
31 March 2009, subject to performance in 
relation to the transitioning of the Chief 
Executive role. She will continue to be 
employed by the Group until 15 July 2010  
to provide ongoing support and advice to 
the Board at its request, for which she will 
be paid £2,500. She will be entitled to 
continued private medical insurance until  
31 July 2010. Under ‘good leaver’ 
provisions and with the agreement of the 
Remuneration Committee her currently 
vested share options will remain exercisable 
up until October 2010 in respect of 488,480 
shares and up until January 2011 in respect 
of 266,164 shares. These options will be 
satisfied from shares currently held in the 
Group’s employee benefit trust. Clara Furse 
forfeited 325,905 unvested LTIP awards.

Under Massimo Capuano’s service 
contract, he is entitled to receive an amount 
in lieu of notice equal to 12 months’ salary 
and an amount equal to the last annual 
bonus awarded to him in the 12 month 
period prior to termination. In the event  
of his resignation following a significant 
reduction in his powers and duties he is 
entitled to a severance payment equal to  
15 months’ salary and fifteen twelfths of  
the last annual bonus awarded to him in  
the 12 month period prior to termination.  
In accordance with the applicable collective 
labour agreement, he will also be entitled  
to resign following a change in control of 
Borsa Italiana and receive payment in lieu  
of notice of 12 months’ salary. Massimo 
Capuano will also be entitled to continue  
to receive certain benefits (including life 
insurance, permanent invalidity insurance 
and private medical expenses insurance)  
for three years following termination  
of employment. 

outside Appointments
Executive Directors are allowed to accept 
appointments as Non-Executive Directors 
of other companies with the prior approval 
of the Chairman. Approval will only be given 
where the appointment does not represent 
a conflict of interest with the Company’s 
activities and the wider exposure gained  
will be beneficial to the development of  
the individual.

Historically, where fees are payable in 
respect of an appointment these have been 
retained by the Company. The Committee 
reviewed this policy and resolved to allow 
Executive Directors to retain fees to 
encourage executives to seek out the 
development opportunities and valuable 
experience afforded by these appointments 
and in recognition of the personal 
responsibility executives assume in such 
roles. The Committee decided that it was 
appropriate for the Company to return 
previous fees relating to Non-Executive 
Directorships, which for Clara Furse 
amounted to £157,000. This amount 
includes £48,000 in relation to the year 
ending 31 March 2009.

non-executive diRectoRs’ 
RemuneRAtion
Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration  
is determined by the Board and is neither 
performance related nor pensionable.  
The fees for Non-Executive Directors are 
set at a level to recognise the significant 
responsibilities of directors and to attract 
individuals with the necessary experience 
and ability to make an important 
contribution to the Company’s affairs. 
Comparisons are made with fees paid  
at FTSE 31 – 100 companies.

During the year, the Chairman’s and 
Non-Executive Directors’ fees were 
reviewed against the FTSE 31 – 100.  
These fees remain in line with market levels 
so will be unchanged for the year 
commencing 1 April 2009: 

Chairman Fee £370,000

Non-Executive Director  
base fee £54,000

Audit Committee Chairman £17,500

Remuneration Committee  
Chairman £12,500
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totAl shAReholdeR RetuRn (tsR) 
peRfoRmAnce
The following line graph shows, for the 
financial year ended 31 March 2009 and  
for each of the previous five financial years, 
the TSR on a holding of the Company’s 
ordinary shares of the same kind and 
number as those by reference to which  
the FTSE 100 is calculated.

The TSR graph represents the value, at  
31 March 2009, of £100 invested in London 
Stock Exchange plc on 31 March 2004 
compared to the value of £100 invested in 
the FTSE 100 index over the same period. 
The FTSE 100 index is considered 
appropriate as for the majority of the year 
and as at the date of the approval of the 
annual report the market capitalisation of 
London Stock Exchange Group is ranked  
in the top 100 companies of the FTSE.

LONDON STOCK EXCHANGE GROUP PLC

FTSE 100 INDEX
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Following the merger, Angelo Tantazzi 
retained the following fees in relation to  
his directorships of Borsa Italiana S.p.A. 
and Monte Titoli S.p.A.:

Chairman of Borsa Italiana S.p.A. •	
€533,000 (£444,167); and
Chairman, Monte Titoli S.p.A.  •	
€173,000 (£144,167).

Angelo Tantazzi does not receive any 
additional fees as Deputy Chairman of  
the Company or as Chairmen of CC&G.

The original date of appointment as a 
Director is as follows:

Chris Gibson-Smith 01/05/2003

Baroness Janet Cohen 01/02/2001

Oscar Fanjul 01/02/2001

Nigel Stapleton 01/02/2001

Robert Webb  01/02/2001

Angelo Tantazzi 01/10/2007 

Sergio Ermotti  01/10/2007

Paolo Scaroni 01/10/2007

Andrea Munari  01/10/2007

Baroness Cohen, Oscar Fanjul, Nigel 
Stapleton and Robert Webb have letters  
of appointment reflecting their 
responsibilities and commitments dated  
1 February 2007 (with no notice period). 
Each of their appointments continues until 
31 January 2010, provided each Non-
Executive Director is re-elected. Angelo 
Tantazzi, Sergio Ermotti, Andrea Munari and 
Paolo Scaroni have letters of appointment 
(with no notice period) dated 1 October 
2007. Each of their appointments continues 
until 30 September 2010, provided each 
Non-Executive Director is re-elected. The 
Chairman has a letter of appointment dated 
24 May 2006. His appointment is for three 
years until the end of the Annual General 
Meeting in 2009 and can be terminated on 
six months notice. The Chairman’s contract 
will be renewed for a further three years 
following the 2009 Annual General Meeting.

To enable Angelo Tantazzi to perform his 
duties in Milan, the Company provides him 
with rented accommodation for which any 
tax arising is reimbursed. Other than this 
Non-Executive Directors receive no 
benefits or entitlements other than fees,  
do not participate in any of the Company’s 
incentive schemes and are not entitled to 
any termination payments. The Board as  
a whole determines the fees of the 
Non-Executive Directors. No contributions 
are made to the pension arrangements of 
Non-Executive Directors.
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tAble A – diRectoRs’ RemuneRAtion – AuditAble

    2009           2008              2009            2008

   Salary  Performance Benefits  Salary Performance Benefits  Pensions Pensions 
   (Note i) bonus (Note ii) Total (Note i) bonus (Note ii) Total (Note iii) (Note iii) 
   £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Chairman         
C Gibson-Smith 370 – – 370 370 – – 370 – –
            
Chief Executive          
CHF Furse 695 648 1 1,344 622 1,037 1 1,660 – –
Xavier Rolet 31 – 1 32 – – – – 8 – 

Executive directors            
M Capuano (note v) 907 562  80 1,549 399 357 82 838 – –
D Webb 292 330  1 623 – – – – 69 –
  2,295 1,540 83 3,918 1,391   1,394  83  2,868  77 – 

non-executive diRectoRs’ fees

     Benefits       
   Fees  (Note ii) Total    Total Pensions Pensions 
   £000  £000 £000    £000 £000 £000

         
A Tantazzi 583  49 632    277  
Baroness Cohen 76   76    64  
S Ermotti 54   54    27  
O Fanjul 72   72    63  
A Munari 54   54    27  
P Scaroni 54   54    27  
NJ Stapleton 54   54    65  
RS Webb QC  67     67       62   
Total Non-Executive  
Directors fees (Note iv) 1,014  49 1,063    612  
Former Directors’ Emoluments –   –    911  58
Total Directors’ Emoluments    4,981    4,391 77 58

Baroness Cohen is a Non-Executive Director of Borsa Italiana S.p.A. for which she receives an annual fee of €26,000 (£21,667).

Notes

i) Salary 
Salary includes base salary, on which bonus and benefits allowance are based, and pension and benefit allowances paid in cash. Base salary for CHF Furse was  
£540,000 (2008: £481,750). M Capuano’s salary was €750,000 (£625,000) (2008: €750,000). He also received a fee of €126,000 (£105,000) (2008: €126,000)  
in respect of directors’ fees. On joining the Company, on 16 March 2009 Xavier Rolet’s salary was £650,000. Doug Webb joined the company on 22 May 2008  
and his salary was £330,000.

ii) Benefits 
For CHF Furse, X Rolet and D Webb, benefits represent the cash value of health and life insurance cover. 
For M Capuano, benefits represent the cash value of health and life insurance cover, luncheon vouchers, car benefits and provision of accommodation in London.  
For A Tantazzi, benefits represent the cash value of provision of accommodation in Milan.

iii) Pensions 
The Company contributed £68,750 to the senior executive defined contribution plan for D Webb as shown in the table above.

iv) Non-Executive Directors’ fees 
Fees paid directly to the employer company of two (2008: two) Non-Executive Directors were £108,000 (2007: £54,000).

v) Executive and Non-Executive Directors 
M Capuano and A Tantazzi, are paid in euro. Where their remuneration is presented in sterling in the Remuneration Report, a euro:sterling conversion rate of 1.20  
has been used for 2009 and 1.37 for 2008.

vi) Waiver of emoluments 
None of the Directors waived their emoluments during 2008 and 2009.
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tAble b – diRectoRs’ shARe inteRests – AuditAble
current share schemes
lonG teRm incentive plAn
At the AGM in 2004, shareholders approved a new Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP). The LTIP has two elements, a conditional award of 
Performance Shares and an award of Matching Shares linked to investment by the executive in the Company’s shares. For awards made in 
2007 and the years prior, performance conditions were based on the Company’s total shareholder return over a three year period beginning 
on the first day of the first financial year in which the award was made.

From 2008, 50 per cent of shares awarded are dependent on TSR performance with the other 50 per cent dependent on an adjusted basic 
EPS growth target.

     Number of shares      
    Awarded Vested  Price at Price at  Value at  Actual Final 
   At start during during At end award vesting vesting Date of vesting vesting 
Share awards  of year year year of year1 date date date award date date

CHF Furse 44,620 – 44,620  – 8.55 4.10  182,942  28/02/06 28/02/09 28/02/09
  44,444 – 44,444  – 8.60 4.02  178,665  03/03/06 03/03/09 03/03/09
  32,299 – – – 10.79 – – 25/05/06 – 25/05/09
  35,965 – – – 11.40 – – 26/05/06 – 26/05/09
  30,175 – – – 13.57 – – 22/05/07 – 22/05/10
  36,772 – – – 13.10 – – 24/05/07 – 24/05/10 
  – 52,939  – – 10.20 – – 29/05/08 – 29/05/11 
  – 137,755  – – 7.84 – – 23/07/08 – 23/07/11
   224,275 190,694  89,064  –             
M Capuano 28,493 – – 28,493 18.82 – – 16/11/07 – 16/11/10
  30,318 – – 30,318 17.72 – – 04/12/07 – 04/12/10
  – 73,724 – 73,724 8.06 – – 30/06/08 – 30/06/11
  – 113,812 – 113,812 7.84 – – 23/07/08 – 23/07/11
   58,811 187,536  –  246,347            
D Webb  – 37,016 – 37,016 8.92 – – 09/06/08 – 09/06/11
  – 36,104 – 36,104 9.14 – – 10/06/08 – 10/06/11
  – 63,137 – 63,137 7.84 – – 23/07/08 – 23/07/11
   – 136,257 – 136,257            
X Rolet – 290,016 – 290,016 4.48 – – 16/03/09 – Prelims 2012

1 Under her termination arrangements Clara Furse forfeited 325,905 unvested LTIP awards.

Executive Directors in the UK are entitled to participate in the all employee SAYE scheme, Italian Executive Directors can participate in the 
International Sharesave plan. Options granted under these schemes are:

sAye

      Number of shares      
     Awarded Vested  Price at Price at  Value at   
    At start during during At end award vesting vesting Date of Vesting 
Share awards   of year year year of year date (£) date (£) date (£) award date

CHF Furse  – 1,652 – 1,652 5.69 – – 07/08/08 01/09/2011
D Webb  – 1,652 – 1,652 5.69 – – 07/08/08 01/09/2011
   – 3,304 – 3,304     

inteRnAtionAl shAResAve plAn

      Number of shares      
     Awarded Vested  Price at Price at  Value at   
    At start during during At end award vesting vesting Date of Vesting 
Share awards   of year year year of year date (£) date (£) date (£) award date

M Capuano  – 1,838 – 1,838 5.69 – – 07/08/08 01/09/2011
   – 1,838 – 1,838     
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shARe bonus plAn
The following awards were made under the Share Bonus Plan for the 6 month performance period to 31 March 2008.

      Number of shares      
     Awarded Vested  Price at Price at  Value at   
    At start during during At end award vesting vesting Date of Vesting 
Share awards   of year year year of year date date date award date

CHF Furse  – 28,321 28,321 –  12.49  9.585 271,457 22/05/08 01/06/08

otheR shARe AwARds
For the year ending 31 March 2009 M Capuano will receive a share bonus award of ordinary shares with a value equal to 100 per cent of his 
annual bonus.

pRevious shARe schemes – All now closed And no AwARds GRAnted AfteR AuGust 2004
The following grants were made under the long-term incentive scheme approved by shareholders in July 2002. The performance condition 
attaching to options required average earnings per share growth to meet or exceed RPI plus four per cent per annum over the period of three 
years from the first day of the first financial year in which options were granted.

executive shARe option plAn
      Number of options      
         Market price 
         of shares on 
      At start  Granted Exercised At end date of Option Date of Expiry 
Share Option grants    of year during year during year of year exercise (£) price (£) grant date

CHF Furse   76,924 – – 76,924  – 3.90  15/07/02 15/01/11
    102,168 – – 102,168  – 3.23  16/05/03 15/01/11 
    87,072 – – 87,072  – 3.79  20/05/04 15/01/11
       266,164 – – 266,164         

These options became exercisable three years from the date of grant.

shARe option GRAnts And shARe AwARds in 2001 And pRioR
The following grants were made under the long term incentive scheme approved by shareholders in March 2000. No performance conditions 
apply to the exercise of these options, although options priced £3.15 are premium priced.

      Number of options      
         Market price 
         of shares on   Latest 
      At start  Granted Exercised At end date of Option Date of Expiry 
Share Option grants    of year during year during year of year exercise (£) price (£) grant date

CHF Furse   273,600 – – 273,600  – 2.52 25/01/01 15/10/10
    211,450 – – 211,450  –  3.15 25/01/01 15/10/10
    3,430 – – 3,430  –  3.65 25/06/01 15/10/10
    488,480 – – 488,480     

These options became exercisable between one and five years from the date of grant at 20 per cent in each year.

The market price of the shares on 31 March 2009 was £5.66 and the range during the year was £3.70 to £13.83.

diRectoRs’ inteRests in shARes
The Directors who held office at 31 March 2009 had the following other beneficial interests in the shares of the Company:

          Ordinary   Ordinary  
      shares  B shares shares B shares 
      31 March 2009  31 March 2009 31 March 2008 31 March 2008

C Gibson-Smith    50,768  10,213  50,768   10,213
A Tantazzi    –  –  –  –
CHF Furse    511,773  –  425,165  355,086
X Rolet    –  –  –  –
M Capuano    176,678  –  66,451  –
D Webb    10,660  –  –  –
J Cohen    6,616  –  1,216  –
S Ermotti    –  –  –  –
O Fanjul    21,901  –  21,901  –
A Munari    –  –  –  –
P Scaroni    –  –  –  –
N Stapleton    4,795  –  4,795  –
R Webb    1,200   –  1,200  –

There have been no changes in Directors’ own shares between 31 March 2009 and 20 May 2009.



the woRld’s cApitAl mARket

London Stock Exchange Group
Annual Report 2009  49

diRectoRs’ RepoRt 

pRincipAl Activities And Results
The principal activities of the Company  
and its subsidiaries are the admission of 
securities to trading, the delivery of trading 
systems, clearing and settlement of trading 
in securities, the organisation and regulation 
of markets in securities and the provision of 
associated information services. The Group 
made a profit before taxation, before 
impairment of goodwill, amortisation of 
purchased intangible assets and exceptional 
items, of £304.7 million (2008: £258.5 
million). After taking into account impairment 
of goodwill, amortisation of purchased 
intangible assets and exceptional items,  
the loss of the Group before taxation for  
the year ended 31 March 2009 was £250.8 
million (2008: £227.0 million profit) and loss 
after taxation was £332.8 million (2008: 
£173.0 million profit).

business Review
The information that fulfils the requirements 
of the Business Review can be found in the 
following sections of the Annual Report 
which are incorporated into this Directors’ 
report by reference:

 Highlights and Group at a Glance pages •	
10 to 11;
 Markets and Trends pages 16•	  and 17;
 Business and Financial Reviews pages •	
18 to 29;
 Corporate Responsibility pages 30 and •	
31; and
 Principal Risks and Uncertainties pages •	
32 and 33. 

dividend
The directors are recommending a final 
dividend for the year of 16.0 pence (2008: 
16.0 pence) which is expected to be paid  
on 17 August 2009 to shareholders on the 
register on 24 July 2009. Together with the 
interim dividend of 8.4 pence (2008: 8.0 
pence) per share paid in January 2009,  

this produces a total dividend of 24.4 pence 
(2008: 24.0 pence) per share estimated  
to amount to £65.2 million (2008:  
£65.2 million).

shARe cApitAl
ordinary shares
As at 31 March 2009 the Company had 
270.5 million ordinary shares in issue with  
a nominal value of 6 79/86 pence each, 
representing 88.9 per cent of the total issued 
share capital and 100 per cent of the ordinary 
share capital. Details of the changes to the 
Company’s issued ordinary share capital 
during the year are set out in note 31 to  
the financial statements on page 86.

b shares
As at 31 March 2009, 1.1 million B shares 
were in issue (31 March 2008: 3.8 million), 
representing 11.1 per cent of the total 
issued share capital. All remaining B shares 
will be redeemed by the Company on  
1 June 2009. 

share rights
The rights and obligations attached to the 
Ordinary and B shares are set out in the 
Company’s Articles of Association (the 
Articles), copies of which can be obtained 
from Companies House in the UK or by 
writing to the Group Company Secretary.

ordinary shares
Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to 
attend, speak and vote at general meetings 
of the Company. On a show of hands every 
shareholder who is present in person shall 
have one vote and on a poll every 
shareholder present in person or by proxy 
shall have one vote for every ordinary share 
of which he is the holder. Electronic and 
paper proxy appointments and voting 
instructions must be received by the 
Company’s Registrars not later than 
48 hours before a general meeting.

the diRectoRs of the london stock exchAnGe 
GRoup plc ARe pleAsed to pResent theiR 
AnnuAl RepoRt to shAReholdeRs, toGetheR 
with the finAnciAl stAtements foR the yeAR 
ended 31 mARch 2009

Subject to the applicable statutes,  
the Company may by ordinary resolution 
declare dividends, but no dividend shall 
exceed the amount recommended by  
the Board. The Board may pay interim 
dividends if it appears to the Board that 
they are justified by the profits of the 
Company available for distribution.

If the Company is wound up, the liquidator 
may, with the sanction of an extraordinary 
resolution of the Company and any other 
sanction required by applicable statute: (a) 
divide among the shareholders the whole or 
any part of the assets of the Company and 
he may value any assets and determine how 
the division shall be carried out as between 
the shareholders or different classes of 
shareholders; (b) vest the whole or any part 
of the assets in trustees for the benefit  
of the shareholders; and (c) determine  
the scope and terms of those trusts. No 
shareholder shall be compelled to accept 
any asset on which there is a liability.

b shares
Holders of B shares are not entitled to 
receive notice of any general meetings of 
the Company or to attend, speak or vote  
at any such general meetings, unless the 
business of the meeting includes the 
consideration of a resolution for the winding 
up of the Company, in which case the 
holders of B Shares shall have the right  
to attend the general meeting and shall be 
entitled to speak and vote only on any such 
resolution. In such circumstances, voting 
and appointment of proxies shall be as for 
ordinary shares.

Holders of B shares are entitled, in priority 
to any distribution to ordinary shareholders, 
to be paid semi-annually in arrears a 
non-cumulative preferential dividend 
calculated in accordance with the Articles.
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The registration of transfers of shares or  
of transfers of any class of shares may  
be suspended at such times and for such 
periods (not exceeding 30 days in any year) 
as the Board may determine, except that 
the Board may not suspend the registration 
of transfers of any uncertificated shares 
without gaining consent from CREST. 
Transfers of uncertificated shares must be 
carried out using the relevant system and 
the Board can refuse to register a transfer 
of an uncertificated share in accordance 
with the regulations governing the operation 
of the relevant system and with UK 
legislation. There are no other limitations  
on the holding of ordinary shares in the 
Company and the Company is not aware  
of any agreements between holders of 
shares that may result in restrictions on  
the transfer of shares or on voting rights.

other matters 
Subject to the provisions of relevant 
statute, if at any time the capital of the 
Company is divided into different classes  
of shares, the rights attached to any class 
may (unless otherwise provided by the 
terms of allotment of the shares of that 
class) be varied or abrogated, whether or 
not the Company is being wound up, either:

(a) with the consent of the holders of  
75 per cent in nominal value of the issued 
shares of that class; or

(b) with the sanction of an extraordinary 
resolution passed at a separate general 
meeting of the holders of the shares of  
the class, but not otherwise.

Subject to the provisions of relevant 
statutes and without prejudice to any rights 
attached to any existing shares or class of 
shares, any share may be issued with such 
rights or restrictions as the Company may 
by ordinary resolution determine or, subject 
to and in default of such determination,  
as the Board shall determine.

No shareholder is, unless the Board 
decides otherwise, entitled to attend or  
vote at a general meeting or to exercise  
any other shareholder rights if he or any 
person with an interest in shares has  
been sent a notice under section 793 of  
the Companies Act 2006 (which confers 
upon public companies the power to require 
information with respect to interests in their 
voting shares) and has failed to supply the 
Company with the requisite information 
within the prescribed period. In certain 
circumstances, the direction notice may 
additionally direct that in respect of the 
default shares, no dividend is payable and 
that no transfer of any default shares may 
be registered. 

Authority to purchase shares
The authority for the Company to purchase 
in the market up to 27.5 million of its 
ordinary shares, representing approximately 
10 per cent of the issued ordinary share 
capital of the Company, granted at the 
Annual General Meeting of the Company 
held on 9 July 2008, expires at the end  
of the next Annual General Meeting of  
the Company. Shareholders will be asked  
to give a similar authority to repurchase 
shares at the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting of the Company.

share buyback programme
In the year ended 31 March 2009 the 
Company made total on-market purchases 
of 5.9 million ordinary shares at an 
aggregate cost of £51.5 million with the  
last purchases made in September 2008. 
At the Interim Results in November 2008 
the Company announced that it had ended 
its £500 million share buyback programme. 

Articles of Association 
The Company’s Articles of Association 
(adopted by special resolution passed  
on 9 July 2008) may only be amended  
by special resolution at a general meeting  
of the shareholders. 

B shares may be redeemed by their holders 
for the sum of £2.00 per B share on a 
redemption date (1 June and 1 December 
each year). The Company may, at any time, 
redeem all B shares in issue for the sum  
of £2.00 per B share plus a dividend 
calculated in accordance with the Articles. 
All remaining B shares will be redeemed  
on 1 June 2009.

Holders of B shares shall, on a return  
of capital on a winding-up (except on a 
redemption in accordance with the terms  
of issue of any share, or purchase by the 
Company of any share or on a capitalisation 
issue and subject to the rights of any other 
class of shares that may be issued) be  
paid the sum of £2.00 per B share plus  
a dividend calculated in accordance with  
the Articles.

Holders of B shares are not entitled to any 
further right of participation in the profits  
or assets of the Company.

transfers of shares
The Board may, in its absolute discretion 
and without giving any reason, refuse to 
register the transfer of a certificated share 
which is not fully paid, provided that the 
refusal does not prevent dealings in shares 
in the Company from taking place on an 
open and proper basis. The Board may  
also refuse to register the transfer of a 
certificated share unless the instrument  
of transfer (a) is lodged, duly stamped  
(if stampable), at the office or at another 
place appointed by the Board accompanied 
by the certificate for the share to which it 
relates and such other evidence as the 
Board may reasonably require to show the 
right of the transferor to make the transfer; 
(b) is in respect of only one class of shares; 
and (c) is in favour of not more than four 
transferees. 
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powers of the directors
Subject to the provisions of applicable 
statute, the Company’s Memorandum and 
Articles of Association and any directions 
given by special resolution, the business 
shall be managed by the Board which may 
exercise all the powers of the Company, 
including without limitation the power to 
dispose of all or any part of the undertaking 
of the Company. No alteration of the 
Memorandum or Articles and no such 
direction shall invalidate any prior act of  
the Board which would have been valid if 
that alteration had not been made or that 
direction had not been given. 

directors’ interests
Directors’ interests in the shares of the 
Company as at 31 March 2009 according  
to the register maintained under the 
Companies Act 1985 are set out in the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 
47 to 48. No company in the Group was, 
during or at the end of the financial year, 
party to any contract of significance in which 
any director was materially interested.

coRpoRAte GoveRnAnce
The Company’s Corporate Governance 
Report is set out on pages 36 to 39. 

employees
Information on the Company’s employment 
policies is given on page 30. The Company 
also provides an induction programme for 
new employees, including training on health 
and safety, and a range of development 
programmes for all staff to develop their 
skills and knowledge. The Company 
encourages and assists the employment, 
training and retention of disabled people. 
Where changes to working practices or 
structure affect staff, they are consulted 
and given the appropriate support. All 
employees are provided with information  
on matters of concern to them in their work, 
through regular briefing meetings and 
internal publications.

donAtions
During the year the Group gave £300,000 
(2008: £196,000) to charitable 
organisations. No donations were made  
to political parties. 

supplieR pAyment policy
It is the Group’s ongoing policy to agree 
payment terms with suppliers when business 
transactions are negotiated and to make 
payments in accordance with those terms 
when goods have been satisfactorily 
supplied. As at 31 March 2009 the 
Company had no trade creditors (2008: nil). 

siGnificAnt contRActs
The Company (as borrower) has entered 
into: 

(i) a bridge facility agreement with Barclays 
Bank plc and The Royal Bank of Scotland 
plc dated 22 June 2007 (as amended by  
a waiver and amendment request dated  
18 July 2007, by an amendment letter  
dated 20 December 2007, and by a further 
amendment letter dated 12 November 
2008) (the Bridge Facility Agreement);

(ii) a revolving facility agreement with 
Barclays Bank plc and The Royal Bank  
of Scotland plc dated 9 February 2006  
(as amended and restated 1 March 2007 
and as further amended by a waiver and 
amendment request dated 18 July 2007, 
and by an amendment letter dated  
12 November 2008) (the First Revolving 
Facility Agreement);

(iii) a revolving facility agreement with, 
among others, Lloyds TSB Bank plc, 
Bayerische Hypo- und Vereinsbank AG,  
and Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A., dated  
24 July 2008 (the Second Revolving  
Facility Agreement); and

(iv) a revolving facility agreement with 
HSBC Bank plc dated 24 October 2008 
(the Bi-lateral Facility Agreement). 

substAntiAl shAReholdinG 
As at 20 May 2009 the Company had been 
notified of the following interests amounting 
to more than three per cent in the issued 
share capital of the Company in accordance 
with Sections 791 to 828 of the Companies 
Act 2006 and the FSA’s Disclosure and 
Transparency Rules:

Borse Dubai Limited  20.6%
Qatar Investment Authority  15.1%
Horizon Asset Management Inc. 7.2%
Unicredito Italiano S.p.A.  6.0%
Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.  5.3%
Kinetics Asset Management Inc. 3.1% 

diRectoRs
Details of the directors are set out on pages 
34 and 35.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles 
of Association, at each AGM one third of 
the directors retire and offer themselves  
for re-election, and each director must 
stand for re-election at least once every 
three years. Additionally directors appointed 
since the last general meeting must offer 
themselves for election. Xavier Rolet was 
appointed to the Board with effect from 
16 March 2009. In accordance with the 
Company’s Articles of Association he will 
retire at the forthcoming AGM and, being 
eligible, offer himself for reappointment.
The directors who will, in accordance with 
the Company’s Articles of Association, 
retire at the forthcoming AGM and, being 
eligible, offer themselves for reappointment 
are Janet Cohen, Robert Webb, Paolo 
Scaroni and Andrea Munari. The Company
announced on 13 February 2009 that Clara 
Furse would retire from the Board at the 
end of the AGM to be held on 15 July 2009.

The unexpired term of the service contract 
for Xavier Rolet is 12 months. None of the 
other directors seeking reappointment have 
a service contract with the Company.
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employee benefit tRust
As at 31 March 2009 the trustee of the 
London Stock Exchange employee benefit 
trust, which is an independent trustee,  
held 3.6 million shares under the terms of 
the trust for the benefit of employees and 
former employees of the Company and  
its subsidiaries. The trust is a discretionary 
trust and the shares are held to meet 
employees’ entitlements under the 
Company’s share schemes. Employees 
have no voting rights in relation to the 
shares while they are held in trust. The 
trustee has full discretion to exercise  
the voting rights or to abstain from voting. 
Shares acquired by employees through  
the Company’s employee share plans rank 
equally with the ordinary shares in issue  
and have no special rights. 

contRActuAl ARRAnGements 
essentiAl to the compAny
Under the UK Companies Act 2006 we  
are required to provide information about 
persons with whom the company has 
contractual or other arrangements which 
are essential to the business. The Group 
has contractual arrangements with LCH.
Clearnet for clearing services to London 
Stock Exchange members, with Accenture 
for technology services and with SIA for the 
provision of technology to CC&G and MTS, 
which remain essential for the business. 
Various Group entities are regulated and 
the Group attaches the highest priority  
to complying with local regulatory 
requirements.

finAnciAl Risk mAnAGement 
Financial risk management has been 
specifically considered by the directors,  
and relevant disclosures appear in Principal 
Risks and Uncertainties, on pages 32 to 33 
of this report, and in the notes to the 
Financial Statements on pages 58 to 93.

Audit infoRmAtion
In accordance with Section 234ZA(2)  
of the Companies Act 1985, the Directors 
confirm, in the case of each Director in 
office at the date the Directors’ Report  
is approved, that:

(i) so far as the Director is aware, there is 
no relevant audit information of which the 
Company’s auditors are unaware; and

(ii) he has taken all the steps that he  
ought to have taken as a director in order  
to make himself aware of any relevant  
audit information and to establish that  
the Company’s auditors are aware of  
that information.

Auditors
A resolution to reappoint 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the 
Company’s auditors will be proposed  
at the AGM. 

By Order of the Board

lisa condron
GRoup compAny secRetARy
20 May 2009

Each of the Bridge Facility Agreement,  
the First and Second Revolving Facility 
Agreements and the Bilateral Facility 
Agreement contain a change of control 
provision which, if triggered, allows the 
relevant facility agent upon instructions  
from the majority lenders (and in the case  
of the Bilateral Facility Agreement upon 
instructions from the lender itself) to  
cancel the relevant facility and declare  
all outstanding loans under the relevant 
agreement, together with accrued  
interest and all other amounts accrued,  
due and payable.

The Company has issued sterling Notes 
due 2016. The terms of the Notes contain  
a redemption on Change of Control 
provision which, if triggered by the 
combination of a change of control and, 
within 120 days thereafter, a credit rating 
downgrade to non-investment grade, allows 
Noteholders to exercise their option to 
require the issuer to redeem the Notes  
and pay accrued and unpaid interest.

The rules of the Company’s employee share 
plans set out the consequences of a change 
of control of the Company on employees’ 
rights under the plans. Generally such rights 
will vest on a change of control and 
participants will become entitled to acquire 
shares in the Company (although in certain 
circumstances the Remuneration 
Committee has a discretion to defer  
vesting and to require rights to be 
exchanged for equivalent rights over  
the acquiring company’s shares).

The impact of a change of control  
on directors’ service contracts is  
set out on pages 43 to 44 of the  
Remuneration Report.
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diRectoRs’ Responsibilities foR the finAnciAl stAtements

the diRectoRs ARe Responsible foR pRepARinG 
the AnnuAl RepoRt, the diRectoRs’ 
RemuneRAtion RepoRt And the finAnciAl 
stAtements in AccoRdAnce with ApplicAble 
lAw And ReGulAtions

The Directors are responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the Company’s 
website and legislation in the United 
Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may 
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Each of the Directors, whose names  
and functions are listed in the Board of 
Directors section of the Directors’ Report, 
confirm that, to the best of their knowledge:

The Group financial statements, which •	
have been prepared in accordance with 
IFRSs as adopted by the EU, give a true 
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, 
financial position and profit or loss of  
the Group; and
The Business Review, whose contents •	
are detailed on page 49 of the Directors’ 
report, includes a fair review of the 
development and performance of the 
business and the position of the Group, 
together with a description of the 
principal risks and uncertainties that  
it faces.

By order of the Board

lisa condron
GRoup compAny secRetARy
20 May 2009

Company law requires the Directors to 
prepare financial statements for each 
financial year. Under that law the Directors 
have prepared the Group and parent 
Company financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted  
by the European Union. The financial 
statements are required by law to give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the Company and the Group and of the 
profit or loss of the Group for that period.

In preparing those financial statements,  
the directors are required to:

Select suitable accounting policies  •	
and then apply them consistently;
 Make judgements and estimates that  •	
are reasonable and prudent;
State that the financial statements •	
comply with IFRSs as adopted by  
the European Union; and
Prepare the financial statements on  •	
the going concern basis, unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the  
Group will continue in business.

The Directors confirm that they have 
complied with the above requirements  
in preparing the financial statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping 
proper accounting records that disclose 
with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the Company and the 
Group and to enable them to ensure that 
the financial statements and the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report comply with the 
Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the 
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the 
IAS Regulation. They are also responsible 
for safeguarding the assets of the Company 
and the Group and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS  
OF LONDON STOCK EXCHANGE GROUP PLC
We have audited the Group and Parent Company financial statements 
(the financial statements) of London Stock Exchange Group plc for 
the year ended 31 March 2009 which comprise the Consolidated 
Income Statement, the Group and Parent Company Balance Sheets, 
the Group and Parent Company Cash Flow Statements, the Group 
Statement of Recognised Income and Expense and the related notes. 
These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting 
policies set out therein. We have also audited the information in the 
Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited.

RESPECTIvE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS  
AND AUDITORS
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the 
Remuneration Report and the financial statements in accordance  
with applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union are set out in the 
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the part  
of the Remuneration Report to be audited in accordance with relevant 
legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report, including the opinion, has  
been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body in 
accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no 
other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume 
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom 
this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where 
expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements 
give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements and  
the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited have been 
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985  
and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the  
IAS Regulation. We also report to you whether in our opinion the 
information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the 
financial statements. The information given in the Directors’ Report 
includes that specific information that is cross referred from the 
Business Review section of the Directors’ Report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has  
not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the 
information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information 
specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and other 
transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects 
the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the Combined 
Code (2006) specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the 
Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We are  
not required to consider whether the Board’s statements on  
internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on  
the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures  
or its risk and control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and 
consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial statements. 
The other information comprises only the Group at a Glance, the 
Chairman’s Statement, the Chief Executive’s Review, Market Position 
and Trends, the Business Review, Financial Review, Our Wider 
Responsibilities, Principal Risks and Uncertainties, the Corporate 
Governance Statement, the unaudited part of the Remuneration 
Report and the Directors’ Report. We consider the implications  
for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements  
or material inconsistencies with the financial statements.  
Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

BASIS OF AUDIT OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. 
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant  
to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the 
part of the Remuneration Report to be audited. It also includes an 
assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by  
the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and  
of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s  
and Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and  
adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the 
information and explanations which we considered necessary in order 
to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance 
that the financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Report 
to be audited are free from material misstatement, whether caused  
by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also 
evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information  
in the financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Report 
to be audited.

OPINION
In our opinion:

The Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in •	
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,  
of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 March 2009 and  
of its loss and cash flows for the year then ended;
The Parent Company financial statements give a true and fair view, •	
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union as 
applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 
1985, of the state of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 31 March 
2009 and cash flows for the year then ended;
The financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Report •	
to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with  
the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the Group financial 
statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation; and
The information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent  •	
with the financial statements.

 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London
20 May 2009
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Year ended 31 March 2009  
       2009   2008 

     Before  
     impairment, Impairment,  Before  
     amortisation amortisation  amortisation Amortisation 
     of purchased of purchased  of purchased of purchased 
     intangibles intangibles  intangibles  intangibles 
     and  and   and and 
     exceptional exceptional  exceptional exceptional 
      items items Total items items  Total 
     £m £m £m £m £m £m 
Continuing operations   Notes     (restated) (restated)

Revenue    6 671.4  –  671.4 546.4  –  546.4
  
Expenses  
Operating expenses     7,9  (332.8) (64.6) (397.4) (257.4) (23.8) (281.2)

Operating profit before impairment    338.6 (64.6) 274.0 289.0 (23.8) 265.2
Impairment of goodwill   15 – (484.0) (484.0) – – –

Operating profit/(loss)    338.6 (548.6) (210.0) 289.0 (23.8) 265.2

  
Finance income     20.8  –  20.8 18.8  –  18.8
Finance expense     (58.8) (6.9) (65.7) (51.5) (7.7)  (59.2)
Net finance expense    10 (38.0) (6.9) (44.9) (32.7) (7.7) (40.4)
  
Share of profit after tax of joint ventures/associates    16,17  2.1  –  2.1 2.2  –  2.2
Profit on disposal of associate    17 2.0  –  2.0  –   –   – 

Profit/(loss) before taxation     304.7 (555.5) (250.8) 258.5 (31.5) 227.0
Taxation     9,11  (96.7) 14.7 (82.0) (80.3) 26.3 (54.0)

Profit/(loss) for the financial year     208.0 (540.8) (332.8) 178.2 (5.2) 173.0

Profit attributable to minority interests     9.1 (3.9)  5.2 4.4 0.3 4.7
Profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders     198.9 (536.9) (338.0) 173.8 (5.5) 168.3

     208.0 (540.8) (332.8) 178.2 (5.2) 173.0

Basic (loss)/earnings per share    12   (126.1)p   70.8p
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share    12   (126.1)p   69.7p
Adjusted basic earnings per share    12   74.2p   73.1p
Adjusted diluted earnings per share    12   73.6p   71.9p

Dividend per share in respect of financial year     
Dividend per share paid during the year    13    24.4p   20.0p
Dividend per share declared for the year    13   24.4p   24.0p

STATEMENT OF RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE
Year ended 31 March 2009
          Group

         2009 2008 
        Notes  £m £m 
          (restated) 

(Loss)/profit for the financial year        (332.8) 173.0
Defined benefit pension scheme actuarial (loss)/gain      21 (11.7) 21.2
Cash flow hedge        6.2 (7.9)
Net investment hedge        (24.8) (6.8)
Exchange gains on translation of foreign operation       284.3 212.7
Tax related to items not recognised on income statement       2.2 (3.9)
         256.2 215.3
          

Total recognised (expense)/income for the financial year       (76.6) 388.3

Attributable to minority interests        14.9 15.9
Attributable to equity holders        (91.5) 372.4

         (76.6) 388.3

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
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31 March 2009 
        Group  Company

        2009 2008 2009 2008 
       Notes £m £m £m £m 
        (restated)  (restated) 

Assets  
Non-current assets  
Property, plant and equipment      14 79.9 72.8 – –
Intangible assets      15 1,584.9 1,821.9 – –
Investments in joint ventures      16 1.7 1.9 – –
Investments in associates      17 1.9 2.3 – –
Investments in subsidiary undertakings      18  – – 3,748.3 4,533.1
Deferred tax assets      19 5.7 10.0 – –
Available for sale investments      20 0.4 0.4 – –
Retirement benefit asset     21 5.0 11.8 – –
Other non-current assets       0.4 0.4 – –

       1,679.9 1,921.5 3,748.3 4,533.1

Current assets  
Trade and other receivables      22 114.5 121.1 169.1 182.4
CCP financial assets       32,077.9 15,649.2  – –
CCP cash and cash equivalents (restricted)       3,596.6 1,654.1 – –
CCP clearing business assets      23 35,674.5 17,303.3 – –
Current tax       – 3.9 40.3 24.5
Assets held at fair value      24 5.0 13.8 – –
Cash and cash equivalents      25 143.7 200.6 – – 

       35,937.7 17,642.7 209.4 206.9

Total assets       37,617.6 19,564.2 3,957.7 4,740.0

Liabilities  
Current liabilities  
Trade and other payables      26 112.9 146.2 218.8 155.2
Derivative financial instruments      27 1.6 7.9 1.5 7.9
CCP clearing business liabilities      23 35,679.2 17,307.7 – –
Current tax       7.6 13.9 – –
Borrowings      28 2.3 436.0 2.3 434.8
Provisions      30 3.8 5.2 – –
Other current liabilities       – 1.8 – –

       35,807.4 17,918.7 222.6 597.9

Non-current liabilities  
Borrowings      28 622.5 256.1 622.5 256.1
Deferred tax liabilities      19 103.3 95.7 – –
Retirement benefit obligation     21 8.3 7.6 – –
Provisions      30 22.9 23.2 – –

       757.0 382.6 622.5 256.1

Total liabilities       36,564.4 18,301.3 845.1 854.0

Net assets      1,053.2 1,262.9 3,112.6 3,886.0

Equity 
Capital and reserves attributable to the Company’s equity holders 
Share capital      31,32 18.7 19.1 18.7 19.1
Retained (loss)/earnings      32 (803.2) (331.1) 1,284.3 2,069.4
Other reserves      32 1,741.4 1,479.7 1,809.6 1,797.5

       956.9 1,167.7 3,112.6 3,886.0

Minority interests in equity      32 96.3 95.2 – –

Total equity       1,053.2 1,262.9 3,112.6 3,886.0

The financial statements on pages 55 to 93 were approved by the Board on 20 May 2009 and signed on its behalf by:

Clara Furse Doug webb
CHIEF EXECUTIvE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 

BALANCE SHEETS
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CASH FLOw STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 March 2009  
        Group  Company

       2009 2008 2009 2008 
      Notes £m £m £m £m 
        (restated)

Cash flow from operating activities  
  
Cash generated from operations      33  352.6 292.9 (5.0) (0.9)
Interest received       7.0 5.8 – –
Interest paid       (52.1) (39.4) (52.0) (35.5)
Corporation tax paid       (51.9) (68.7) – – 
Withholding tax paid      (30.5) (12.7) – –

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities      225.1 177.9  (57.0) (36.4)

 
Cash flow from investing activities 

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from merger        – 82.3 – (13.8)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment       (19.9) (10.3) – –
Purchase of intangible assets       (36.5) (21.9) – –
Disposal of associate      2.7 – – –
Investment in joint ventures      (0.7) – – –
Investment in subsidiary      (5.3) – – –
Dividends received       3.8 2.4 163.3 188.3 
Acquisition of minority interests in Borsa Italiana      – (0.5) – (0.5)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities      (55.9) 52.0  163.3 174.0 

Cash flow from financing activities  

Dividends paid to shareholders       (65.3) (46.0) (65.3) (46.0)
Dividends paid to minorities      (7.0) – – –
Redemption of B shares       (5.3) (8.1) (5.3) (8.1)
Share buyback       (51.5) (143.8) (51.5) (143.8)
Purchase of own shares by ESOP trust       (26.3) (36.7) – –
Loan to ESOP trust       –  – (25.4)  (30.8)
Loans to subsidiary companies       –  –  – (172.0)
Loans from/repayments to subsidiary companies      –  – 123.2 –
Proceeds from own shares on exercise of employee share options     0.9 5.9  – –
Proceeds from borrowings       735.2 613.0  735.2 613.0 
Repayment of borrowings       (818.5) (497.5) (817.2) (347.0)
Share issue costs       – (2.9)  – (2.9)

Net cash outflow from financing activities       (237.8) (116.1) (106.3) (137.6)

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents     (68.6) 113.8  – –

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year       200.6 72.9  – –
Exchange gains on cash and cash equivalents       11.7 13.9 –  –

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year      25 143.7  200.6  – –

  
Group cash flow does not include cash and cash equivalents held by CC&G on behalf of its clearing members for use in its operation as 
manager of the clearing and guarantee system. These balances represent margins and default fund amounts held for counterparties in 
connection with this operation. 
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1. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
The Group’s consolidated financial statements and the Company’s 
financial statements are prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretations endorsed 
by the European Union, and with those parts of the Companies Act 
1985 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. 

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost 
convention as modified by the revaluation of assets and liabilities 
held at fair value, including those of the central counterparty (CCP) 
clearing business of the Company’s majority-owned subsidiary  
Cassa di Compensazione e Garanzia S.p.A. (CC&G), and on the 
basis of the principal accounting policies set out below. 

The Group uses a columnar format for the presentation of its 
consolidated income statement. This enables the Group to aid an 
understanding of its results by presenting profit for the year before 
goodwill impairment, amortisation of purchased intangible assets  
and exceptional items. This is the profit measure used to calculate 
adjusted earnings per share and is considered to be the most 
appropriate as it best reflects the Group’s underlying cash earnings. 
Profit before impairment of goodwill, amortisation of purchased 
intangible assets and exceptional items is reconciled to profit before 
taxation on the face of the income statement.

Recent accounting developments
The following standards and interpretations issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and IFRIC have been adopted in 
these financial statements. 
  
International accounting standards and interpretations 

IFRIC12 Service Concession Arrangements  

IFRIC14 IAS19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, 
Minimum Funding requirements and their Interaction  

IFRIC12 has no impact on the financial statements of the Company  
or the Group. The adoption of IFRIC14 has not had a material impact 
on the financial statements of the Company or the Group.

The following standards, amendments and interpretations have  
been issued by the IASB and IFRIC with an effective date, subject  
to EU endorsement in some cases, that does not impact on these 
financial statements. 

International accounting standards and interpretations  Effective date

IFRS various Annual improvements 2008   1 January 2009

IFRS2 Share-based Payment – Amendment  
relating to vesting conditions and cancellations   1 January 2009

IFRS3 Business Combinations – Comprehensive  
revision on applying the acquisition method  1 July 2009

IFRS8 Operating Segments  1 January 2009

IAS1 Presentation of Financial Statements –  
Comprehensive revision including requiring  
a statement of comprehensive income   1 January 2009

IAS1 Presentation of Financial Statements –  
Amendments relating to disclosure of puttable  
instruments and obligations arising on liquidation  1 January 2009

IAS23 Borrowing Costs – Comprehensive  
revision to prescribed treatment 1 January 2009

IAS27 Consolidated and Separate Financial  
Statements – Consequential amendments arising  
from amendments to IFRS3   1 July 2009

IAS28 Investments in Associates – Consequential  
amendments arising from amendments to IFRS3  1 July 2009

IAS31 Interests in Joint Ventures – Consequential  
amendments arising from amendments to IFRS3  1 July 2009

IAS32 Financial Instruments: Presentation –  
Amendments relating to puttable instruments  
and obligations arising on liquidation  1 January 2009

IAS39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and measurement 
 – amendments for eligible hedged items 1 July 2009

IFRIC13 Customer Loyalty Programmes  1 January 2009

IFRIC15 Agreements for the construction of real estate   1 January 2009

IFRIC16 Hedges of a net investment 
in a foreign operation  1 October 2008

IFRIC17 Distribution of non-cash assets to owners   1 July 2009

IFRIC18 Transfer of assets from customers   1 July 2009

The impact on the Group’s financial statements of the future 
standards, amendments and interpretations is still under review,  
but the Group does not currently expect any of these changes  
to have a material impact on the results or the net assets of the 
Company or the Group. 
 
Accounting policies
CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial 
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries, all having 
co-terminous accounting periods, with all inter-company balances  
and transactions eliminated, together with the Group’s attributable 
share of the results of associates and joint ventures. The results of 
subsidiaries sold or acquired are included in the income statement up 
to, or from, the date that control passes. As permitted by Section 230 
of the Companies Act 1985, the Company’s income statement has 
not been included in these financial statements. The Company’s loss 
for the year is disclosed within note 32.

Investments in joint ventures and associates are accounted for  
under the equity method. The Group’s investments in joint ventures 
and associates are initially recognised at cost, and its share of profits 
or losses after tax from joint ventures and associates is included in 
the consolidated income statement. Cumulative post-acquisition 
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the 
investment in the Group’s balance sheet. The financial statements  
of joint ventures and associates are used by the Group to apply the 
equity method, under which the Group’s income statement reflects 
the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associates.  
A company is considered an associate where the Group has a 
significant influence.

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase 
method. The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate  
of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities 
incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group  
in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly 
attributable to the business combination, such as professional fees 
paid to accountants and legal advisers and other consultants to effect 
the combination. Adjustments to fair values include those made to 
bring accounting policies into line with those of the Group.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with minority 
interests as transactions with parties external to the Group. 
Acquisitions of shares from minority interests result in goodwill being 
the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share 
acquired of the carrying value of the net assets of the subsidiary.

Investments in subsidiaries are reviewed for impairment when  
events indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable and  
are accounted for in the Company’s financial statements at cost  
less accumulated impairment losses.

REvENUE
Revenue represents the total amount receivable for the provision 
of goods and services, excluding value added tax. 

Revenue is recognised in the period when the service or supply 
is provided:

a) membership and other term fees are recognised over the period  
to which the fee relates;

b) admission fees are recognised at the time of admission to trading;

c) royalties are recognised at the earlier of cash receipt or the date  
at which they are earned or measurable with certainty; and

d) all other revenue is recognised in the month in which the service is 
provided. In interim reports, Borsa Italiana group defers some of the 
income received from cash trading and S&P/MIB futures trading and 
clearing. This deferral results in revenues being recognised at the 
average price of transactions forecast for the full year, as pricing levels 
reduce during the year when incremental volume targets are achieved.

EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS
Items of income and expense that are material by size and/or nature 
and are non-recurring are classified as exceptional items on the face 
of the income statement within their relevant category. The separate 
reporting of these items together with impairment and amortisation  
of purchased intangible assets helps give an indication of the Group’s 
underlying performance.

SHARE BASED COMPENSATION
The Group operates a number of equity settled share based 
compensation plans for employees. The charge to the income 
statement is determined by the fair value of the options granted  
or shares awarded at the date of grant and recognised over the 
relevant vesting period.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES
The consolidated financial statements are presented in sterling,  
which is the Company’s presentation and functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions are converted into the functional 
currency using the rate ruling at the date of the transaction.  
Foreign exchange gains or losses resulting from the settlement  
of such transactions and from the translation at year-end rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies  
are recognised in the income statement. Translation differences  
on non-monetary items, such as equities or bonds held at fair value 
through profit or loss, are reported as part of their fair value gain  
or loss. Exceptions to this are where the non-monetary items form 
part of the net investment in a foreign operation or are designated  
as hedges of a net investment, or as cash flow hedges. Such 
exchange differences are initially recognised in equity.

The results and financial position of all Group entities that have  
a functional currency different from the presentation currency  
are converted into the presentation currency as follows:

a) assets and liabilities including goodwill, purchased intangible  
assets and fair value adjustments are converted at the closing 
balance sheet rate;

b) income and expenses are translated and recorded in the income 
statement at the average monthly rates prevailing; and

c) all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate 
component of equity.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Freehold properties, including related fixed plant, are included in the 
financial statements at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
provision for impairment. Freehold buildings and related fixed plant 
are depreciated to residual value, based on cost at the beginning of 
the year plus subsequent additions, over their estimated economic 
lives. The estimated useful lives of properties range between 33 and 
50 years, and the estimated useful economic lives of fixed plant range 
from five to 20 years.

Leasehold properties and improvements are included at cost and 
depreciated to residual value over the shorter of the period of the 
lease or the useful economic life of the asset.

Plant and equipment is stated at cost and is depreciated to residual 
value on a straight line basis over the estimated useful economic lives 
of the assets, which mainly range from three to five years.

The Group selects its depreciation rates based on expected 
economic lives, taking into account the expected rate of technological 
developments, market requirements and expected use of the assets. 
The selected rates are regularly reviewed to ensure they remain 
appropriate to the Group’s circumstances.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents the 
excess of consideration paid plus transaction costs over the fair value 
of the Group’s share of net identifiable assets purchased. It is not 
amortised but is tested for impairment annually and when there are 
indications that the carrying value may not be recoverable, and is 
carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

On the acquisition of a business, fair values are attributed to the 
assets and liabilities acquired. These may include brand names, 
customer relationships, licences and software development costs,  
all of which are recorded as intangible assets and held at cost less 
accumulated amortisation. These assets are amortised on a straight 
line basis over their useful economic lives, which do not normally 
exceed 25 years or the term of the licence. The amortisation period 
and method are reviewed and adjusted, as appropriate, at each 
balance sheet date.

Third party software costs for the development and implementation 
of systems which enhance the services provided by the Group are 
capitalised and amortised over their estimated useful economic lives, 
averaging three years.
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bears the counterparty risk associated with honouring by the 
counterparties of their obligations and, in the event of a failure to 
deliver by any counterparty, is required itself to complete delivery  
of the appropriate securities. Accordingly, CC&G must record an 
asset and a liability on its balance sheet in respect of each of the bid 
and offer sides of each transaction. However, except in respect of 
failed transactions CC&G as a CCP clearer does not bear any price 
risk and the value of the bid and offer side of each transaction are  
the same; consequently, the principal CCP asset and liability  
amounts largely match each other.

Accounting treatments of CCP financial assets and liabilities include 
the following:

a) Derivatives, trading assets and liabilities
These transactions are initially recorded at fair value, which coincides 
with the market value of the open positions on the IDEM derivatives 
market in which CC&G operates as CCP, and are subsequently 
remeasured on the basis of the market price of each derivative 
instrument at the period end. Since the asset and liability positions  
of the CCP clearer are matched, the same amount is recorded for 
both the assets and liabilities and no fair value gains or losses are 
recognised in the income statement.

b) Receivables for and liabilities under repurchase transactions 
These represent repurchase transactions (repos) by clearing 
members in the bond market using CC&G’s clearing and guarantee 
service. They represent the value of transactions already settled  
spot and not yet settled at term, usually within two days. These 
transactions are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, by allocating the yield on the repo 
pro-rated over the duration of the contract (the coupon accrued in  
the period and the difference between the spot and forward prices). 
Since the asset and liability positions for repos are matched, the 
same amount is recorded for both assets and liabilities and no gain  
or loss is recorded in the income statement. 

c) Other receivables from and payables to clearing members
These comprise accounts receivable and payable deriving from  
the activities of clearing members in derivatives, equities and bond 
transactions. They mainly represent amounts to be received or paid 
for initial and variation margins, option premiums and default fund 
contributions and are initially recorded at fair value. They are generally 
settled on the next day and, accordingly, are not discounted back to 
current value. 

d) Financial assets and liabilities at fair value
These represent quoted equity and bond securities which CC&G 
acquires usually as a result of failure by a counterparty to deliver  
its side of a transaction and are recognised initially at fair value and 
subsequently remeasured at fair value, based on the market price  
of each security. The difference between the settlement price of  
each security at trade date and the market price of that security  
at the period end is recognised as a fair value gain or loss in the  
income statement.

e) Cash and cash equivalents (restricted)
These amounts include amounts received from clearing members  
to cover initial and variation margins and default fund contributions  
as collateral against default or insolvency and are deposited with 
banks. Such amounts are initially recognised at fair value and are 
subsequently recognised at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, if the time value of money is significant.

CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXATION
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax 
laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in 
the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and 
generate taxable income. 

Full provision is made, using the liability method, for temporary 
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred taxation 
is determined using tax rates that are substantially enacted at the 
balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the asset is 
realised or liability settled. Deferred tax assets are recognised to 
the extent it is probable that they will be recoverable against future 
taxable profits.

CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
Financial assets (excluding clearing business)
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: 
at fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale and loans and 
receivables. The classification depends on the purpose for which 
the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the 
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial 
assets held for liquidity purposes and are initially recognised at fair 
value and any subsequent changes in fair value are recognised 
directly in the income statement. These assets are financial 
instruments not designated as hedges.

b) Available-for-sale financial assets
Investments (other than term deposits and interests in joint ventures/
associates and subsidiaries) are designated as available for sale and 
are recorded on trade date at fair value plus transaction costs with 
changes in fair value recognised in equity. Where the fair value is not 
reliably measurable, the investment is held at cost less any provision 
for impairment. Assets such as shares in clearing and payment 
transmission operations and long term equity investments that do 
not qualify as associates or joint ventures are usually classified as 
available for sale.

c) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed  
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater  
than 12 months after the balance sheet date, which are classified as 
non-current assets. Loans and receivables comprise ‘trade and other 
receivables’ and cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet.

CASH AND CASH EQUIvALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents of the Group comprise cash at bank and 
term deposits that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF THE CENTRAL 
COUNTERPARTY (CCP) CLEARING BUSINESS
Assets and liabilities of the CCP clearing service relate to CC&G,  
the subsidiary that performs the CCP clearing business. CC&G 
clears financial derivatives, equities and bond transactions on Italian 
regulated markets, guaranteeing the successful receipt or delivery of 
securities for the transactions to be settled on both the bid and offer 
side of transactions with the respective counterparties. It enters into  
a contractual arrangement in respect of each side of the transaction, 
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Redeemable Class B shares issued in connection with the  
May 2006 capital return are carried at amortised cost, and  
presented as a financial liability. The dividend accrued in respect  
of the Class B shares has been classified within finance costs  
in the income statement. 

PROvISIONS
A provision is recognised where there is a present obligation,  
whether legal or constructive, as a result of a past event for which  
it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required  
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. Provision is made in the accounts for the 
lower of the cost of fulfilling lease commitments for property space 
surplus to business requirements after taking into account income 
from sub-letting, and any compensation or penalties arising from 
failure to fulfil the lease commitments. Such provisions are 
discounted where the time value of money is considered material.

SHARE CAPITAL
The Company’s own shares held by the ESOP trust are deducted 
from equity until they vest unconditionally in employees and are held 
at cost. Consideration paid in respect of these Treasury shares is 
deducted from equity until the shares are cancelled, reissued or 
disposed of.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares  
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

OPERATING LEASES
Rental costs for operating leases are charged to the income 
statement on a straight-line basis. Lease incentives are spread  
over the term of the lease. 

PENSION COSTS
The Group operates defined benefit and defined contribution  
pension schemes. For the defined benefit scheme the service cost, 
representing benefits accruing to employees, is included as an 
operating expense and the expected return on scheme assets and 
interest cost from unwinding of the discount on scheme obligations 
are included as finance income and finance expense respectively. 
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments, 
changes in actuarial assumptions or differences between actual and 
expected returns on assets are recognised at each period end net  
of tax in the statement of recognised income and expense. The net 
asset or liability recognised on the balance sheet comprises the 
difference between the present value of pension obligations and  
the fair value of scheme assets. For defined contribution schemes, 
the expense is charged to the income statement as incurred.

DERIvATIvE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIvITIES
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a 
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured  
at their fair value at each balance sheet date. The method of 
recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether or not  
the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument. The Group 
designates as cash flow hedges both foreign currency derivatives and 
hedges of interest rate movements associated with highly probable 
forecast transactions. Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument 
relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognised in equity.

The Group also hedges a proportion of its net investment in Borsa 
Italiana S.p.A. by designating euro borrowings as a net investment 
hedge.

In order to qualify for hedge accounting, a transaction must meet 
strict criteria as regards documentation, effectiveness, probability  
of occurrence and reliability of measurement. The Group documents 
at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging 
instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management 
objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedging transactions. 
Effectiveness testing is conducted at each reporting date and at the 
commencement and conclusion of any hedge in order to verify that 
the hedge continues to satisfy all the criteria for hedge accounting  
to be maintained. The effective proportion of the gain or loss on the 
hedging instrument is recognised directly in equity. The ineffective 
portion is recognised in the income statement within finance costs.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the income statement 
in the period when the hedged item affects profit or loss (for example, 
when the forecast transaction that is hedged takes place). When a 
hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer 
meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss 
existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised 
when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the income 
statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to 
occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is 
immediately transferred to the income statement.

TRADE RECEIvABLES
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are stated at their  
fair value which is usually the original invoiced amount less provision 
for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is 
established when there is objective evidence that the Group will  
not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms 
of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, 
probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial 
reorganisation and default or delinquency in payments are considered 
indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the 
provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of the portion deemed recoverable. The carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income 
statement. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written  
off are credited in the income statement.

BORROwINGS 
Bank borrowings are initially recorded at the fair value of amounts 
received, net of direct issue costs and transaction costs (including 
upfront facility fees). Subsequently, these liabilities are carried at 
amortised cost, and interest is charged to the income statement  
over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. 
Similarly direct issue costs and transaction costs (including upfront 
facility fees) are charged to the income statement over the period  
of the borrowings using the effective interest rate method.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market 
risk (including foreign exchange risk, fair value interest rate risk and 
cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk and the 
Group’s risk management programme seeks to minimise potential 
adverse effects on its financial performance.

Financial risk management is performed at both a Group level,  
where the treasury function identifies, evaluates and hedges  
financial risks from a Group perspective and, locally, where  
operating unit risk functions manage particular risks for regulatory  
or operational purposes.

Following its establishment in November 2008, the Treasury 
Committee, chaired by the CFO, approves those matters not 
reserved for the Board operating within Board approved policies 
covering foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and 
investment of excess liquidity.

A) MARKET RISK
(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates predominantly in the UK and Italy. Foreign 
exchange risk arises from translating the euro earnings, assets and 
liabilities of the Borsa Italiana sub-group from euro into sterling. 

The Group seeks to reduce its net asset exposure to movements 
between sterling and the euro by distributing its net euro denominated 
cash earnings in dividends and by raising an appropriate amount of its 
debt in euros. The Group’s euro debt is then serviced by cash 
generated by Borsa Italiana and its subsidiaries which, in turn,  
has some benefit in reducing Group income statement volatility  
to movements in exchange rates between sterling and the euro 
through euro denominated interest expense.

At 31 March 2009 £151.9m (2008: £152.6m) of the Group’s debt  
was denominated in euros and designated as a hedge of the net 
investment in Borsa Italiana. During the year to 31 March 2009 a  
gain of £24.8m (2008: £6.8m) on foreign currency borrowings was 
recognised in equity. There was no ineffectiveness of the hedge to  
be recognised in the income statement.

The Group reviews sensitivities to movements in exchange rates 
which are appropriate to market conditions. As at 31 March 2009 the 
Group has considered movements in the euro over the last year and 
has concluded that a 20 per cent movement in rates is a reasonable 
benchmark. At 31 March 2009, if sterling had weakened/strengthened 
by 20 per cent against the euro with all other variables held constant, 
post tax loss/profit for the year would have been unchanged (2008: 
unchanged); however, equity would have been £6.7m higher (2008: 
£6.6m higher)/£10.2m lower (2008: £9.1m lower). This reflects 
foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of euro denominated 
trade receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
and foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of euro 
denominated borrowings.

Group companies invoice revenues, incur expenses and purchase 
assets predominantly in their respective local currency, with the 
exception of EDX London Ltd where foreign exchange derivative 
contracts have been used to hedge forecast inflows in Swedish krona 
(see note 27 for further details). No sensitivity analysis has been 
prepared for movements in Swedish krona/sterling as this has been 
considered to be insignificant to the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements. During the year, LSE plc committed to certain contractual 
obligations in Canadian dollars with payments falling due after the end 
of the financial year. Derivative instruments were used to hedge these 

2. PRIOR YEAR ADjUSTMENT
The Group carries its bank borrowings and bonds at amortised cost, 
with interest charged to the income statement over the period of the 
borrowings using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. Its July 
2006 £250m bond paid an initial coupon of 5.875 per cent p.a. Due  
to amendments to the Company’s long term credit rating, the coupon 
increased to 6.125 per cent and 6.375 per cent in July 2007 and 
January 2008 respectively. For the purposes of its interim and annual 
financial statements at 30 September 2007 and 31 March 2008, the 
Group treated this bond as a floating rate instrument and, accordingly, 
did not reflect the impact of the expected future cash flows at the 
original EIR in its calculations. 

Following further consideration, the directors decided that, although 
there were good arguments for treating elements of the bond as 
floating rate, it was more appropriate to have treated this as a fixed 
rate instrument. Accordingly, the prior year financial statements have 
been adjusted by restating the carrying amount of the debt instrument 
by discounting the revised cash flows using the original EIR, with  
the resulting adjustments being recorded in the income statement  
as an exceptional finance cost. The resulting charge to the income 
statement will be offset following revisions to the EIR calculations, 
which will result in reduced future interest expense, over the 
remaining life of the bond.

The effect of these adjustments on the prior year is shown below: 

    Year ended 
    31 March 
    2008 
   Notes £m 

Effect on the income statement 
Profit for the financial year (as originally stated)    178.5
Finance expense: increase   10 (7.7)
Taxation charge reduction    2.2

Profit for the financial year (restated)    173.0

Effect on the balance sheet 
Net assets (as originally stated)    1,268.4
Borrowings increase    (7.7)
Current tax creditor decrease    2.2

Net assets (restated)    1,262.9

    Year ended 
    31 March 
    2008

Effect on earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share (as originally stated)    73.1p
Prior year adjustment    (2.3p)

Basic earnings per share (restated)    70.8p

Diluted earnings per share (as originally stated)    71.9p
Prior year adjustment    (2.2p)

Diluted earnings per share (restated)    69.7p

 
There was no effect on adjusted basic earnings per share as the bond 
adjustment is treated as an exceptional item. 
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Group companies assess the credit quality of their customers, taking 
into account their financial position and considering past experience 
and other factors. Trade receivables, net of impairment, are 
concentrated in the financial community, and are managed as one 
class of receivables. There is no concentration of credit risk with 
respect to trade receivables as the Group has a large number of 
customers and, generally, a low historic incidence of customer 
defaults. Given this, and the recurring nature of the billing and 
collection arrangements, management assess the credit quality  
of the Group’s customers as high.
 
CC&G, the Group’s Italian clearing business, eliminates counterparty 
risk for its members (mainly large financial institutions), becoming the 
guarantor of the final settlement of the contracts, acting as a buyer 
towards each seller and as a seller towards each buyer. As a result 
CC&G faces credit risk if it incurs losses from the deterioration in  
the creditworthiness or the default of a counterparty for which risks 
have been guaranteed in the performance of its role as central 
counterparty (CCP) clearer. To mitigate against this risk it has 
established a financial safeguarding system to cover the potential 
effects of single or multiple defaults of market participants which  
is based on three levels of protection: 

1. Clearing membership selection on the basis of supervisory capital, 
technical and organisational criteria; 

2. Margin accounts – each member must pay margins to cover  
the theoretical costs of liquidation which CC&G would incur in order  
to close out open positions in the event of the member’s default. 
Margins are computed daily according to recognised margining 
methodologies applied as appropriate for equities and fixed income 
elements of the portfolio; and 

3. Default funds – clearing members participate in default funds 
managed by CC&G and created for the purpose of guaranteeing  
the integrity of the markets in the event of multiple defaults in extreme 
market circumstances, in line with risk management standards agreed 
by the European Association of Central Counterparty Clearing 
Houses. These amounts are determined on the basis of the results  
of periodic stress testing examined by CC&G’s risk committee. 
 
The Group invests its cash resources in deposits with banks and 
financial institutions. 

Credit risk with respect to cash and cash equivalents is managed by 
establishing minimum creditworthiness criteria, limiting the maximum 
exposure to each counterparty. The Company only uses banks that 
are independently rated with a minimum rating of Aa3 (per Moody’s). 
Individual counterparties are currently limited to deposits of £10m for 
periods not exceeding 12 months, a reduction in the current year from 
the £15m used previously to reflect the greater market uncertainty in 
recent months. CC&G is required to invest cash with counterparties 
that are either investment grade or who have a minimum level of 
capital, and for periods of up to 12 months in an amount dependent 
on the credit quality of the counterparty, and works closely with the 
Bank of Italy to monitor this risk. Other cash resources within the 
Borsa Italiana sub-group are held on call or on deposit for short 
periods only. 

The Group limits the transacting of derivatives to a limited number  
of well-capitalised, relationship based, counterparties each of whom 
has an appropriate depth of coverage and expertise.

highly probable flows. As at 31 March 2009, if sterling had weakened/
strengthened by 15 per cent against the Canadian dollar with all other 
variables held constant, post tax profit would have been unaffected 
with £1.3m/£1.0m increase/decrease to hedging reserve within 
equity in the balance sheet, as these hedges were fully effective  
for accounting purposes. 

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, 
investments in financial assets and borrowings. 

Changes in market interest rates mean that investments and 
borrowings subject to variable rates expose the Group to the risk that 
future associated cash flows will fluctuate, and those subject to fixed 
rates expose the Group to the risk that the fair value of the financial 
instrument will fluctuate. 

As a medium term objective the Group seeks to maintain a proportion 
of its borrowings at fixed rates of interest. 

In November 2008, the Group cancelled a gilt lock instrument,  
which had been held to hedge the interest rate risk on a future 
forecast transaction that was no longer deemed highly probable  
(see note 27). An exceptional charge of £10.6m was recognised  
in the income statement. This effectively reduced the proportion  
of the Group’s borrowings held at fixed rates of interest. 

In January and March 2009, interest rate swaps were used to  
hedge the exposure on €120m (2008: nil) of the Group’s floating rate 
borrowings achieving a blended fixed rate payable of 2.42 per cent 
per annum in return for three month Euribor receivable. These hedges 
were designated cash flow hedges and were fully effective at  
31 March 2009.
 
At 31 March 2009 60 per cent (2008: 72 per cent) of the Group’s net 
debt was effectively at fixed rates after taking into account the effect 
of derivative financial instruments. 

The Group reviews sensitivities for movements in interest rates which 
are appropriate to market conditions. The Group has considered the 
volatility of interest rates over the last year and has concluded that  
a two per cent upward movement and a one per cent downward 
movement reflect reasonable levels of risk to current rates.
 
At 31 March 2009, if interest rates on sterling-denominated and 
euro-denominated cash and borrowings had been two per cent higher 
with all other variables held constant, post tax profit for the year 
would have been £1.6m (2008: £5.0m) lower mainly as a result of 
higher interest expense on floating rate borrowings. 

At 31 March 2009, if interest rates on sterling-denominated and 
euro-denominated borrowings had been one per cent lower with all 
other variables held constant, post tax profit for the year would have 
been £0.8m (2008: £2.5m) higher, mainly as a result of lower interest 
expense on floating rate borrowings. 

B) CREDIT RISK
Credit risk is the risk that the Group’s counterparties will be unable to 
meet their obligations to the Group either in part or in full and arises 
from credit exposures to customers as well as on cash, deposits and 
derivative financial instruments with banks and financial institutions. 

Credit risk is controlled through policies developed both at a Group 
level and, where appropriate, with regulators at an individual 
subsidiary level. 
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        Less than  Between 1 Between 2 Over 
       1 year  and 2 years   and 5 years   5 years  
At 31 March 2009      £m   £m   £m   £m 

Borrowings      2.3 180.0 193.8 250.0
Derivative financial instruments      1.6 – – –
Trade and other payables      112.9 – – –
CCP liabilities      35,679.2 – – –

       35,796.0 180.0 193.8 250.0

        Less than  Between 1 Between 2 Over 
       1 year  and 2 years   and 5 years   5 years  
At 31 March 2008      £m   £m   £m   £m 

Borrowings       436.4 – – 250.0
Derivative financial instruments       7.9 – – –
Trade and other payables       146.2 – – –
CCP liabilities       17,307.7 – – –

       17,898.2 – – 250.0

C) LIQUIDITY RISK
The Company is exposed to liquidity risk to the extent that it is unable 
to meet its daily payment obligations. The Group maintains sufficient 
cash and marketable securities together with the availability of funding 
through adequate committed credit facilities to meet all its financial 
obligations as these fall due. 

In addition to the day to day liquidity requirements of Group 
companies, CC&G and certain other subsidiary companies are 
required to maintain a level of liquidity within their own legal entities 
(see note 4 for further information) to meet regulatory requirements 
and/or ensure the smooth operation of their respective markets. 

Group businesses are profitable and generate significant free cash 
flow. This free cash flow is available to the Group to invest in capital 
expenditure, acquisitions, dividend payments, other returns of capital 
or to reduce debt. 

Management monitors forecasts of the Group’s liquidity, prepared  
to reflect expected cash flow, and overlays sensitivities to these 
forecasts to reflect assumptions about more difficult market 

conditions. The Group manages liquidity risk by depositing funds  
with counterparties of high quality in accordance with Board  
approved policy. 
 
Treasury policy also requires that the Group maintains adequate 
credit facilities to at least cover its funding requirements for the  
next 12 months. Significant headroom is maintained in its committed, 
revolving credit facilities to provide additional liquidity and much 
attention has been given during the year to the ongoing credit quality 
of the Group’s lending banks. At 31 March 2009 £283.5m of these 
facilities were unutilised (2008: £200.0m). 

Separately, CC&G has access to committed and uncommitted lines 
of credit with intra-day financing from the Bank of Italy to meet the 
cash requirements related to settlement (see note 28). 
 
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant 
maturity groupings based on the remaining period from the balance 
sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed 
in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
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4. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group seeks to reduce its cost of capital and to provide superior 
returns to its shareholders, whilst fulfilling its obligations to the 
relevant regulatory authorities and other stakeholders. 

Capital comprises resources that are raised by the Group from its 
shareholders (equity capital) and from its lenders (debt capital). 
Details of the Group’s equity capital are set out in note 32 and details 
of the Group’s debt capital (current and non-current) are set out in 
note 28. 
 
The Group monitors capital in a number of ways, including on the 
basis of the ratio of Net debt to EBITDA. This ratio is calculated as 
total current and non-current borrowings less the cash and cash 
equivalents that are set aside to meet regulatory requirements and 
compares this with its EBITDA (Group consolidated earnings before 
goodwill impairment, depreciation, amortisation, exceptional
items, taxation, profit on disposal of associate and net finance
expense).

Net debt to EBITDA at 31 March 2009 was 1.6 times on an actual 
basis (2008: 1.7 times restated on a pro forma basis, as if the merger 
with Borsa Italiana had taken place on 1 April 2007). In managing its 
Net debt to EBITDA ratio the Group has regard to its weighted 
average cost of capital (WACC) and its strategic objective of an 
investment grade credit rating. The methods by which the Group  
may adjust its capital structure would principally include returns to 
shareholders, issues of new shares, and increases or reductions  
of debt. 

The Group is required to maintain certain levels of liquidity within 
certain operating entities for regulatory and operational purposes.  
As at 31 March 2009 £125m (2008: £125m) was set aside to meet 
these requirements (including a buffer to absorb short term 
fluctuations), with the amount subject to ongoing review with 
regulators in the UK and Italy. 

5. SIGNIFICANT jUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
Judgements and estimates are regularly evaluated based on historical 
experience, current circumstances and expectations of future events.

The critical judgements and estimates made in the preparation of the 
financial statements are set out below. The actual outcome may be 
materially different from that anticipated:

a) Goodwill is tested for impairment annually. The recoverable 
amounts of relevant cash generating units are based on value in  
use calculations using management’s best estimate of future 
performance, and estimates of the return required by shareholders  
to determine an appropriate discount rate;

b) The determination of the defined benefit pension asset or liability 
is based on the present value of future pension obligations using 
assumptions determined by the Group with advice from an 
independent qualified actuary;

c) Purchased intangible assets are amortised over their estimated 
useful economic lives. These lives are based on value in use 
calculations using management’s best estimate of future 
performance;

d) The property provision is determined taking into consideration 
future expected receipts from sub-letting and future property costs 
based on advice from independent property advisers;

e) Estimates are required in determining the provision for income 
taxes. The Group recognises liabilities for the estimated tax charge  
at the period end and where the final tax liability is different from that 
estimate, such differences are reflected in the period in which such 
determination is made; and

f) The determination in the Company’s financial statements of the 
value of the subsidiary companies, London Stock Exchange plc and 
Borsa Italiana S.p.A., is based on their forecast cash flows, and an 
appropriate discount rate. The basis of such values cannot be precise 
and is subject to market variations in both cases.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 
Segmental disclosures for the year ended 31 March 2009 are shown below. 

    Issuer Trading   Information   Post Trade   Other  Corporate Group 
    £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Revenue          
Total revenue    90.6 277.0 183.9 111.4 38.1 – 701.0
Inter-segmental revenue    (0.2) (1.7) (1.0) (7.4) (19.3) – (29.6)

External revenue    90.4 275.3 182.9 104.0 18.8 – 671.4

Expenses          
Depreciation and software amortisation    (3.4) (15.0) (12.5) (3.1) (1.9) (0.5) (36.4)
Other non-exceptional expenses    (48.9) (117.7) (75.0) (33.7) (12.8) (8.3) (296.4)

Adjusted operating profit   38.1 142.6 95.4 67.2 4.1 (8.8) 338.6

Amortisation of purchased intangible assets   (4.6) (13.5) (6.7) (24.6) – – (49.4)
Exceptional integration costs (see note 9)    (0.9) (3.2) (3.4) (4.0) (0.9) (2.8) (15.2)

Operating profit before impairment    32.6 125.9 85.3 38.6 3.2 (11.6) 274.0

Impairment of goodwill   (107.6) (250.0) (40.9) (85.5) – – (484.0)

Operating profit (segment result)    (75.0) (124.1) 44.4 (46.9) 3.2 (11.6) (210.0)

Finance income    – – – – – 20.8 20.8
Finance expense    – – – – – (65.7) (65.7)
Share of profit after tax of joint ventures/associates   – (0.1) 2.2 – – – 2.1
Profit on disposal of associate   – 2.0 – – – – 2.0

Assets    149.1 631.9 322.5 36,386.5 51.8 72.2 37,614.0
Investment in joint ventures/associates    – 1.9 1.7 – – – 3.6

Total assets    149.1 633.8 324.2 36,386.5 51.8 72.2 37,617.6

Liabilities    (25.4) (84.3) (52.2) (35,721.7) (18.4) (662.4) (36,564.4)

Capital expenditure    4.1 27.4 13.4 1.6 8.2 4.5 59.2

Comparative segmental disclosures for the year ended 31 March 2008 are as follows:  
  
    Issuer Trading   Information   Post Trade   Other  Corporate Group 
    £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 
          (restated)   (restated) 

Revenue 
Total revenue    82.5 265.1 143.8 46.0 20.5 – 557.9
Inter-segmental revenue    (0.1) (0.4) (0.2) (3.2) (7.6) – (11.5)

External revenue    82.4 264.7 143.6 42.8 12.9 – 546.4

Expenses 
Depreciation and software amortisation    (3.0) (13.9) (5.2) (3.4) (0.8) (0.6) (26.9)
Other non-exceptional expenses    (41.6) (87.5) (58.4) (15.3) (11.4) (16.3) (230.5)

Adjusted operating profit    37.8 163.3 80.0 24.1 0.7 (16.9) 289.0
Amortisation of purchased intangible assets   (2.0) (5.9) (2.9) (10.7) – – (21.5)
Exceptional integration costs (see note 9)   (0.2) (0.3) (0.3) – – (1.5) (2.3)

Operating profit (segment result)    35.6 157.1 76.8 13.4 0.7 (18.4) 265.2

Finance income    – – – – – 18.8 18.8
Finance expense    – – – – – (59.2) (59.2)
Share of profit after tax of joint venture/associates   – 0.1 2.1 – – – 2.2

Assets    232.3 801.1 319.5 18,015.8 42.4 148.9 19,560.0
Investment in joint venture/associates    – 2.0 2.2 – – – 4.2

Total assets    232.3 803.1 321.7 18,015.8 42.4 148.9 19,564.2

Liabilities    (32.2) (71.8) (47.7) (17,368.0) (23.6) (758.0) (18,301.3)

Capital expenditure    4.8 15.4 6.4 0.1 1.5 0.1 28.3

The Other segment represents property sub-letting and activities not directly related to the four main business segments and which do not 
individually constitute separately reportable segments. Corporate expenses are for corporate services which cannot reasonably be allocated  
to business segments. Other costs are allocated according to appropriate metrics, e.g. headcount or floor space.
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Geographical disclosure 

          2009 2008 
Revenue         £m £m

UK         349.6 371.2
Italy         170.7 79.1
Other         151.1 96.1

Total         671.4 546.4

Revenue is allocated based on the country in which the customer is located.
          2009 2008 
Total assets         £m £m

UK         252.4 320.1
Italy         37,361.6 19,239.9

         37,614.0 19,560.0

Joint ventures – UK         1.1 1.9
Joint ventures – Japan        0.6 – 
Associates – Italy         1.9 2.3

Total         37,617.6 19,564.2

  
         2009 2008 
Capital expenditure        £m £m

UK         47.5 26.3
Italy         11.7 2.0

Total         59.2 28.3

Capital expenditure is allocated based on where the assets are located.

7. EXPENSES BY NATURE  
Expenses comprise the following:  
          2009 2008 
        Notes £m £m

Employee costs        8 113.3 99.5
Depreciation and software amortisation         36.4 26.9
Amortisation of purchased intangible assets and exceptional costs      9 64.6 23.8
Other costs         183.1 131.0

Total before impairment         397.4 281.2
Goodwill impairment       15 484.0 –

Total expenses        881.4 281.2

Foreign exchange gains or losses included in the income statement are immaterial.

8. EMPLOYEE COSTS
Employee costs comprise the following:
         2009 2008 
        Notes £m £m

Salaries and other short term benefits         82.4 69.9
Social security costs         13.9 11.9
Pension costs        21  6.8 5.4
Share based compensation        37  10.2 12.3

Total         113.3 99.5

  
The number of employees in the Group was:  
       2009  2008

      UK Italy Total UK Italy Total

At the year end     570 565 1,135 599 611 1,210 
Average for the year     592 583 1,175 514 358 872 

The Company has no employees.
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9. IMPAIRMENT, AMORTISATION OF PURCHASED INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

          2009 2008 
          £m £m 
        Notes  (restated) 

Impairment of goodwill        15 (484.0) –
Amortisation of purchased intangible assets        15 (49.4) (21.5)
Integration costs         (15.2) (2.3)

Total affecting operating profit         (548.6) (23.8)

Exceptional finance costs:
Bond adjustment to reflect changes in valuation of cash flows       3.7 (7.7)
Loss on cash flow hedge recycled to income statement        (7.9) –
Loss on gilt lock contract in the year         (2.7) –

Total affecting profit before tax         (555.5) (31.5)

Tax effect on items affecting profit before tax and tax exceptional items 
Deferred tax on amortisation of purchased intangible assets       8.5 3.7
Tax effect on other items affecting profit before tax       6.2 2.9
Credit to taxation in respect of change of Italian tax rate       11  – 19.7

Total tax effect on items affecting profit before tax and tax exceptional items      14.7 26.3

Total charge to income statement         (540.8) (5.2)

Integration costs relate to the integration of the businesses of the London Stock Exchange and Borsa Italiana, and include costs of integrating 
trading systems and websites as well as staff related costs. The change of Italian tax rate on 1 January 2008 affected the value of deferred tax 
liabilities acquired, resulting in a credit to the taxation account.  

10. NET FINANCE EXPENSE 

          2009 2008 
          £m £m 
        Notes  (restated)

Finance income
Bank deposit and other interest income         7.5 6.3
Expected return on defined benefit pension scheme assets       21 13.0 12.3
Investment income         0.3 0.2

         20.8 18.8

Finance expense 
Interest payable on bank and other borrowings         (40.4) (34.5)
Other finance expense         (2.8) (3.1)
Interest on discounted provision for leasehold properties        (1.2) (1.3)
Defined benefit pension scheme interest expense       (14.4) (12.6)

         (58.8) (51.5)

Exceptional finance expense 
Bond adjustment to reflect change in future coupon       3.7 (7.7)
Loss on cash flow hedge recycled to income statement       (7.9) –
Loss on gilt lock contract in the year         (2.7) –

Total exceptional finance expense        (6.9) (7.7)

         (65.7) (59.2)

Net finance expense         (44.9) (40.4)

Due to deteriorating market conditions, a proposed bond issue was deemed as improbable during the year and so the hedging relationship with 
a gilt lock interest rate contract ended. As a result the accumulated mark to market loss charged through reserves was recycled to the income 
statement. This and the loss incurred on settlement in December have been disclosed as exceptional finance expense.



THE wORLD’S CAPITAL MARKET

London Stock Exchange Group
Annual Report 2009 69

11. TAXATION 

         2009 2008 
         £m £m 
Taxation charged to the income statement           (restated) 

Current tax:  
UK corporation tax for the year at 28% (last year 30%)        42.4 55.8
Overseas tax for the year         46.7 22.7
Adjustments in respect of previous years         (4.3) (1.7)

         84.8 76.8
Deferred tax (see note 19): 
Deferred tax for the current year         3.1 2.3
Adjustments in respect of previous years         2.6 0.5
Exceptional credit to deferred tax in respect of Italian tax rate change       – (19.7)
Deferred tax on amortisation of purchased intangible assets       (8.5) (3.7)
Foreign exchange         – (2.2)

Taxation charge         82.0 54.0

The adjustments in respect of previous years’ corporation tax are mainly in respect of tax returns agreed with relevant tax authorities.

         2009 2008 
Taxation on items (credited)/charged to equity        £m £m

Current tax credit:  
Tax allowance on share options/awards in excess of expense recognised       (1.1) (5.7)

Deferred tax charge/(credit):  
Defined benefit pension scheme actuarial (losses)/gains        (3.2) 6.3
Tax allowance on share options/awards in excess of expense recognised       2.1 3.1
Change in UK tax rate         – 0.2

Factors affecting the tax charge for the year 
The reconciling items between the profits multiplied by the UK rate of corporation tax 28 per cent (2008: 30 per cent) and the income statement 
tax charge for the year are explained below:  
  
          2009 2008 
          £m £m 
           (restated) 

(Loss)/profit before taxation         (250.8) 227.0 
  
(Loss)/profit multiplied by the UK rate of corporation tax at 28 per cent (2008: 30 per cent)     (70.2) 68.2 
  
Expenses not deductible         10.5 2.5 
Impairment of goodwill        135.5 –
Share of joint ventures and associates consolidated at profit after tax       (0.6) (1.0)
Exceptional credit to deferred tax in respect of Italian tax rate change       – (19.7)
Overseas earnings taxed at higher rate         3.2 3.5 
Adjustments in respect of previous years         (1.7) (1.2)
Amortisation of purchased intangible assets        5.3 2.7
Other         – (1.0)

Taxation charge         82.0 54.0 

  
The weighted average tax rate for the Group was 30 per cent (2008: 32 per cent).
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
Earnings per share is presented on four bases: basic earnings per share; diluted earnings per share; adjusted basic earnings per share; and 
adjusted diluted earnings per share. Basic earnings per share is in respect of all activities and diluted earnings per share takes into account  
the dilution effects which would arise on conversion or vesting of share options and share awards under the Employee Share Ownership Plan 
(ESOP). Adjusted basic earnings per share and adjusted diluted earnings per share exclude goodwill impairment, amortisation of purchased 
intangible assets and exceptional items to enable comparison of the underlying earnings of the business with prior periods. 

         2009 2008 
          (restated)

Basic earnings per share         (126.1)p 70.8p 
Diluted earnings per share         (126.1)p 69.7p 
Adjusted basic earnings per share         74.2p  73.1p 
Adjusted diluted earnings per share         73.6p 71.9p
  
         £m £m 

(Loss)/profit for the financial year attributable to equity holders       (338.0) 168.3 
Adjustments: 
Amortisation of purchased intangible assets        49.4 21.5 
Impairment of goodwill (note 15)        484.0 –
Integration costs        15.2 2.3
Exceptional finance costs        6.9 7.7
Tax effect of amortisation and exceptional items and tax exceptional item      (14.7)  (24.1)
Exceptional items, amortisation and taxation attributable to minority interests     (3.9) (1.9) 

Adjusted profit for the financial year attributable to equity holders       198.9 173.8 

Weighted average number of shares – million         268.1 237.8 
Effect of dilutive share options and awards – million        – 3.8 

Diluted weighted average number of shares – million       268.1 241.6 

The weighted average number of shares excludes those held in the ESOP. The effect of dilutive share options and awards is 2.0 million  
(2008: 3.8 million), and applies only to adjusted earnings per share in the current year.

13. DIvIDENDS 

         2009 2008 
         £m £m

Final dividend for 2008 paid August 2008: 16.0p per Ordinary share (2007: 12.0p)     42.9 23.8 
Interim dividend for 2009 paid January 2009: 8.4p per Ordinary share (2008: 8.0p)     22.4 22.2 

          65.3 46.0 

  
The Board has proposed a final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2009 of 16.0 pence per share, which is estimated to amount to 
£42.8m, to be paid on 17 August 2009.

The right to non-cumulative preference dividends on the remaining Redeemable Class B shares is discussed in note 32.

14. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT 

      Land and buildings
       Plant and
       Freehold Leasehold equipment Total 
Group      £m £m £m £m

Cost:  
1 April 2007       45.3 42.7 29.8 117.8
Additions       0.2 0.1 8.1 8.4
Acquisition of subsidiaries       11.3 – 4.9 16.2
Foreign exchange       1.6 – 0.7 2.3
Disposals       – – (0.1) (0.1)

31 March 2008       58.4 42.8 43.4 144.6
Additions       – 4.1 16.0 20.1
Foreign exchange       2.2 – 1.2 3.4
Disposals       (0.6) (0.3) (7.6) (8.5)

31 March 2009       60.0 46.6 53.0 159.6 
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      Land and buildings
       Plant and
       Freehold Leasehold equipment Total 
Group      £m £m £m £m

Depreciation:  
1 April 2007       25.8 14.8 18.4 59.0
Charge for the year       0.7 5.1 7.1 12.9
Foreign exchange       0.1 – (0.1) –
Disposals       – – (0.1) (0.1)

31 March 2008       26.6 19.9 25.3 71.8
Charge for the year       1.4 5.4 9.3 16.1
Foreign exchange       0.1 – 0.1 0.2
Disposals       (0.6) (0.3) (7.5) (8.4)

31 March 2009       27.5 25.0 27.2 79.7

Net book values:  

31 March 2009        32.5 21.6 25.8 79.9

31 March 2008       31.8 22.9 18.1 72.8

  
The Company has no property, plant and equipment.  

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

         Purchased 
         intangible 
        Goodwill   Software  assets Total 
Group       £m £m £m £m

Cost:          
1 April 2007       32.2 111.3 – 143.5
Additions       – 19.9 – 19.9
Acquisition of subsidiaries       917.3 5.6 635.2 1,558.1
Foreign exchange       132.7 0.8 93.1 226.6

31 March 2008       1,082.2 137.6 728.3 1,948.1
Additions       0.5 35.2 0.9 36.6
Disposals       – (8.6) – (8.6)
Foreign exchange       170.6 1.1 116.7 288.4

31 March 2009       1,253.3 165.3 845.9 2,264.5

Amortisation and accumulated impairment:          
1 April 2007       21.1 66.6 – 87.7
Amortisation charge for the year       – 14.0 21.5 35.5
Disposals       – – 3.0 3.0

31 March 2008       21.1 80.6 24.5 126.2
Amortisation charge for the year      – 20.3 49.4 69.7
Impairment charge      484.0 – – 484.0
Disposals       – (8.5) – (8.5)
Foreign exchange       – – 8.2 8.2

31 March 2009       505.1 92.4 82.1 679.6

  
Net book values:          

31 March 2009       748.2 72.9 763.8 1,584.9

31 March 2008       1,061.1 57.0 703.8 1,821.9

The purchased intangible assets arising on consolidation represent customer relationships, brands, software and licences relating to  
Borsa Italiana and EDX.

The Company has no intangible assets.

Impairment tests for goodwill
Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to nine cash generating units (CGUs). The Borsa Italiana group comprises seven 
of these CGUs (Issuer, Equities Trading, Derivatives Trading, Fixed Income Trading, Information Services, Post Trade Services and Others) and 
Proquote Ltd and EDX London Ltd each constitute one CGU.
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The recoverable amounts of these CGUs have been determined based on value in use calculations, using discounted cash flow projections 
prepared by management covering the five year period ending 31 March 2014. Cash flows beyond this period are extrapolated using the 
estimated long term growth rates and applying the pre-tax discount rates referred to below.

The amount of the net book value of goodwill allocated to each CGU is set out below.

          Pre-tax 
       Net book value of goodwill   discount rate
          used in value 
     31 March  Foreign  31 March in use 
     2008 Additions  exchange   Impairment  2009 calculations 
Cash generating unit     £m £m £m £m £m 

Borsa Italiana group:          
Issuer     115.0 – 18.6 (107.6) 26.0 13.2%
Equities Trading    140.0 – 22.7 (94.2) 68.5 13.6%
Derivatives Trading    26.4 – 4.3 – 30.7 13.5%
Fixed Income Trading    195.4 – 31.7 (155.8) 71.3 12.8% 
Information Services    152.1 – 24.6 (29.8) 146.9 13.7%
Post Trade    405.7 – 65.7 (85.5) 385.9 13.8%
Other    15.4 – 3.0 – 18.4 10.9%

Proquote Ltd    11.1 – – (11.1) – 11.5%
EDX London Ltd    – 0.5 – – 0.5 

     1,061.1 0.5 170.6 (484.0) 748.2 

Management has based its value in use calculations for each CGU on key assumptions about short and medium term revenue and cost growth, 
long term economic growth rates (used to determine terminal values) and pre-tax discount rates.
 
The values assigned to short and medium term revenue and cost growth assumptions reflect current trends, anticipated market  
developments, discussions with customers and suppliers, and management’s experience, taking account of an expected recovery  
in underlying financial markets.
 
Long term growth rates (assumed to be 2.5 per cent for each of the Borsa Italiana group CGUs, and 3.0 per cent for Proquote and EDX) 
represent management’s internal forecasts based on external estimates of GDP and inflation for the ten year period 1 January 2004 to  
31 December 2013, and do not exceed the long term average growth rates for the countries in which the CGUs operate.
 
Pre-tax discount rates are based on a number of factors including the risk-free rates in Italy and the UK, as appropriate, the Group’s estimated 
market risk premium and a premium to reflect the inherent risks of each of the CGUs.
 
The impairments detailed in the table above were all written off against goodwill and were driven by the significant deterioration in the economic 
conditions in the markets concerned, corresponding reductions in expected revenues, greater uncertainty about the future and changes in 
applicable discount rates.
 
Value in use calculations for each CGU are sensitive to changes in short and medium term revenue and cost growth assumptions, long term 
growth rates and pre-tax discount rates. The impact on value in use of a change in these assumptions is shown below:

       Impact on value in use of:
       
        0.5% 
     Excess  0.5% increase
      of value 5% 5% reduction in pre-tax 
      in use over reduction in increase in long-term discount 
      carrying value revenues in costs growth rate rate 
Cash generating unit     £m £m £m £m £m

Borsa Italiana group:
Issuer     – (15.7) (10.0) (5.8) (5.6)
Equities Trading     – (24.3) (14.3) (11.0) (10.4)
Derivatives Trading     28.8 (11.4) (7.2) (4.6) (4.3)
Fixed Income Trading     – (20.5) (10.9) (9.6) (9.5)
Information Services     – (24.3) (11.7) (12.7) (11.6)
Post Trade     – (55.3) (18.5) (32.6) (29.5)
Other     4.0 (5.6) (3.8) (1.4) (1.6)  

Proquote Ltd     – (3.4) (3.6) – –

Management believes goodwill allocated to EDX London Ltd is unlikely to be impaired under any reasonable changes to key assumptions.  
The excess of value in use over carrying value is determined by reference to the carrying value, post impairment charge, as at 31 March 2009. 
Revenue and cost sensitivities assume a five per cent change in revenues or costs for each of the five years in the value in use calculations.
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16. INvESTMENTS IN jOINT vENTURES 
The Group owns 50 per cent of the 1,000 £1 issued equity shares in FTSE International Ltd (FTSE), a company incorporated in Great Britain 
which distributes financial information. FTSE is a joint venture with The Financial Times Ltd, a subsidiary of Pearson plc. The Group investment 
of £2.4m represents the Group’s share of the joint venture’s net assets as at 31 December 2008, its accounting reference date. 

The following amounts represent the Group’s 50 per cent share of the revenue and expenses and assets and liabilities of FTSE for the years 
ended 31 December 2007 and 2008.
         2008 2007 
          £m £m

Revenue         36.7  29.4
Expenses, including tax         (34.3) (27.4)

Profit after tax         2.4  2.0

Non-current assets         4.7  3.5
Current assets         16.2  16.7

Total assets         20.9  20.2
Current liabilities         (18.0) (18.0)
Non-current liabilities         (0.5) (0.3)

Total liabilities         (18.5) (18.3)

Net assets         2.4  1.9

During the year, the Group invested £0.6m in TOKYO AIM, a company incorporated in Japan to provide secondary market listings in Tokyo. 
TOKYO AIM is a joint venture with the Tokyo Stock Exchange Group, a company incorporated in Japan, and the Group has recognised its share 
of TOKYO AIM’s loss in the income statement. On 14 May 2009, the Group signed a shareholders’ agreement with Tokyo Stock Exchange 
Group formalising the funding and governance of TOKYO AIM. As a result, a further £6.1m was invested into the joint venture.

         2009 2008 
          £m £m

Share of net assets of FTSE at 31 December 2008        2.4  1.9
Dividend paid by FTSE in March 2009         (1.3) –
Share of TOKYO AIM         0.6  –

Investments in joint ventures at 31 March        1.7  1.9

The Group is entitled, under a shareholders’ agreement, to receive royalties from FTSE. The amount receivable by the Group from FTSE for the 
year ended 31 March 2009 was £8.2m (2008: £6.7m). 

During the year the Group received dividends of £3.5m (2008: £2.1m) from FTSE. The final dividend for 2008, of which the Group’s share is 
£1.3m, was approved by the shareholders and paid after the publication of FTSE’s 31 December 2008 results. 
 

17. INvESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

         2009 2008 
         £m £m

1 April         2.3  –
From acquisition of subsidiaries         – 2.1 
Share of (loss)/profit after tax         (0.1) 0.2 
Share of capital decrease and dividend distribution        (0.1) (0.3)
Disposal         (0.6)  –
Foreign exchange         0.4  0.3

31 March         1.9   2.3 

The Group’s share of the results of its principal associates, all of which are unlisted and have a reporting date of 31 December, and their 
aggregated assets and liabilities are as follows:  
           % 
     Country of Assets Liabilities Revenues Profit/(loss)  interest 
      incorporation £m £m £m £m  held 

MTS Amsterdam NV    The Netherlands  1.2   0.1   0.7  0.1 30.0%
MTS France SA     France  2.3   0.5   2.0  0.1 22.5% 
MTS Associated Markets     Belgium  2.4   0.9   1.8  0.1  20.0% 
MTS Portugal SA     Portugal  1.9   0.3   0.7  0.1 15.0% 
MTS España SA     Spain  1.3   0.3   1.0  (0.2) 30.0% 

In March 2009, the Group’s 25.0 per cent stake in MTS CeTO was sold for a profit of £2.0m.
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18. INvESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS 

        Shares   Loans   Total  
Company        £m   £m   £m 

1 April 2007         3,268.2  (38.6)  3,229.6 
Acquisition of shares in Borsa Italiana S.p.A.         1,322.1  –  1,322.1 
Other movements during the year        – (18.6) (18.6)

1 April 2008        4,590.3  (57.2)  4,533.1
Impairment       (768.9) – (768.9)
Disposal of Borsa Italiana S.p.A.       (1,322.1) – (1,322.1)
Acquisition of London Stock Exchange Group Holdings (Italy) Ltd     905.2 416.9 1,322.1 
Other movements during the year        – (15.9) (15.9)

31 March 2009        3,404.5  343.8 3,748.3 

During the year the Company acquired London Stock Exchange Group Holdings (Italy) Ltd for a nominal value. On 31 March 2009 as part of an 
internal reorganisation, the Company disposed of Borsa Italiana S.p.A. to London Stock Exchange Group Holdings (Italy) Ltd for £1,322.1m, 
financed by share capital of £18.7m, share premium of £886.5m and loan notes of £416.9m.

At 31 March 2009, the Company recognised an impairment charge amounting to £768.9m relating to its investment in its subsidiary London 
Stock Exchange plc.
 
This impairment was based on a value in use calculation using discounted cash flow projections prepared by management covering the five year 
period ending 31 March 2014, in which short and medium term revenue and cost growth assumptions reflect current trends, anticipated market 
developments, discussions with customers and suppliers, and management’s experience, taking account of an expected recovery in underlying 
financial markets. Cash flows beyond this five year period were extrapolated using a 3.0 per cent long term growth rate, and a 12.4 per cent pre 
tax discount rate was applied to the resulting projections.
 
The carrying value of the investment in London Stock Exchange plc arose as a result of the group reconstruction in May 2006 when the 
Company became the holding company of London Stock Exchange plc pursuant to a scheme of arrangement.
 
The impairment was driven by the significant deterioration in the economic conditions in the UK, corresponding reductions in expected 
revenues, greater uncertainty about the future and a change in the discount rate.

Based on the results of the value in use calculations referred to in note 15, no impairment of the carrying value of the Company’s investment  
in Borsa Italiana S.p.A. was considered necessary.

         Country of %  
      Principal  Country of principal Equity and 
Principal subsidiaries:     activity  incorporation operations votes held

Held directly by the Company: 
London Stock Exchange plc   Recognised investment exchange    UK   UK  100
London Stock Exchange Group Holdings (Italy) Ltd Holding company  UK UK 100
London Stock Exchange Group Holdings Ltd   Holding company    UK   UK  100

Held indirectly by the Company:  
Borsa Italiana S.p.A.   Recognised investment exchange  Italy Italy 99.96
Cassa di Compensazione e Garanzia S.p.A.     CCP for clearing    Italy   Italy  86.36
Monte Titoli S.p.A.  Pre-settlement, settlement and centralised custody    Italy   Italy  98.77
Servizio Titoli S.p.A.    Corporate secretary advisory    Italy   Italy  90
BIt Systems S.p.A.     ICT Systems & Services    Italy   Italy  100
Piazza Affari Gestione & Servizi S.p.A.     Facility management    Italy   Italy  100
Societá per il Mercato dei Titoli di Stato S.p.A.    Wholesale fixed income bonds    Italy   Italy  60.37
EuroMTS Ltd    Wholesale fixed income bonds    UK   UK  60.37
MTS Deutschland AG    Wholesale fixed income bonds    Germany   Germany  60.37
MTSNext Ltd   Wholesale fixed income bonds  UK UK 60.37
EDX London Ltd    Derivatives exchange    UK   UK  100
Proquote Ltd     Market data provider    UK   UK  100
Baikal Global Ltd   Trading facility  UK UK 100
The Stock Exchange (Properties) Ltd     Property company    UK   UK  100

The Group acquired the 24 per cent of equity in EDX London Ltd not previously owned on 18 December 2008. In May 2009, the Group sold 
19.9 per cent of equity in EDX London Ltd to TMX Group, a company incorporated in Canada.

London Stock Exchange plc holds directly or indirectly 100 per cent of the Ordinary shares, being the only class of shares in issue, of certain 
other subsidiaries, none of which has actively traded during the year. A full list of subsidiaries will be annexed to the next annual return of 
London Stock Exchange plc.  
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19. DEFERRED TAXATION 
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are shown below. 

       Group 

        Deferred Provisions 
       Accelerated tax on and other 
       tax purchased temporary 
          depreciation intangibles differences Total 
        £m £m £m £m

At 1 April 2007       1.6 – 14.3 15.9

From acquisition of subsidiaries       – (99.5) – (99.5)

Tax credited/(charged) to income statement:         
 – change in UK tax rate      – – (0.1) (0.1)
 – credited in respect of Italian tax rate change      – – 19.7 19.7
 – amortisation of deferred tax liability      – 3.7 – 3.7
 – other movements to the income statement during the year    (0.5) 2.0 (4.2) (2.7)

Tax credited to equity:         
 – defined benefit pension scheme actuarial loss     – – (6.3) (6.3)
 – allowance on share options/awards      – – (3.1) (3.1)
 – change in UK tax rate      – – (0.2) (0.2)
 – foreign exchange      – – (13.1) (13.1)

31 March 2008      1.1 (93.8) 7.0 (85.7)

Tax credited/(charged) to income statement:         
 – other movements to the income statement during the year    (1.8) 8.5 (3.9) 2.8

Tax credited to equity:          
 – defined benefit pension scheme actuarial loss      – – 3.2 3.2
 – allowance on share options/awards       – – (2.1) (2.1)
 – foreign exchange      – (14.2) 0.4 (13.8)

Transfer to intangible assets on acquisition      – (0.2) – (0.2)
Reclassification to current tax      – (1.8) – (1.8)

At 31 March 2009       (0.7) (101.5) 4.6 (97.6)

Assets at 31 March 2009      0.2 – 5.5 5.7
Liabilities at 31 March 2009      (0.9) (101.5) (0.9) (103.3)

Net (liabilities)/assets at 31 March 2009      (0.7) (101.5) 4.6 (97.6)

Assets at 31 March 2008      1.4 – 8.6 10.0
Liabilities at 31 March 2008      (0.3) (93.8) (1.6) (95.7)

Net (liabilities)/assets at 31 March 2008      1.1 (93.8) 7.0 (85.7)

The deferred tax assets are recoverable against future taxable profits and are due after more than one year. 

The purchased intangible assets of Borsa Italiana S.p.A. create a deferred tax liability due to the difference between their accounting and tax 
treatment. This liability is amortised at the same rate as the intangible assets. 

There was no deferred tax in the Company.

20. AvAILABLE FOR SALE INvESTMENTS
Available for sale financial investments of £0.4m (2008: £0.4m) represent the cost of the Group’s 0.6 per cent interest in the unlisted ordinary 
shares of Euroclear plc. The fair value of these shares cannot be reliably measured because they are unquoted. 
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21. RETIREMENT BENEFIT ASSET/OBLIGATION
The Group operates separate defined benefit and defined contribution schemes. The assets of the defined benefit and defined contribution 
schemes in the UK are held separately from those of the Group in a separate trustee administered fund and the funds are primarily managed  
by Schroder Investment Management Limited, Investec Investment Management Limited, Morley Fund Management Limited, Mellon Fund 
Managers Limited and Legal & General Investment Management Limited.

On 27 March 2009, a proportion of the funds managed by Schroders Investment Management Limited were transferred to  
PIMCO Europe Limited.

The ‘Italian plan’ relates to the severance and leaving indemnity scheme (TFR) operated by Borsa Italiana Group in accordance with Italian law. 

The Company has no retirement benefit obligations.

Defined benefit scheme
The UK defined benefit scheme is non-contributory and provides benefits based on final pensionable pay related to salary earned in the last  
five years of employment. The scheme was closed to new members in 1999 but provides retirement benefits to approximately 10 per cent of 
current and many former employees. Pension scheme obligations and costs are determined by an independent qualified actuary on a regular 
basis using the projected unit credit method. The obligations are measured by discounting the best estimate of future cash flows to be paid  
out by the scheme and are reflected in the Group balance sheet.

The TFR operated by Borsa Italiana group is classified as an unfunded defined benefit scheme for funds accumulated prior to 1 July 2007.  
The service cost, representing deferred salaries accruing to employees, was included as an operating expense and was determined by law at 
6.91 per cent of salary payments subject to certain adjustments. The scheme obligation comprises accumulated service costs and is revalued 
by law at a rate equal to 75 per cent of ‘national life price index +1.5 per cent’ by an independent qualified actuary. Since 1 July 2007, the Group 
retains no obligation as contributions are made directly into Italian state funds in the manner of a defined contribution scheme. 

Defined contribution schemes
The Group’s defined contribution schemes are now the only schemes open to new employees. For the UK pension plan, a core contribution of 
eight per cent of pensionable pay is provided and the Group will match employee contributions up to a maximum of six per cent of pensionable 
pay. For the Italian plan, 6.19 per cent of pensionable pay is provided.

Amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows: 

        2009  2008

       UK Pension Italian plan UK Pension Italian plan 
       £m £m £m £m

Defined contribution schemes      (3.2) (2.6) (2.8) (1.5)
Defined benefit scheme – current service cost      (0.9) (0.1)  (1.1) – 

Total pension charge included in employee costs (see note 8)     (4.1) (2.7) (3.9) (1.5)

Finance income and expense          
Interest cost      (14.4) (0.4) (12.6)  – 
Expected return on assets      13.0  –  12.3   – 

Net finance expense      (1.4) (0.4) (0.3)  – 

Total recognised in the income statement      (5.5) (3.1) (4.2) (1.5)

           
Defined benefit assets/(obligations) for UK pension scheme        
      2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 
      £m £m £m £m £m

Fair value of assets:      
– Equities     25.1  33.2 35.7 69.4 52.2
– Bonds     202.6  190.9 185.2 153.3 139.1
– Property     7.1  8.8 3.7  –  –

Total fair value of assets     234.8  232.9 224.6 222.7 191.3
Present value of funded obligations     (229.8) (221.1) (239.6) (243.0) (210.0)

Surplus/(deficit)     5.0 11.8 (15.0) (20.3) (18.7)

           
The main actuarial assumptions are set out below: 
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        2009  2008

       UK Pension Italian plan UK Pension Italian plan 
       £m £m £m £m

Inflation rate      3.1% 2.0% 3.6% 2.5%
Rate of increase in salaries      5.1% 3.5% 5.6% 3.3%
Rate of increase in pensions in payment      3.7% 3.0% 3.9% 3.0%
Discount rate      6.3% 4.2% 6.6% 6.0%
Expected return on assets as at 31 March 2009 and 2008         
– equities      8.2% – 7.9% –
– bonds      5.4% – 5.1% –
– property      7.2% – 6.9% –
           
Mortality assumptions (based on standard tables PA92 published by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries)     
– Existing pensioners from age 60, life expectancy (years):         
 – Men      27.6  –  27.5  – 
 – Women      31.0  –  30.8  – 
– Non-retired members from age 60, life expectancy (years):         
 – Men      29.2  –  29.1  – 
 – Women      32.7  –  32.6  – 

Expected return on equities and property are determined by applying a risk premium applicable to the investment class to the risk free rate 
measured with reference to the return on government bonds. Expected returns on bonds are derived from returns on government and 
corporate bonds of an equivalent term to the investments held.

Sensitivity
The sensitivities regarding the principal assumptions used to measure the scheme obligations are:      
     
Assumption    Change in assumption   Impact on scheme obligations

Inflation rate    Increase/decrease by 0.5%   Increase/decrease by £4.6m
Rate of increase in pensions payment    Increase/decrease by 0.5%   Increase/decrease by £14.1m 
Discount rate    Increase/decrease by 0.5%   Decrease/increase by £18.0m 
Mortality rate    Increase by 1 year   Increase by £5.5m 

Movement in defined benefit obligation during the year
        2009  2008

       UK Pension Italian plan UK Pension Italian plan 
       £m £m £m £m

1 April       221.1 7.6 239.6 –
Acquisition of subsidiaries       –   – – 7.1
Reclassification to other payables      –  (0.4) – –
Current service cost      0.9 0.1 1.1 –
Interest expense      14.4 0.4 12.6 –
Benefits paid      (6.4) (1.1) (6.7) (1.1)
Actuarial (gain)/loss      (0.2) 0.6 (25.5) 0.6
Foreign exchange       –  1.1  –  1.0

31 March       229.8 8.3 221.1 7.6

           
Movement in fair value of UK plan assets during the year
         2009 2008 
          £m   £m 

1 April         232.9 224.6
Expected return on assets        13.1 12.3
Contributions received        6.5 6.4
Benefits paid        (6.4) (6.7)
Actuarial loss        (11.3) (3.7)

31 March         234.8 232.9

The actual return on plan assets was £1.8m (2008: £8.5m).
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Defined benefit actuarial gains and losses recognised
The experience adjustments and the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions of the pension scheme during the year are recognised in the 
statement of recognised income and expense: 

        2009  2008

       UK Pension Italian plan UK Pension Italian plan 
       £m £m £m £m

Recognised up to 1 April       15.5  (0.6) (6.3) –
Net actuarial (loss)/gain recognised in the year       (11.0) (0.7) 21.8  (0.6)

Cumulative amount recognised at 31 March       4.5 (1.3) 15.5 (0.6)

The last actuarial valuation of the defined benefit scheme was carried out at 31 March 2006 by an independent qualified actuary. Following  
the valuation, ordinary contributions were increased from 23 per cent to 36 per cent of pensionable salaries. In addition, the Group agreed  
to contribute an additional £5.0m per annum towards the scheme depending on the level of funding deficit. Accordingly the Group expects to 
contribute approximately £6.4m to the defined benefit scheme during the year to 31 March 2010. The Group is currently carrying out its triennial 
actuarial valuation as at 31 March 2009, which may result in an adjustment to future contribution levels. 

The Group estimates the duration of defined benefit obligations on average to be 20 years. 

History of experience gains and losses for UK scheme     2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Experience adjustments arising on scheme assets:  
(Loss)/gain (£m)      (11.2) (3.7) (10.7) 21.8 4.1
Percentage of scheme assets      (4.8%) (1.6%) (4.8%) 9.8% 2.1%

Experience adjustments arising on scheme liabilities:  
Experience gain/(loss) (£m)      1.3 0.7  (0.4) 5.2 0.9
Impact of changes in assumptions (£m)     (1.1) 24.8 11.4 (31.0) (7.6)

Total (£m)      0.2 25.5 11.0 (25.8) (6.7)

Percentage of scheme liabilities  
Experience gain/(loss)      0.6% 0.3%  (0.2%) 2.1% 0.4%
Impact of changes in assumptions      (0.5%) 11.2% 4.8%  (12.7%) (3.6%)

Total      0.1% 11.5% 4.6%  (10.6%) (3.2%)
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIvABLES

        Group  Company

       2009 2008 2009 2008 
       £m £m £m £m

Trade receivables       72.3 73.7 – –
Less: provision for impairment of receivables       (6.6) (0.7) – – 

Trade receivables – net       65.7 73.0 – – 
Amounts due from Group undertakings       – – 169.2 181.7
Other receivables       0.9 3.1 – –
Prepayments and accrued income       47.9 45.0 – 0.7

       114.5 121.1 169.2 182.4

The carrying values less impairment provision of trade and other receivables are reasonable approximations of fair values.

Trade receivables that are not past due are not considered to be impaired.

The ageing of past due debtors is as follows:

        2009  2008

       Impaired Not impaired Impaired Not impaired 
       £m £m £m £m

0 to 3 months past due      0.9 1.2 – 0.7
Greater than 3 months past due      5.8 1.0 0.8 0.1

       6.7 2.2 0.8 0.8

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies: 

          2009 2008 
         £m £m

Sterling         52.7 60.1
Euro         61.8 61.0

         114.5 121.1

Movements on the Group provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

         2009 2008 
         £m £m

At 1 April         0.7 0.1
Acquisition of subsidiaries         – 0.6
Provision for receivables impairment         6.0 0.1
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible        (0.2) –
Provisions no longer required        (0.1) (0.1)
Foreign exchange         0.2 –

At 31 March         6.6 0.7

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in operating expense in the income statement.  
Amounts charged to the allowance account are written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.

The other classes within trade and other receivables and the other categories of financial assets do not contain impaired assets.
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23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
The financial instruments of the Group and Company are categorised as follows:

     Group             Company 

      Assets at 
      fair value    
      through    
    Loans and Available the profit   Loans and  
    receivables for sale or loss Total  receivables Total 
31 March 2009    £m £m  £m  £m  £m £m

Assets as per balance sheet 

Financial assets of the CCP clearing business 
– CCP trading assets    – – 5,480.5 5,480.5  – –
– Receivables for repurchase transactions    25,302.5 – – 25,302.5  – –
– Other receivables from clearing members    1,287.6 – – 1,287.6  – –
– Financial assets held at fair value   – – 7.3 7.3  – –
– Cash and cash equivalents of clearing members   3,596.6 – – 3,596.6  – –

Financial assets of the CCP clearing business    30,186.7 – 5,487.8 35,674.5  – –
Assets held at fair value    – – 5.0 5.0  – –

Total financial assets for CCP clearing   30,186.7 – 5,492.8 35,679.5  – –

Trade and other receivables    114.5 – – 114.5  169.1 169.1
Cash and cash equivalents    143.7 – – 143.7  – –
Available for sale financial assets    – 0.4 – 0.4  – –

Total    30,444.9 0.4 5,492.8 35,938.1  169.1 169.1

      Group             Company 

     Derivatives Other  Derivatives Other  
     used for financial  used for financial  
     hedging liabilities Total hedging liabilities Total 
     £m £m £m £m £m £m

Liabilities as per balance sheet 

Financial liabilities of the CCP clearing business 
– CCP trading liabilities     – 5,480.5 5,480.5 – – –
– Liabilities under repurchase transactions     – 25,302.5 25,302.5 – – –
– Other payables to clearing members     – 4,889.0 4,889.0 – – –
– Financial liabilities held at fair value     – 7.2 7.2 – – –

Financial liabilities of the CCP clearing business     – 35,679.2 35,679.2 – – –

Borrowings     – 624.8 624.8 – 624.8 624.8
Derivative financial instruments     1.6 – 1.6 1.6 – 1.6

Total     1.6 36,304.0 36,305.6 1.6 624.8 626.4

The CCP clearing business assets and liabilities comprise:
a) CCP trading assets and liabilities
The fair value of open positions on the derivatives market (IDEM) in which CC&G operates as the central counterparty and relate to:
(i) derivative instruments on the S&P MIB index (index futures, mini index futures, index options); and
(ii) derivative instruments in respect of individual stocks (equity futures, equity options).

b) Receivables for/liabilities under repurchase transactions (Repos)
The value of repo transactions executed by participants in the MTS market who use the central counterparty guarantee service provided  
by CC&G refers to the value of transactions for which the spot part has already been settled while the forward part has still to be settled.

c) Other receivables from clearing members
Sums receivable as initial margin, variation margin, option premiums and securities as collateral resulting from the activity of participants in  
the IDEM, MTA and MTS markets.

d) Other payables to clearing members
Liability to members for amounts delivered as initial margin, variation margin, option premiums and securities as collateral, resulting from  
the activity of participants in the IDEM, MTA and MTS markets.
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e) Assets and liabilities held at fair value
(i) Equities and bonds, listed on regulated markets, which CC&G has already withdrawn from the settlement system but has not yet delivered  
to the intermediaries who have bought them; and 
(ii) Securities traded but not yet settled as part of the CCP function.

f) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at bank, representing margins and default fund amounts received in connection with the CCP clearing service.

As at 31 March 2009, there were no provisions for impairment in relation to any of the CCP financial assets (2008: nil) and none of these assets 
were past due (2008: nil).

The financial instruments of the Group and the Company at the previous year’s balance sheet date were as follows:

     Group             Company 

      Assets at 
      fair value    
      through    
    Loans and Available the profit   Loans and  
    receivables for sale and loss Total  receivables Total 
31 March 2008    £m £m  £m  £m  £m £m

Assets as per balance sheet 
 
Financial assets of the CCP clearing business
– CCP trading assets    – – 4,782.1 4,782.1  – –
– Receivables for repurchase transactions    10,299.3 – – 10,299.3  – –
– Other receivables from clearing members    560.7 – – 560.7  – –
– Financial assets held at fair value    – – 7.1 7.1  – –
– Cash and cash equivalents of clearing members   1,654.1 – – 1,654.1  – –

Financial assets of the CCP clearing business    12,514.1 – 4,789.2 17,303.3  – –
Assets held at fair value   – – 12.8 12.8  – –

Total financial assets for CCP clearing   12,514.1 – 4,802.0 17,316.1  – –

Assets held at fair value – non-CCP    – – 1.0 1.0  – 
Trade and other receivables    121.1 – – 121.1  182.4 182.4
Cash and cash equivalents    200.6 – – 200.6  – –
Available for sale financial assets    – 0.4 – 0.4  – –

Total    12,835.8 0.4 4,803.0 17,639.2  182.4 182.4

      Group             Company 

     Derivatives Other  Derivatives Other  
     used for financial  used for financial  
     hedging liabilities Total hedging liabilities Total 
     £m £m £m £m £m £m 
      (restated) (restated)   (restated) (restated)

Liabilities as per balance sheet

Financial liabilities of the CCP clearing business 
– CCP trading liabilities     – 4,782.1 4,782.1  – – –
– Liabilities under repurchase transactions     – 10,299.3 10,299.3 – – –
– Other payables to clearing members     – 2,218.1 2,218.1 – – –
– Financial liabilities held at fair value     – 8.2 8.2 – – –

Financial liabilities of the CCP clearing business     – 17,307.7 17,307.7 – – –

Borrowings     – 692.1 692.1 – 690.9 690.9
Derivative financial instruments (note 27)     7.9 – 7.9 7.9 – 7.9

Total     7.9 17,999.8 18,007.7 7.9 690.9 698.8
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24. ASSETS HELD AT FAIR vALUE  

         2009 2008 
         £m £m

Financial assets held at fair value         5.0 12.8
Other assets held at fair value         – 1.0

         5.0 13.8

The Group’s assets held at fair value consist largely of Italian equities restricted in use for the operations of CC&G as manager of the clearing 
and guarantee system. The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as trading and available-for-sale securities) is based 
on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. 

The Company has no assets held at fair value. 

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIvALENTS

        Group  Company

       2009 2008 2009 2008 
       £m £m £m £m

Cash at bank       85.2 74.7 – –
Short term deposits       58.5 125.9 – –

       143.7 200.6 – –

Management does not expect any losses from non-performance by the counterparties holding cash and cash equivalents, and there are no 
differences between their book and fair values.

Cash and cash equivalents does not include amounts held by CC&G on behalf of its clearing members, the use of which is restricted to the 
operation of CC&G as manager of the clearing and guarantee system (see note 23). Cash and cash equivalents does include amounts held by 
regulated entities for regulatory and operational purposes. At 31 March 2009, the Group set aside £125m (2008: £125m) for such purposes, 
with the amount subject to ongoing review with regulators in the UK and Italy.

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

        Group  Company

       2009 2008 2009 2008 
       £m £m £m £m

Trade payables       20.1 23.3 – –
Amounts owed to Group undertakings (note 38)      – – 209.8 133.0
Social security and other taxes       8.8 11.5 – –
Other payables       21.1 35.4 3.3 3.5
Share buyback programme       – 13.0 – 13.0
Accruals and deferred income       62.9 63.0 5.7 5.7

       112.9 146.2 218.8 155.2

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are reasonable approximations of fair value.
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27. DERIvATIvE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

        Group  Company

       2009 2008 2009 2008 
Current Liability      £m £m £m £m

Gilt lock      – 7.9 – 7.9
Interest rate swaps       1.5 – 1.5 –
Forward foreign exchange contracts       0.1 – – –

       1.6 7.9 1.5 7.9

During the year, the gilt lock interest rate contract was settled at a loss of £10.6m, of which the prior year loss of £7.9m, previously recognised 
in equity, was recycled to the income statement. 

The interest rate swaps are used to manage exposure to movements in interest rates, and are designated as cash flow hedges. The fair value is 
determined by reference to observable market interest rates. 

At 31 March 2009, the Group had outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts with a nominal value of CAD 13.5m to mitigate movements 
in foreign exchange on a highly probable forecast transaction, expected to occur during the next 12 months. The fair value is determined by 
reference to observable foreign exchange rates. 
 
The other derivative contracts used during the year were forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge forecast cash inflows in Scandinavian 
currencies and were designated as cash flow hedges. 

The effectiveness of the hedges has been tested by means of a regression analysis and ineffectiveness was found to be negligible. Gains and 
losses recognised in the hedging reserve in equity on cash flow hedges are recognised in the income statement in the period during which the 
hedged forecast transaction takes place.

28. BORROwINGS

        Group  Company

       2009 2008 2009 2008 
       £m £m £m £m 
        (restated)  (restated)

Current 
Bank borrowings       – 427.2 – 427.2
Redeemable Class B shares       2.3 7.6 2.3 7.6
Other borrowings       – 1.2 – –

       2.3 436.0 2.3 434.8

Non-current 
Bond       252.6 256.1 252.6 256.1
Bank borrowings      369.9 – 369.9 –

       622.5 256.1 622.5 256.1

The Group has the following unsecured bank facilities:

        Drawn   Interest rate 
        at 31   basis points 
       Facility March 2009   at 31 
Type     Expiry date £m £m   March 2009

Bridge facility     April 2010 180.0 180.0  LIBOR + 225
Multi-currency revolving credit facility    October 2011 25.0 12.6   LIBOR + 80
Multi-currency revolving credit facility    February 2012 200.0 –  LIBOR + 125
Multi-currency revolving credit facility     July 2013 250.0 178.9   LIBOR + 80
Capitalised bank facility arrangement fees     – – (1.6)   –

       655.0 369.9

          
CC&G has direct intra-day access to refinancing with the Bank of Italy to cover its operational liquidity requirements. In addition, uncommitted 
credit lines of €1bn are available from major Italian banks in relation to support of the MTS markets. If these are drawn they are guaranteed by 
Italian government bonds. CC&G also has available to it €150m of committed facilities with banks, available for short term CCP related activity 
purposes only.
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Current borrowings
The Company has Redeemable Class B shares. Holders of B shares are entitled to a non-cumulative preference dividend based on 75 per cent 
of six month LIBOR on 1 June and 1 December each year until 1 June 2009. The outstanding B shares will be redeemed for 200 pence each  
on 1 June 2009.

Non-current borrowings
In July 2006, the Company issued a £250m bond which is unsecured and is due for repayment in 2016. Interest is paid semi-annually in arrears. 
The issue price of the bond was £99.679 per £100 nominal. The coupon on the bond is dependent on the Company’s credit rating with 
Moody’s, which improved from Baa3 (positive outlook) to Baa2 (stable) in February 2009. Changes in the credit rating since the bond was 
issued had led to increases in the coupon on the bond by 25 basis points in each of July 2007 and January 2008, which have been reflected  
in the prior year adjustment (note 2). The bond coupon was 6.375 per cent throughout the last financial year but the impact of the rating 
improvement will be to reduce the coupon to 6.125 per cent from July 2009. 

FAIR vALUES 
The fair and carrying values of the Group’s borrowings are as follows: 

        Group 

        Carrying value   Fair value   Carrying value   Fair value  
       2009 2009 2008 2008 
       £m £m £m £m 
         (restated) 

Borrowings
– within one year     2.3 2.3 436.0 437.5
– after more than one year      622.5 624.1 256.1 261.1

       624.8 626.4 692.1 698.6

The fair and carrying values of the Company’s borrowings are as follows:

        Company 

        Carrying value   Fair value   Carrying value   Fair value  
       2009 2009 2008 2008 
       £m £m £m £m 
         (restated)  

 Borrowings
– within one year       2.3 2.3 434.8 436.3
– after more than one year       622.5 624.2 256.1 261.1

       624.8 626.5 690.9 697.4

 
The fair values of borrowings are based on discounted cash flows using a rate based on borrowing cost. Floating rate borrowings bear interest 
at an agreed margin over either LIBOR or EURIBOR. 
 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the following currencies: 

         2009 2008 
         £m £m 
Currency         (restated)

Sterling         472.9 538.2
Euro         151.9  153.9 

         624.8 692.1



THE wORLD’S CAPITAL MARKET

London Stock Exchange Group
Annual Report 2009 85

29. ANALYSIS OF NET DEBT

        Group  Company

        2009 2008 2009 2008 
        £m £m £m £m 
        (restated)  (restated)

Due within one year
Cash and cash equivalents      143.7 200.6 – –
Bank borrowings      – (427.2) – (427.2)
Redeemable Class B shares      (2.3) (7.6) (2.3) (7.6)
Other borrowings      – (1.2) – –
Derivative financial liabilities       (1.6) (7.9) – –

       139.8 (243.3) (2.3) (434.8)
Due after one year
Bank borrowings      (369.9) – (369.9) –
Bond      (252.6) (256.1) (252.6) (256.1)

Total net debt      (482.7) (499.4) (624.8) (690.9)

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

        Group  Company

        2009 2008 2009 2008 
        £m £m £m £m 
        (restated)  (restated)

(Decrease)/increase in cash in the year      (68.6) 113.8 – –
Bank loan repayments/(new loans)      82.0 (271.5) 82.0 (271.5)
B share redemptions      5.3 8.1 5.3 8.1
Other repayments/(loans)      1.2 (0.7) – –

Change in net debt resulting from cash flows      19.9 (150.3) 87.3 (263.4)
Foreign exchange movements      (13.0) 13.9 (24.7) –
Movement on derivative financial assets and liabilities     6.3 (7.9) – –
Bond valuation adjustment      3.5 (7.9) 3.5 (7.9)
Net debt at start of year      (499.4) (347.2) (690.9) (419.6)

Net debt at end of year      (482.7) (499.4) (624.8) (690.9)

30. PROvISIONS
          Group 

         Property Other Total 
         £m £m £m

1 April 2007       28.7 3.2 31.9
Exceptional charges during the year       0.4 0.8 1.2
Utilised during the year       (3.4) (2.6) (6.0)
Interest on discounted provision       1.3 – 1.3

31 March 2008       27.0 1.4 28.4
Charges during the year       2.1 – 2.1
Utilised during the year       (3.6) (1.4) (5.0)
Interest on discounted provision       1.2 – 1.2

31 March 2009       26.7 – 26.7

Current       3.8 – 3.8
Non-current       22.9 – 22.9

31 March 2009       26.7 – 26.7

Property
The property provision represents the estimated net present value of future costs for lease rentals and dilapidation costs less the expected 
receipts from sub-letting space which is surplus to business requirements. The leases have between five and 19 years to expiry.

Other
Other provisions related to the one-off implementation costs arising from the cost saving programme announced in February 2006.

The Company has no provisions.
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31. ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL
        2009  2008

Authorised       millions  £  millions  £

Ordinary shares of 6 79/86p       350.0 24,215,116 350.0 24,215,116
Class B shares of £2       140.6 281,265,500 140.6 281,265,500

Issued, called up and fully paid        

Ordinary shares of 6 79/86p       270.5 18,716,107 276.4 19,123,893
Class B shares of £2       1.1 2,270,866 3.8 7,568,222

        20,986,973  26,692,115

Less: Class B shares designated as borrowings (see note 28)     (2,270,866)  (7,568,222)

Share capital       18,716,107  19,123,893

During the year the Company re-purchased, and subsequently cancelled, 5.9m ordinary shares at an average price of £8.67 per share. The total 
consideration was £51.5m. The excess of the consideration over the nominal value has been charged against retained earnings.

More information about the different classes of share, and rights attaching, is given in the Directors’ Report on pages 49 and 50 in this Report. 

32. RECONCILIATION OF MOvEMENTS IN EQUITY

     Attributable to equity holders of the Group 

     Other reserves

         Foreign 
    Ordinary   Capital   Reverse   exchange 
    share  Retained   redemption   acquisition   translation Merger Hedging  Minority Total 
   capital earnings reserve reserve reserve  reserve reserve interest equity 
Group  Notes  £m   £m   £m   £m   £m  £m £m £m £m

1 April 2007   253.0 (351.7) 258.7 (512.5) – – – 2.6 (349.9)

Issue of shares   5.5 – – – – 1,302.2 – – 1,307.7
Equity transaction costs   – – – – – (3.0) – – (3.0)
Redemption of deferred shares   (238.7) – 238.7 – – – – – –
Redemption of B shares  – (8.1) 8.1 – – – – – –
Total recognised income and
expense for the financial year   – 191.1 – – 201.5 – (14.7) 15.9 393.8
Final dividend relating to the year
ended 31 March 2007 13 – (23.8) – – – – – – (23.8)
Interim dividend relating to the year 
ended 31 March 2008 13 – (22.2) – – – – – – (22.2)
Share buyback  (0.7) (92.3) 0.7 – – – – – (92.3)
Employee share schemes
and own shares  – (18.6) – – – – – – (18.6)
Acquisition of subsidiary  – – – – – – – 76.7 76.7

At 31 March 2008 as originally stated   19.1 (325.6) 506.2 (512.5) 201.5 1,299.2 (14.7) 95.2 1,268.4
Prior year adjustment 2 – (5.5) – – – – – – (5.5)

At 31 March 2008 restated   19.1 (331.1) 506.2 (512.5) 201.5 1,299.2 (14.7) 95.2 1,262.9

Redemption of B shares  – (5.3) 5.3 – – – – – –
Total recognised income and
expense for the financial year   – (347.5) – – 274.6 – (18.6) 14.9 (76.6)
Final dividend relating to the
year ended 31 March 2008 13 – (42.9) – – – – – – (42.9)
Dividend payment to minorities  – – – – – – – (9.5) (9.5)
Interim dividend relating to the 
year ended 31 March 2009 13 –  (22.4) – – – – – – (22.4)
Share buyback   (0.4) (38.5) 0.4 – – – – – (38.5)
Employee share schemes 
and own shares  – (15.9) – – – – – – (15.9)
Acquisition of subsidiary  – – – – – – – (4.3) (4.3)
Share of equity recognised by FTSE  – 0.4 – – – – – – 0.4

31 March 2009   18.7 (803.2) 511.9 (512.5) 476.1 1,299.2 (33.3) 96.3 1,053.2
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Under the court-approved Scheme effected on 15 May 2006, the Company issued 43 new ordinary shares for every 51 existing ordinary 
shares in London Stock Exchange plc and one B share with a nominal value of 200 pence per share for every one existing ordinary share in 
London Stock Exchange plc. After a reduction in the nominal value of the new ordinary shares, the merger reserve created by the Scheme  
was capitalised through an issue of A shares, and then reduced through a court-approved capital reduction. This created sufficient distributable 
reserves to distribute £512.5m to shareholders. In July 2007, the Company redeemed all 119.4m of the outstanding deferred shares. This 
resulted in an increase of £238.7m in the capital redemption reserve, a non-distributable reserve set up as a result of the £512.5m capital return. 
The reverse acquisition reserve is a non-distributable capital reserve arising on consolidation as a result of the Scheme.

The issue of new shares in the Company in exchange for shares in Borsa Italiana S.p.A. (see note 35) has attracted merger relief under Section 
131 of the Companies Act 1985. Of the £1,307.7m market value of new shares £5.5m has been credited to share capital and £1,302.2m to the 
merger reserve. This is offset by a £3.0m debit to the merger reserve which relates to the costs associated with the issue of the new shares.

The foreign exchange translation reserve reflects the impact of foreign currency on the translation of foreign operations.

The hedging reserve represents the cumulative fair value adjustment recognised in respect of cash flow hedges and the net investment hedge. 

       Attributable to equity holders of the Company 

         Other reserves

          
     Ordinary   Capital      
     share  Retained   redemption   Merger   Hedging  Total 
     capital earnings reserve reserve reserve  equity 
Company    Notes  £m   £m   £m   £m   £m  £m

1 April 2007     253.0 2,075.1 258.7 – – 2,586.8
  
Issue of shares     5.5 – – 1,302.2 – 1,307.7
Equity transaction costs     – – – (3.0) – (3.0)
Redemption of deferred shares    (238.7) – 238.7 – – –
Redemption of B shares     – (8.1) 8.1 – – –
Total recognised income and expense for the financial year    – 146.1 – – (7.9)  138.2
Interim dividend relating to the year ended 31 March 2008  13 – (45.9) – – – (45.9)
Share buyback    (0.7) (92.3) 0.7 – – (92.3)

At 31 March 2008 as originally stated     19.1 2,074.9 506.2 1,299.2 (7.9)  3,891.5
Prior year adjustment   2 – (5.5) – – – (5.5)

At 31 March 2008 restated    19.1 2,069.4 506.2 1,299.2 (7.9) 3,886.0

 
Redemption of B shares     – (5.3) 5.3 – – –
Total recognised income and expense for the financial year    – (656.7) – – 6.4 (650.3)
Final dividend relating to the year ended 31 March 2008  13 – (42.9) – – – (42.9)
Interim dividend relating to the year ended 31 March 2009   13 – (22.4) – – – (22.4)
Share buyback    (0.4) (38.5) 0.4 – – (38.5)
Employee share scheme     – (19.3) – – – (19.3)

31 March 2009     18.7 1,284.3 511.9 1,299.2 (1.5) 3,112.6
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33. NET CASH FLOw GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

        Group  Company

        2009 2008 2009 2008 
        £m £m £m £m 
        (restated)  (restated)

(Loss)/profit before taxation       (250.8) 227.0  (672.3) 124.7 
Depreciation and amortisation       85.8 48.4  – –
Goodwill impairment      484.0 – 768.9 – 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment     0.1 – – –
Profit on disposal of share of associate      (2.0) – – –
Net finance expense/(income)      44.9 40.4  (107.9) (127.2)
Share of profit after tax of joint ventures       (2.1) (2.2)  – –
Provisions created during the year      2.1 – – –
Provisions utilised during the year       (5.0) (6.0)  – –
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables      15.2 (1.4)  – (0.1)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables      (32.7) (23.1)  0.4 0.5 
Increase/(decrease) in CCP clearing business liabilities      18,371.5 (287.7) – –
(Increase)/decrease in CCP financial assets       (18,371.2) 286.3  – –
Defined benefit pension obligation – contributions in excess of expenses charged    (6.9) (1.1)  – –
Decrease in assets held at fair value from operating activities     9.9 – – –
Share scheme expense       10.2 12.3 – –
Foreign exchange (gains)/losses on operating activities      (0.4) – 5.9 1.2 

Cash generated from operations       352.6 292.9 (5.0) (0.9)

Comprising:  
Operating activities       378.9 295.4 (5.0) (0.9)
Exceptional items      (26.3) (2.5)  – –

       352.6 292.9  (5.0) (0.9)

Non-cash transactions include the issue of shares as consideration for the acquisition of a subsidiary discussed in note 35.

Interest on CCP balances is received by CC&G net of withholding tax, which is deducted at source. This withholding tax is effectively therefore 
a cash outflow, and is therefore shown in the cash flow statement.

34. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Contracted capital commitments and other contracted commitments not provided for in the financial statements of the Group were nil  
(2008: £0.1m) and £7.6m (2008: £1.2m) respectively.

The Group is the subject of a legal claim by PLUS Markets, for a declaration and damages relating to certain Rules of the Exchange and their 
application to AIM. Trial of the matter is due to commence in the near future. The directors are of the opinion that it is highly unlikely that the 
matter will have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of the Group. Additional information is not disclosed on the grounds that  
it could result in prejudice to the Group.

35. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
On 1 October 2007, the Group acquired 99.92 per cent of Borsa Italiana S.p.A., the company responsible for the organisation and management 
of the securities market in Italy. The total consideration of £1,321.5m, including £13.8m costs, was financed by the issue of 79.4m London Stock 
Exchange Group plc shares with a total market value of £1,307.7m on the date of acquisition, together with £13.8m costs paid in cash. 
Subsequently the Group acquired a further 0.04 per cent, bringing its total shareholding to 99.96 per cent.
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The assets and liabilities as of 1 October 2007 arising from the acquisition are as follows: 

         Book Fair value 
        value  adjustment  Fair value 
         £m £m £m

Non-current assets:  
Intangible assets         320.2   320.6  640.8 
Property, plant and equipment         14.3   1.9  16.2 
Other non-current assets        –  0.9  0.9 
Current assets:  
Cash and cash equivalents         96.1  – 96.1 
Financial assets of the CCP clearing business         15,389.3  – 15,389.3 
Other current assets         70.4   2.7  73.1 
Current liabilities:  
Borrowings         (136.7)  (0.4) (137.1)
Financial liabilities of the CCP clearing business         (15,403.4) – (15,403.4)
Other current liabilities         (66.7)  (12.7) (79.4)
Non-current liabilities (including deferred tax)        (49.9)  (65.4) (115.3)

Net assets         233.6   247.6  481.2 
Minority interests          (77.0)

Net assets purchased          404.2 
Goodwill          917.3 

Total consideration          1,321.5 

Satisfied by:  
Cash (transaction fees)          13.8 
Shares          1,307.7 

          1,321.5 

The fair value adjustments include the recognition of £635.2m of intangible assets arising on consolidation, representing £541.7m of customer 
relationships, £8.4m of brands, £35.7m of software and £49.4m of licences. The fair values of these purchased intangible assets were 
independently valued by a qualified valuation firm using discounted cash flow methodologies and are being amortised over their useful economic 
lives, which do not normally exceed 25 years. The goodwill of £917.3m arising on consolidation represents the future synergies and growth 
potential of Borsa Italiana and its assembled workforce. These fair values were presented in the Annual Report for 31 March 2008 and have 
been finalised without adjustment during the year. 

36. LEASES
The Group leases various office properties under non-cancellable operating leases.
 
The total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are due as follows: 

           Group 

          2009 2008 
          £m £m

Less than one year         21.0 20.1
More than one year and less than five years         75.0 73.8
More than five years         129.7 145.1

         225.7 239.0

Operating lease payments of £19.0m (2008: £14.8m) were charged to the income statement in the year.

The total future minimum lease payments expected to be received under non-cancellable operating leases are due as follows:

           Group 

          2009 2008 
          £m £m

Less than one year         8.5 3.9
More than one year and less than five years         26.8 15.8
More than five years         10.6 14.3

         45.9 34.0

The Company has no lease commitments.
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37. SHARE SCHEMES
The London Stock Exchange Group Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP), approved at the 2004 AGM, has two elements, a conditional award  
of Performance Shares and an award of Matching Shares linked to investment by the executive of annual bonus in the Company’s shares. 
Vesting of these awards is dependent upon the Company’s total shareholder return performance and also for awards made since 2008 
adjusted basic earnings per share. Further details are provided in the Remuneration Report on pages 40 to 48.

Under the Group’s previous share option plan approved by shareholders in 2002, the maximum value of shares placed under option to an 
individual was equivalent to 100 per cent of their annual salary. No further awards will be made under this scheme.

Prior to 2002, under the previous long-term incentive scheme (comprising the Initial and Annual Share Plans) option grants and share awards 
were made based on approvals prior to the Group’s listing in July 2001. No further option grants or share awards will be made under this 
scheme apart from the SAYE scheme available to all staff. Under both the Initial and Annual Share Plan, share awards have a vesting period  
of three years and share options become exercisable at 20 per cent per annum over five years with a contractual life of 10 years.

The SAYE scheme and International Sharesave Plan provide for grants of options to employees who enter into a SAYE savings contract and 
options were granted at 20 per cent below fair market value. Share awards were granted at nil cost to employees and share options were 
granted at fair market value or above.

Under terms agreed at the time of the merger, Massimo Capuano and a small number of senior executives in Italy were eligible to participate  
in a share bonus plan for the year ended 31 March 2009. He received an award of ordinary shares with a value equal to 100 per cent of his 
full-year equivalent annual bonus, subject to a maximum award of 150 per cent of base salary. Further details are provided in the Remuneration 
Report on pages 40 to 48.

A performance-related Restricted Share Plan was introduced in 2008. Under this plan if the Company meets or exceeds its stretching financial 
targets for the financial year, deferred shares will be awarded to a limited number of employees who have contributed to this success. These 
shares will then be released to individuals 12 months after grant contingent on continued employment. Any recipient of an LTIP award in 2008, 
including executive directors and other senior executives, will not participate in the Restricted Share Plan.

The Group established an ESOP discretionary trust to administer the share plans and to acquire the shares to meet commitments to Group 
employees. At the year end 3,621,781 (2008: 2,178,665) shares were held by the trust, funded by an interest free loan from the Group.  
The Company has no employees, but in accordance with SIC 12 “Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities” has the obligation for the assets, 
liabilities, income and costs of the ESOP trust and these have been consolidated in the Group’s financial statements. The cost of the Group’s 
shares held by the trust are deducted from retained earnings.

Movements in the number of share options and awards outstanding and their weighted average exercise prices are as follows:

     Share options       SAYE Scheme          LTIP

      Weighted  Weighted  Weighted 
      average  average  average 
      exercise  exercise  exercise 
     Number  price   Number   price   Number   price 

At 1 April 2007     3,485,970 3.37 355,583 5.69 2,152,439 –
Granted     – – – – 1,127,260 –
Exercised     (1,684,459) 3.37 (62,868) 3.06 (878,723) –
Forfeited     (830) 3.65 (14,279) 6.30 (137,549) –

At 31 March 2008     1,800,681 3.36 278,436 6.25 2,263,427 –
Granted    – – 581,672 5.69 2,542,429 –
Exercised    (190,945) 3.60 (82,878) 2.75 (838,551) –
Forfeited    (7,062) 3.88 (153,019) 8.94 (337,963) –

At 31 March 2009    1,602,674 3.33 624,211 5.53 3,629,342 –

Exercisable at:  
31 March 2009    1,602,674 3.33 – – 10,284 –
31 March 2008    1,800,681 3.36 – – – –

The weighted average share price during the year was £7.05 (2008: £15.37).  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The range of exercise prices and weighted average remaining contractual life of awards and options outstanding are as follows:

        Awards/options   Awards/options 
        outstanding   outstanding  
        2009  2008

        Weighted  Weighted 
        average   average  
         remaining   remaining 
       Number  contractual Number contractual  
       outstanding life outstanding life 
Exercise price range        Years   Years 

Share options  
Up to £3       341,880 1.0 356,410 2.0
Between £3 and £4       1,197,384 3.7 1,380,861 1.3
Above £4       63,410 2.2 63,410 3.2

SAYE  
Between £2 and £4       64,279 0.9 150,110 1.5
Between £5 and £6       542,352 2.9 – –
Above £10       17,580 1.3 128,326 1.9

LTIP  
Nil       3,629,342 1.8 2,263,427 1.6

Total       5,856,227 2.2 4,342,544 2.7

The fair value of share awards and share options granted during the year was determined using a stochastic valuation model. The key 
assumptions used in the valuation were as follows:
          
      Restricted Matching Performance Performance SAYE 
      Shares Shares Shares Shares Shares 
      22 May May-June 09 June 23 July 07 August 
      2008 2008 2008 2008 2008

Grant date share price      £10.380 £7.800 £8.915 £8.245 £9.130
Exercise price      n.a n.a n.a n.a £5.690
Volatility      0.0% 45.0% 45.0% 45.0% 45.0%
Expected life      3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years 3.5 years
Dividend yield      1.25% 1.25% 1.25% 1.25% 1.25%
Fair value      £10.25 £4.64 £5.32 £4.90 £4.63

The volatility assumption is based on a statistical analysis of weekly share prices since the London Stock Exchange’s flotation in July 2001.  
The fair value for the Performance and Matching Shares granted during the year takes account of the TSR vesting condition. Holders of share 
awards and share options are not entitled to receive dividends declared during the vesting period.
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38. TRANSACTIONS wITH RELATED PARTIES
FTSE International Ltd
Details of transactions with FTSE International Ltd are included in note 16.

Key management compensation
Compensation for directors of the Company and key personnel who have authority for planning, directing and controlling the Group:

         2009 2008 
         £000 £000

Salaries and other short term benefits        6,758 5,123
Pensions        207 155
Share based payment        2,048 6,536

         9,013 11,814

Inter-Company transactions with subsidiary undertakings
London Stock Exchange Plc
During the year the Company was charged by London Stock Exchange plc £12.0m (2008: £17m) for interest payable on the inter-company loan. 
The Company was also charged £4.9m (2008: £9.7m) by London Stock Exchange plc in respect of employee share schemes.

The Company received dividends of £117.9m (2008: £185.0m) from its subsidiary, London Stock Exchange plc.

The amounts owed by the Company to its subsidiary London Stock Exchange plc are disclosed in note 26. The loan is for a term of 25 years 
and is repayable in five equal annual instalments commencing on the 21st anniversary of the first drawdown, in May 2027. The loan bears 
interest at LIBOR plus two per cent.

London Stock Exchange Employee Benefit Trust
During the year the Company made loans of £26.3m to the London Stock Exchange Employee Benefit Trust to fund the acquisition of  
Company shares to meet share award/option commitments to Group employees. The loans are not repayable and do not bear interest.  
At 31 March 2009, the outstanding balance was £60.5m (2008: £63.9m).

Borsa Italiana S.p.A.
During the year the Company charged Borsa Italiana S.p.A. £6.0m (2008: £0.8m) for interest receivable on the intercompany loan.  
The company was also charged £5.5m (2008: £2.6m) by Borsa Italiana S.p.A. in respect of employee share schemes.

The amounts owed by Borsa Italiana S.p.A. to the Company are disclosed in note 22. The loan is for a term of 20 years and is repayable in five 
equal annual instalments commencing on the 16th anniversary of the first drawdown, in January 2024. The loan bears interest at Euribor plus 
1.2 per cent.
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39. OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION
Auditors’ remuneration payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and its associates comprise the following:

         2009 2008 
         £m £m

Audit of parent company and consolidated accounts        0.2 0.2
Audit of subsidiary companies         1.1 0.6
Other fees:  
– Taxation         0.3 0.2
– Corporate finance         0.3 1.7
– Other assurance services        – 0.1

         1.9 2.8

Directors’ emoluments comprise the following:

         2009 2008 
         £000 £000

Salary and fees         3,309 2,346
Performance bonus         1,540 2,455
Gains on exercise of share options         641 12,496
Benefits         132 103

         5,622 17,400
Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes        77 58

         5,699 17,458

During the year two directors (2008: two) had retirement benefits accruing under defined contribution schemes and no director (2008: none) 
had retirement benefits accruing under a defined benefit scheme. Fees paid directly to the employer company of two (2008: two)  
Non-Executive Directors were £108,000 (2008: £54,000).

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in the Remuneration Report on pages 40 to 48.
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      2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 
      £m £m £m £m £m 
Income statement      (restated)   

Revenue  
– Issuer Services      90.4 82.4 63.2 56.9 43.3
– Trading Services      275.3 264.7 173.1 133.2 107.4
– Information Services – ongoing      182.9 143.6 105.9 94.1 86.7
– Information Services – exceptional      – – – 6.4 –
– Post Trading Services      104.0 42.8 – – –
– Other income      18.8 12.9 7.4 6.9 7.0

Total revenue      671.4 546.4 349.6 297.5 244.4

Operating expenses  
–  operating expenses before impairment, amortisation of purchased 

intangibles and exceptional items     (332.8) (257.4) (164.0) (171.0) (159.8)
– impairment, amortisation of purchased intangibles and exceptional items   (548.6) (23.8) (11.4) (41.1) (6.8)
Operating profit before impairment, amortisation of purchased 
intangibles and exceptional items      338.6 289.0 185.6 120.1 84.6
Adjusted profit before taxation*     304.7 258.5 172.9 128.2 99.0
(Loss)/profit before taxation      (250.8) 227.0 161.5 93.5 92.2
(Loss)/profit for the financial year      (332.8) 173.0 110.6 66.8 64.5

Basic earnings per share      (126.1)p 70.8p 50.5p 27.8p 24.2p
Diluted earnings per share      (126.1)p 69.7p 49.4p 27.4p 23.9p
Adjusted basic earnings per share*      74.2p 73.1p 56.2p 37.4p 24.2p
Adjusted diluted earnings per share*     73.6p 71.9p 55.0p 36.9p 23.9p

Balance sheet

Non-current assets      1,679.9 1,921.5 132.8 137.6 154.1
Current assets      35,937.7 17,642.7 134.3 276.1 206.3
Current liabilities      (35,807.4) (17,918.7) (329.4) (78.7) (76.8)
Non-current liabilities      (757.0) (382.6) (287.6) (46.2) (47.3)

Net assets/(liabilities)      1,053.2 1,262.9 (349.9) 288.8 236.3

Cash flow  

Net cash flow from operating activities before exceptional items    378.9 295.4 198.6 145.9 100.9

Other information  

Operating margin before impairment, amortisation of purchased 
intangibles and exceptional items      50.4% 52.9% 53.1% 41.3% 34.6%
Share price – high      £13.83 £19.79 £13.50 £11.90 £5.90
Share price – low      £3.70 £11.25 £10.00 £4.49 £3.37

Total dividend per share declared in respect of financial year     24.4p 24.0p  18.0p 12.0p 7.0p

Financial information for the years ended 31 March 2008 and 2009 includes information for Borsa Italiana S.p.A. and its subsidiaries beginning 
from the date of the merger, 1 October 2007.

*  London Stock Exchange Group uses Non-GAAP performance measures as key financial indicators. Adjusted Earnings per Share, Adjusted Operating Profit and Adjusted 
Profit before Taxation all exclude the effect of impairment of goodwill, amortisation of purchased intangible assets and exceptional items.
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INvESTOR RELATIONS

SHAREHOLDER SERvICES
Equiniti registrars shareview service
Shareview is a free service provided by Equiniti. It may be accessed 
through the internet at www.shareview.co.uk. By creating a 
Shareview portfolio, you will gain online access to information about 
your Exchange shares and other investments including:

Direct access to information held for you on the share register •	
including share movements;
A daily indicative valuation of all investments held in your portfolio; •	
and
A range of information and practical help for shareholders.•	

To register at Shareview you will need your shareholder reference 
(which can be found on your share certificate) and you will be asked 
to select your own personal identification number. A user ID will  
then be posted to you. If you have any problems in registering your 
portfolio for the Shareview services, please contact Equiniti on  
0871 384 2544.

Calls to this number are charged at 8p per minute from a BT landline. 
Other telephony providers’ costs may vary.

Exchange’s share price service
To obtain share price information for London Stock Exchange Group 
plc, please see our website at: www.londonstockexchangegroup.com

By clicking on the Investor Relations tab you will find the Exchange’s 
share price, historical closing prices and volumes and an interactive 
share price graph.

Alerting service
To receive email alerts when financial reports, news releases and 
webcasts are posted on our Investor Relations website, register on: 
www.londonstockexchangegroup.com and follow the link in the 
section on financial performance – reports and key documents.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
As at 20 May 2009 the Company had been notified of the following 
interests amounting to more than three per cent in the issued share 
capital of the Company in accordance with Sections 791 to 828  
of the Companies Act 2006 and the FSA’s Disclosure and 
Transparency Rules:

Borse Dubai Limited   20.6%

Qatar Investment Authority   15.1%

Horizon Asset Management Inc.   7.2%

Unicredito Italiano S.p.A.   6.0%

Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.   5.3%

Kinetics Asset Management Inc.   3.1%

FINANCIAL CALENDAR (PROvISIONAL)

AGM         15 July 2009

Q1 Interim Management Statement (revenues only)        15 July 2009

Ex–dividend date for final dividend         22 July 2009

Final dividend record date         24 July 2009

Final dividend payment        17 August 2009

Half year end         30 September 2009

Interim Results        November 2009

Q3 Interim Management Statement (revenues only)        January 2010

Financial year end         31 March 2010

Preliminary Results          May 2010

The financial calendar is updated on a regular basis throughout the year.
Please refer to our website www.londonstockexchangegroup.com and click on the shareholders services section for up-to-date details.
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

INvESTOR RELATIONS CONTACTS

MAILING ADDRESS
Attn: Investor Relations
London Stock Exchange Group plc
10 Paternoster Square
London EC4M 7LS

For enquiries relating to shareholdings in  
London Stock Exchange Group plc:

Shareholder helpline: +44 (0)20 7797 3322
Website: www.londonstockexchangegroup.com

REGISTERED OFFICE
London Stock Exchange Group plc
10 Paternoster Square
London EC4M 7LS

REGISTERED COMPANY NUMBER
London Stock Exchange Group plc: 5369106

REGISTRATION INFORMATION
Equiniti
Aspect House
Lancing
West Sussex BN99 6DA

Telephone: 0871 384 2544 or +44 (0)121 415 7047
Website: www.shareview.co.uk
 

REPORTING ACCOUNTANTS AND AUDITORS
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Hay’s Galleria
1 Hay’s Lane
London SE1 2RD

CORPORATE BROKERS
JPMorgan Cazenove Limited
20 Moorgate
London EC2R 6DA

Telephone: +44 (0)20 7588 2828
Website: www.jpmorgancazenove.com

Nomura International plc
25 Bank Street
London E14 5LE

Telephone: +44 (0)20 7102 1000
Website: www.nomura.com



our vision introduction

where to find information about london stock exchange group:
www.londonstockexchangegroup.com

what we do•	
group history•	
investor relations•	
corporate responsibility•	

to be the world's capital market
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© May 2009
London Stock Exchange Group plc
10 Paternoster Square
London EC4M 7LS
Telephone +44 (0)20 7797 1000

Registered in England and Wales No. 5369106

AIM, Baikal, Infolect, London Stock 
Exchange, the London Stock Exchange coat 
of arms device, RNS, SEAQ, SEDOL, 
SEDOL Masterfile, SETS, techMARK, 
techMARK mediscience and TradElect are 
registered trade marks of London Stock 
Exchange plc. IOB, Main Market, Nomad, 
Professional Securities Market, PSM, PSQ 
Analytics, SETSmm, Specialist Fund Market, 
SFM and UnaVista are trade marks of 
London Stock Exchange plc.

Borsa Italiana, the Borsa Italiana logo, MTA, 
MIB, IDEM and STAR are registered trade 
marks of Borsa Italiana S.p.A. DDM, MOT, 
MARKET CONNECT and IDEX are deposited 
trade marks of Borsa Italiana S.p.A.

CC&G is a registered trade mark of Cassa  
di Compensazione e Garanzia S.p.A.

Monte Titoli S.p.A. and X-TRM are registered 
trade marks of Monte Titoli S.p.A.

BondVision, EuroMTS and MTS are 
registered trade marks of Mercato dei Titoli  
di Stato S.p.A.

Proquote is a registered trade mark of 
Proquote Limited, a London Stock Exchange 
business.

FTSE and FTSE4Good are registered trade 
marks of London Stock Exchange plc and 
The Financial Times Limited and are used by 
FTSE International Limited under licence.

EDX and EDX London are registered  
trade marks of EDX London Limited.

Other logos, organisations and company 
names referred to may be the trade marks  
of their respective owners.

Design by  
Addison Corporate Marketing Ltd 

Board photography by  
Michael Clement

Printed by St. Ives Westerham Press Ltd
Printed on Revive 50:50 Silk, made at an  
ISO 14001 mill with 25 per cent de-inked 
post-consumer waste, 25 per cent 
pre-consumer waste and 50 per cent  
virgin wood fibre
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